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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EE

This financial year was still a tough year. The impact of the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic was experienced by each
of our business segments. The operation and financial strength
of certain of our customers took hits, resulting with certain of
these customers defaulted in repayment of the receivables on
schedules. Despite the Group has adopted various measures to
mitigate the operation risks and to maintain the stability of its
businesses, it is inevitable for the Group to be prudent to provide
for impairment loss on these receivables which affected the
financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022.

On the other hand, the plummeting stock markets during the year
has led to a less than satisfactory performance from our financial
services business. In spite of this, the Group has diversified into
the bond placing market with projects successfully completed.
Our management will strive to increase the Group's exposure and
scale of operations within the capital markets and to capture a
larger market share.

All in all, the Group will be reassessing and re-engineering its
strategies from time to time in response to the ever changing
environment.

Looking ahead, the Group will actively identify and explore
investment and business opportunities to strengthen and
broaden its assets and revenue base into a comprehensive
portfolio. The Group will cautiously grasp of every opportunity to
enhance and improve the business operation and profitability of
the Group.

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to our Board and
colleagues for their effort and dedication. | would also like to
express my deepest appreciation to all our business partners and
shareholders for their continuing confidence in our Group.

Zheng Juhua
Chairlady
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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BEHEERFRAR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o L v i BEL o

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$169.4 million
with a gross profit of approximately HK$43.1 million during
the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared to approximately
HK$337.9 million and HK$91.4 million respectively for the last
corresponding year. The loss for the year was approximately
HK$27.2 million as compared to approximately HK$23.4 million for
the last corresponding year. The increase in loss for the year was
mainly attributable to the recognition of the followings:

(i)

(if)

(iif)

a decrease in gross profit for the year of approximately
HK$48.3 million, which was mainly attributed by the
financial services and finance leasing businesses. The
gross profit of the financial services business for the year
ended 31 March 2022 was approximately HK$16.9 million
whilst it was approximately HK$49.8 million for the last
corresponding vyear, the decrease in gross profit of the
financial services business was partially offset by the
decrease in the provision for impairment loss on account
receivables from margin clients from approximately
HK$15.3 million in the last corresponding year to
approximately HK$5.6 million in the current year. As for
that of the finance leasing business, the gross profit in the
current year was approximately HK$7.6 million as compared
to approximately HK$17.0 million for the last corresponding
year, the decrease in gross profit of the finance leasing
business was also partially offset by the decrease in the
provision for impairment loss on finance lease receivables
from approximately HK$5.9 million in the last corresponding
year to approximately HK$2.8 million in the current year,

the recognition of an impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$71.7 million, which was offset by the
increase in gain on changes in fair value of other financial
assets (which represents the fair value of the profit
guarantee) of approximately HK$74.1 million, please refer
to “Financial Services Business” section under “Business
Review" below for further details;

an increase in other income of approximately HK$10.8
million which mainly represents compensation received
from the property developer in respect of the delay in
obtaining the premises permit of the land and buildings/
investment property acquired by the Group in prior year;
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R FHR BT BT

(iv) the recognition of a gain on disposal of held-for-trading
investments of approximately HK$5.7 million during the
current year whilst a loss of approximately HK$5.8 million
was recorded in the last corresponding year,;

(v) the recognition of gains on bargain purchase of
approximately HK$12.6 million arising from the acquisition
of interest and additional interest in an associate during the
current year; and

(vi) a decrease in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$11.6 million.

As at 31 March 2022, the total assets and net assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1,018.7 million (2021: HK$1,067.7
million) and HK$924.3 million (2021: HK$924.0 million) respectively.
There were no material changes in the financial position of the
Group during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Trading Business

The Group is principally engaged in trading of food and
electronic products in the PRC. The Group recorded a turnover
of approximately HK$125.9 million with a loss of approximately
HK$7.5 million from its trading business during year ended 31
March 2022 as compared to approximately HK$250.6 million
with a loss of approximately HK$6.1 million for the same period
in 2021. The increase in the loss recorded for the year ended 31
March 2022 was mainly caused by the decrease in gross profit
generated due to decreased revenue from the trading business.

A turnover of approximately HK$53.6 million was attributed
from trading of food products for the year ended 31 March
2022, as compared to approximately HK$133.2 million for the
last corresponding period. In addition, the Group also recorded
a turnover of approximately HK$72.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 from trading of electronic parts for production
of electronic equipment mainly for local consumption in the
PRC, as compared to approximately HK$117.4 million for the last
corresponding period. The gross profit attributed by the trading
business was approximately HK$2.3 million for the current
year whilst it was approximately HK$5.6 million for the last
corresponding year.

Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Revenue from seafood trading comprised around 53% of the
Group's trading business revenue in the last corresponding year.
During the current year, the continued impact of COVID-19 and
the signs of the down-turning economy in the PRC affected
the demand of such higher-priced food products which led to
the management of the Group taking a more prudent business
strategy to minimise the Group’s business risk. Specifically,
regarding two customers of the seafood trading business, the
management has noted there was an increase in the ageing
of the respective trade receivables since the end of the last
corresponding year. One of whom even defaulted in repayment
and legal proceeding has been taken by the Group for recovery
of the amount outstanding. The management prudently decided
to hold up further businesses with these two customers during
the current year which attributed to the decrease in revenue from
the trading business. Besides, the disrupted supply chain brought
by the COVID-19 pandemic attributed to a decrease in turnover
from trading of electronic parts during the current year which
contributed to nearly another half of trading revenue in the last
corresponding year.

The Company considers that the decrease in revenue from the
trading business does not have significant impact on the Group's
financial position and the operating results. Despite there was
a substantial decrease in turnover from the trading business of
approximately HK$124.7 million, there was only a corresponding
decrease of approximately HK$3.3 million to the gross profit
which represented approximately 8% to the overall gross profit
generated by the Group during the current year. As such, the
management is of the view that the slightly changing of its
strategy to be more conservative by continuously assessing the
credit worthiness of our customers with reference to both their
intrinsic positions and extrinsic macro-economy environments to
strike for a return with manageable and acceptable risk levels will
certainly benefit the Group for its long term development.

There has been no material effect on the Group’s liquidity and
financial position arising from the decrease in turnover from
the trading business. As disclosed in the “Liquidity, Financial
Resources and Gearing” below, the Group maintained similar
levels of cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2022 and 31
March 2021. Cash and bank balances represented approximately
28% and 21% of current assets and total assets as at 31 March
2022. The gearing ratio and liquidity ratio as at 31 March 2022 was
also improved as compared with those as at 31 March 2021.
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The overall financial position of the Group is in good conditions,
with adequate financial resources available for daily operations
and fulfillment of its financial obligations, and for exploration of
potential new businesses should the opportunity arose.

The Group has successfully recovered the outstanding balances
due from one of the above mentioned customers in default
from food trading business after the end of the current reporting
period. Besides, with the introduction of the economic dual
circulation strategy by the PRC government with an emphasis on
the domestic market, the management are prudently optimistic
of the prospects of the trading business, as such a policy suits
the PRC in an increasingly unstable and hostile outside world. The
management expects that the trading business will be recovered
from the current year’s levels as impacted by COVID-19 and other
factors.

Money Lending and Factoring Business

The Group has outstanding loan portfolios in Hong Kong and the
PRC amounted to approximately HK$125.6 million and factoring
receivables of approximately HK$53.0 million as at 31 March
2022. The Group recognised an aggregate interest income of
approximately HK$16.4 million and a loss of approximately
HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared
to approximately HK$19.1 million and a profit of HK$2.5 million
respectively for the last corresponding year. The loss recorded for
year ended 31 March 2022 was mainly caused by the decrease
in interest income due to the decrease of average outstanding
loan portfolios throughout the year and the increase in provision
of impairment loss on loan and interest receivables recognised
during the current year. The increase in provision during the
current year was mainly due to certain customers who were
affected by the epidemic and its rebounds and hence defaulted
in repayment of the loans on schedules, the Group, consistent
with the basis in the last corresponding year, provided expected
credit loss of approximately HK$17.4 million on the outstanding
balances on those customers during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Amid the recent introduction of policy-easing measures
including policies to stabilise economy by the PRC government,
management will carry out continuous assessment on the market
conditions and its impact to the money lending and factoring
business. The Group will keep on cautiously adjusting its business
strategies to take advantage of the market opportunities, and
will request provision of credit enhancement measures by new
customers, and also existing customers as appropriate. The Group
will closely monitor the credit worthiness of our customers and,
when necessary, formulate the appropriate actions to reduce our
credit risk and recovery of the outstanding amounts.

Finance Leasing Business

The Group is engaged in finance leasing business in the PRC. It
mainly offers machinery/equipment-based finance leases, the
terms of which generally ranges from one year to five years and
the size of which generally ranges from RMB5 million to RMB35
million. The Group provides both direct leasing and sale-leaseback
services to customers and the financing purpose of the Group’s
customers is principally for the development and expansion of
their business.

The finance leasing business maintained a portfolio with
outstanding principal amount of approximately HK$77.5 million
as at 31 March 2022. The finance leasing portfolio has attributed
a turnover of approximately HK$7.6 million with a loss of
approximately HK$1.3 million to the Group during the year ended
31 March 2022 as compared to approximately HK$17.1 million
and a profit of approximately HK$3.5 million respectively for the
last corresponding year. The loss recorded for year ended 31
March 2022 was mainly caused by a decrease in interest income
recognised during the current year as there were continuous
repayment from customers, which leads to a decrease of average
outstanding portfolio balance during the current year.

On the other hand, there are also customers who were affected
by the COVID-19 pandemic and the incidental disrupted supply
chains, and as such, defaulted in repayment of the finance
lease receivables on schedules. The Group has commenced
legal proceedings on certain of these customers. The Group
provided an impairment loss on finance lease receivables of
approximately HK$2.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Such impairment was provided in accordance with the Group’s
policies consistently and taking into account the value of the
pledged and/or seized assets successfully obtained by the Group
during such legal proceedings. The Group will closely monitor the
credit worthiness of our customers and formulate the appropriate
actions for recovery of the outstanding amounts.
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Financial Services Business

The Group acquired the financial services business in December
2019 (the “Acquisition”) which is principally engaged in provision
of securities dealing broking, placing, underwriting, margin
financing and asset management services in Hong Kong.

The market sentiment was generally positive and the market
was flourishing since the Acquisition, meanwhile the Hong
Kong stock market reached its highest point during the first
half of 2021. Thereafter, with the different ongoing government
policies reforms in the PRC since July 2021, coupled with eroding
investors’ mentality, the Hong Kong stock market plummeted
to the lowest point in March 2022. The Hong Kong stock market
has since then rebounded. However with the interest rate
hikes and quantitative tapering measures as introduced by the
Federal Reserve of the United States and the sky-rocketing
inflation indicators, and further compounded by shadows cast
by the Russia-Ukraine war, global stock markets plummeted. It is
expected that stock markets will remain very volatile and turmoil,
and as such the Group has been very prudent in conducting the
financial services business.

The financial services business has attributed a turnover of
approximately HK$19.5 million with a loss of approximately
HK$18.1 million to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2022, as compared to approximately HK$51.1 million and a
profit of approximately HK$0.7 million respectively for the last
corresponding year. The loss recorded for the current year was
mainly caused by the significant decrease in underwriting and
placing commission income.

Underwriting and placing commission income comprised a
significant portion of the revenue arising from the financial
services segment. Underwriting and placing commission income
is derived from initial public offering projects and share/bond
placing projects, which is on a project-by-project basis. Due to
the plummeting Hong Kong and global stock markets, many
firms have delayed their stock listing plans in Hong Kong. The
Group only completed three placing projects (two bonds and one
shares placing) in the current year, as compared to eight placing
and underwriting projects in the last corresponding year, which
included certain initial public offering projects that generated
higher commission income. As such, commission income
generated from underwriting and placing activities significantly
decreased from approximately HK$34.5 million in the last
corresponding year to approximately HK$8.4 million in the current
year.
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The management of the Group has been in on-going negotiations
on potential underwriting and placing projects. The Group has
preliminary completed its re-assessment and re-engineering
of its strategies on the financial services business with the
management striving to increase the Group’s exposure and scale
of operations within the capital markets and to capture a larger
market share.

The management has actively explored the probability on the
development of the debt financing market so as to enlarge the
sources of income. Despite the Group is the new comer to the
bond placing business, it has initiated and successfully completed
two bond placing projects during the year with another two
completed subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

Further, as the Group's clients took a more prudent trading
strategy in this turmoil market, there were decreases in both
interest income from margin clients and brokerage commission
income from securities dealings.

During the Company's preparation of this consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2022, based on the
latest financial information available and the deteriorated market
conditions as mentioned above, which is unexpected by the
management upon the Acquisition, the Group took a more
prudent approach in forecasting future revenue, with reference to
the actual results of, and number and sizes of projects completed
up to the date of this report and the prospects of the financial
services business. As such, the profit and cashflow forecast
prepared by the Group for the assessment of the recoverable
amounts of the financial services business has incorporated the
most updated information for the best estimate of the impairment
of goodwill, if any, and the corresponding changes in fair value of
other financial assets arising from the profit guarantee given by
the vendors of this business unit.
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Based on the impairment assessment on the assets of
this business unit, including the goodwill arising from the
Acquisition by using the same valuation method adopted for
impairment assessment as at 31 March 2021, the Group noted
that the carrying amounts of this business unit exceeded their
recoverable amounts, and thus, an impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$71.7 million was recognised in the current year.
On the other hand, the Group has also assessed the fair value of
the profit guarantee, which was given by the vendors upon the
Acquisition, by using the same valuation method adopted as at
31 March 2021. As a result of the actual and expected shortfall of
the profit guarantee, a fair value gain on other financial assets of
approximately HK$74.1 million was recognised in the current year.
The net effect in aggregate of the impairment of the goodwill and
changes in fair value of other financial assets is not significant to
the Company’s consolidated net assets or operating results for
the year as they were substantially compensated by each other.

In respect of the profit guarantee given by the vendors of the
Acquisition, following the recording of a loss of approximately
HK$14.0 million by the financial services business for the second
guaranteed year (i.e. the year ended 31 December 2021), there
iS a net amount receivable from the vendors of approximately
HK$13.1 million after setting off the amounts payable by
the Group to the vendors including the relevant retained
considerations. As at the date of this report, the Group is in the
process of negotiating with the vendors for settlement of the
amount receivable. The Group will seek legal advice and considers
to take legal and other actions to safeguard the Group's interests
whenever and wherever appropriate. Further updates regarding
this profit guarantee will be announced by the Company as and
when appropriate.

The COVID-19 Pandemic

The rebounds of COVID-19 pandemic has significant impact on
the global economy and the Group would review and adjust
its business strategies on a regular basis with a prudent and
balanced risk management approach so as to cope with the
current unpredictable economic situation. Save as disclosed
above, as at the date of this report, the Group was not aware
of any material adverse impact on the consolidated financial
statements as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.
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Looking forward, the Group will actively identify and explore other
investment and business opportunities to broaden its assets and
revenue base. The Group will cautiously search for investment
opportunities so as to produce a steady growth in the Group's
long term performance.

Securities Investments

The Group invested surplus funds in securities listed in Hong
Kong during the year. The fair value of the Group’s securities
investment amounted to approximately HK$8.0 million as at
31 March 2022. The Group recorded a loss on changes in fair
value of held-for-trading investments of approximately HK$1.2
million during the year as compared to a gain of approximately
HK$0.3 million for the last corresponding year. The Group
disposed certain of the held-for-trading investments with a gain
of approximately HK$5.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2022, as compared to a loss of approximately HK$5.8 million
for the last corresponding year. The management will continue
to keep monitoring the stock markets closely and grasping for
opportunities to realise gains from its investment portfolio.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$217.0 million (2021: HK$246.8 million) and
total borrowings of approximately HK$14.4 million (2021: HK$19.6
million). The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity, was 1.56% (2021: 2.12%). The liquidity
ratio, being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities was
11.83 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 7.31).

The decrease in the gearing ratio and the increase in the liquidity
ratio was mainly due to the decrease in trade and other payables
during the year.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$"), Renminbi (“RMB”) and US dollar (“US$") and
its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are
principally denominated in HK$, RMB and US$. The Group does
not enter into any instruments on the foreign exchange exposure.
The Group will closely monitor exchange rate movement and
will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange risk as
appropriate.

DIVIDEND

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING
ACTIVITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 4,120,600,000.

There was no change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022, none of the Group's asset was pledged to
secure any facilities and borrowings granted to the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
OF ASSETS

Save as the acquisition and disposal of held-for-trading
investments in securities as mentioned below, there has been no
significant acquisition and disposal of assets by the Group during
the year.
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SECURITIES INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had held-for-trading investments
in securities in Hong Kong (the “Securities Investments”) with
a market value of approximately HK$8.0 million. The Group
recorded a realised gain of approximately HK$5.7 million (2021:
loss of approximately HK$5.8 million) in respect of the Securities
Investments during the year. The other details of the Securities
Investments as at 31 March 2022 are as follows:

FRiFERKRE
RIZEZZF=A=+—H Fc&EEBFEM
B#7%48,000,0008 TN IFEB 2B EES
BE (BHRE)) - NAFEER KEEMZ
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(ZE - —F  [51#8495,800,00087T) c %%
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% of
net assets of
the Group
asat  Gain/(Loss)
Fair value 31 March on
as at 2022  changes in
31 March EEmR fair value
2022 ZZ2ZZ for the year
Stock Number of % of Costof W-E__# Z=BA=+-H TEE
Company name code Principal activities shares held shareholdings  acquision =A=+—H ZEEFE AfKEEH
AR RIART FEEH FIRAEE HBRESE WeEg R A ZRRE AL K&/ (8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR TER TER
1 Evershine Group Holdings 8022 Trading business, property 17,433,000 0.81% 6,363 174 0.02% (105)
Limited development and investment
KBEBRZRERAR business, money lending
business, mobile application
business and cemetery business
BREB VEBERLEES
MEER FRERRAXHR
NEXH
2 Vicon Holdings Limited 3878 Foundation works and ancillary 13,020,000 2.71% 9,206 7813 0.84% (1,393)
services, and general building
works in Hong Kong and Macau
and leasing of construction
machinery
HETRREERBR—RERT
BUREFERREE
3 Royal Century Resources 8125 Provision of design, fitting out and 43,221,600 27.57% N/A N/A N/A 257
Holdings Limited (Note) engineering and procurement of TER TEH FEA
CEERERERAR furnishings and related products
(HizH) services, leasing of construction
equipment and provision of
related installation services,
sourcing and merchandising of
fine and rare wines and provision
of financial services
REREH EER TR URIRER
BREHERRE BERER
BREHEERLERY ZEE
o RESRRS
15,569 7,987 (1,241)

Note: Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited is an associate of the
Company as at 31 March 2022. A gain on changes in fair value of
approximately HK$257,000 was recognised before it was accounted for
as an associate during the year.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
FACING BY THE GROUP

Competition

Group competes in the finance leasing business market and
financial services business market with other competitors in the
PRC and Hong Kong respectively, which may have substantially
greater financial or other resources than the Group. The Group
may also face competition from new entrants to the industry
having business objectives similar to the Group and have greater
financial resources. If the Group fail to maintain its advantages in
cost control, customer base and quality of service, it may lose its
market share in the market.

Business Concentration

A significant portion of the Group's revenues is derived from the
operations in the PRC. Unfavourable events in the country could
disrupt our overall business, lower our revenues, and impact the
valuation of our assets.

Furthermore, the revenue derived from the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 72% (2021: 64%) of the total
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022. If any of the five
largest customers experiences significant financial difficulty, this
could lower our revenues and the recoverability of the trade
receivables.

Financial Risk

Financial risk factors include credit risk, market risk and liquidity
risk. Details of the aforesaid financial risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are set out in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2022.

COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 58 (2021: 66)
employees. The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the
capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training. The Group remunerates its Directors and
employees mainly based on industry practices and individual’s
performance and experience. On top of regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options may be granted to
eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well as
individual’s performance.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
year under review, there were no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to maintain high environmental
standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Group complied with the relevant laws,
rules and regulation that have a significant impact on the Group
in relation to its business. The Group has always encouraged
all employees to participate environmental activities to make
contribution to the community.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board believes that good governance is essential to the
maintenance of the Group’s competitiveness and to its healthy
growth. The Company has adopted practices which meet the
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”")
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure its continuous compliance with the CG Code.
The Company has been in compliance with all code provisions set
out in the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of the
Group and its duties include the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, business strategies, internal control systems,
material transactions, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational, financial and legal compliance matters.
The Board delegates the authority to manage the daily affairs of
the Group to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the senior management
on behalf of the Group.

Specifically in relation to corporate governance function, the
Board is responsible for the corporate governance function as a
whole, and establishes an internal control group to be responsible
for the specific operation. During the year ended 31 March 2022
and up to the date of this report, the Board had performed the
following duties:

1. Developing and reviewing relevant corporate governance
policy and practice of the Company;

2. Reviewing and inspecting continuous professional
development and training of Directors and senior
management;

3. Reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company being in compliance with the statutory and other
regulatory provisions;

4. Developing, reviewing and checking code and provision of
conducts applicable to the Directors and employees; and

5. Reviewing that the Company being in compliance with the
CG Code and corporate governance reporting requirements.
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All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the business
and market changes and the Company’s performance, position
and prospectus to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties. All Directors have full and timely access
to all relevant information in relation to the Group as well as the
advice from and services provided by the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), if and when required,
with a view to ensure that the procedures are in compliance and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

There are established procedures for Directors upon
reasonable request, to seek independent advice in appropriate
circumstances for them to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, at the Company’s expenses.

Directors’ Liabilities Insurance

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect
of potential legal actions against the Directors arising out of
corporate activities of the Group pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8
of the CG Code. Such Directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed
and renewed annually.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, no claim has been
made against the Directors.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises 2
executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors
from different businesses and professional fields. The Directors,
including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
balance of valuable and diversified businesses and professional
expertises, experiences and independent judgment to the
Board for its efficient and effective management of the Group’s
business.

The Board during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the
date of this report has comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Zheng Juhua — Chairlady
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen — Chief Executive Officer
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Man Kwok Leung — Chairman of Nomination Committee
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter — Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth — Chairman of Audit Committee

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) between any members of the Board.
The composition of the Board reflects a diverse yet balanced set
of skills and experience which is essential for effective leadership
of the Company. Biographic details of Directors are disclosed in
the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section of the Report of the Directors.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
also reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
change of such information.

Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairlady and the Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") are held by different persons for purpose of maintaining
independence and a more balanced basis for judgments and
decisions. The key role of the Chairlady is to provide leadership
to the Board. In performing her duties, the Chairlady shall
ensure that the Board functions effectively in the discharge of its
responsibilities. The Chairlady also has the responsibility of taking
the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company and the Group.

The key role of the CEO is to be responsible for the day-to-day
management and operations of the Company and business of the
Group. The duties of the CEO mainly include:

. providing leadership and supervising the effective
management of the Company;

° monitoring and controlling the financial and operational
performance of various divisions; and

. implementing the strategy and policies adopted by the
Company, setting and implementing objectives and
development plans.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth has appropriate
professional qualifications and related experiences in financial
matters.

During the year, Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (“Mr. Chi"), one of the
independent non-executive Directors (“INED"), retired by rotation
and, being eligible, offered himself for re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 31 August 2021. Mr. Chi
joined the Company since April 2011 and has been serving as
an INED for more than nine years. The Company has complied
with the code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code that the election
of Mr. Chi as the INED was subject to a separate resolution and
the relevant circular contained reasons why the Board was of the
view that Mr. Chi was still independent and should be re-elected.
The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years
which could be terminated by either party giving to the other not
less than 1 month’s written notice.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the bye-laws of the Company
(the “Bye-laws”). The Company has established a nomination
committee to assist the Board for reviewing its composition,
monitoring the appointment and independence, where applicable,
of Directors, and identifying suitable and qualified individuals to
become board members where necessary.

In accordance with the Bye-laws, any Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not greater than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election,
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. The Directors (including those
appointed for a special term) to retire in every year shall be those
who have been longest in office since their last election but as
between persons who became Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves)
be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the Directors
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director will receive comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors whenever
necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by them.

The Directors are committed to comply with Code Provision A.6.5
of CG Code on Directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board will be informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities during the year under review.
In addition to their own participation in professional training,
relevant training and reading materials were provided to the
Directors by the Company in the year to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

REERRBERG L EREEZ=0—
ZEE (HNEFARLIF=a =2 F&5F>
AR BABBR=0—2E%) BHERT
BREEREEET MEBLEFAELE
—FRE-R-BEREZESE BEUFE
FRZEZES) AR L —REERTHR
RZEF BHEZLEFHRE-—XEZ
F BIMHBRERBREZAE RIFRFE
EREHRENFIR BRERLEESFY
ZOREERERERT EBRESFEE
DIRHESEERAMMAREERTGLE
o RAEWAEEAN

EFZHBENTRFEEELR

BLNEZEZEETRNEREZERHERM
2E EXARVEGESFEZZHBRE > U#E
RERESEEROLERXBREE T
2E T HERE LR LU BB E R R E th
SR EERER

AABNIAREZ RERERODES
RUEFBEORKEXERE

ESREESERLTRAKEMNERES
MEZBRMEREN BERSTEERR
Fo

EENNBTEEERTRZTRRE
A65F REBBMEFRERREHHEMB K
REEZEIl UMEERESESSFLHANE
AR Z BRA ©

2REFENLEFERNSEBEZFES
FERLH -BREFETSHFXEIIN
QB F A MR E R AR R 15 5| K B 3 A7
Fh DURE KR BRI E 2 MR % 5L » BRI
SFHBEBRNBR)GREZERTHESE
TR E R

TECTFFR

25



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

26

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EoRE TR

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversed Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s
strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge. The
Company will also take into consideration its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the implementation of the Diversity Policy to ensure
the effectiveness of the Diversity Policy.

Remuneration of Directors

Independent non-executive Directors are paid fees generally
in line with market practice and taking into consideration the
responsibilities and time spent by Independent non-executive
Directors on the Company'’s affairs. The remuneration of
Executive Directors is determined by the chairlady of the Board in
consultation with the Remuneration Committee after taking into
consideration market trends and responsibilities and performance
of the individual with a view to provide attractive reward to and
retain high performing individuals.

Responsibilities in Respect of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Group's consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, including Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
applicable Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

Annual Report 2022

EFEMEZTEEER
EXRERMEFEMESTEER (FT
EHR))  ERHINEFTEAEREFIME
ZTCMEREEY 75 8t o

FRBREALEREEZ TIEESTTHREN
o TR SEFENEBAHTEZT/HE
NRENRBER LA RERNBETER

ARBDRBRENEFEHUESZTIEEER
BMEREF > BEBARRINA - A~ KB
BIUMERAH - AARTRAREBERS
WEBRAKRAERTE -ZEFEMAZMEY
DRAAWABRE WEERANERFUZE
FERIBEREFENEZ TR Em -

RAZECEEERMNEREZ BRI
TIB R AR Z T {EBUERBI AL

EEH
KERBIIFRTEETUE LA EH ZHAE
BEKRAEHZERE BILFNTEFTER
AR EFETGENZRE - RITERZH
ML REHEFEEFERAFNEZEEmEE
KERT BB RENEEBELE KT
BmEE UWRHIREMRETRRES W
ZfERIES-

BIREMBREZEE

EXHIEHBREAEIGEYBRERZE
P UBREZFBEGSHAAGHEMZEEY
BHREER (BREBESHENRBERARE)
REBRAZEARERERAMBEREE
RE RUBE_T-__#=HB=+—AH1t
FEZGOMBRE -EFTHERERERS
ERABERTIEAEE 2 AEHBHRE-



BEHEERFRAR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EoRE TR

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainty relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditor, Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
95 to 104.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. These objectives are
achieved through adherence to proper Board processes and the
timely preparation and dissemination to Directors comprehensive
meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and
Board Committees are prepared and maintained by the Company
Secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered
and decisions reached by the Board or Committee, including
any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director.
All draft and final minutes of Board meetings and meetings of
Board Committees are sent to Directors and Committee members
respectively for comments and records and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and that it takes
these into consideration when making decisions for the Group.
From time to time, he/she organises seminars on specific topics
of significance and interest and disseminate reference materials
to the Directors for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
Group’s compliance with all obligations of the Listing Rules
and Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases,
including the preparation, publication and despatch of annual
reports and interim reports within the time limits laid down in the
Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on
their obligations for disclosure of interests and dealings in the
Group's securities, connected transactions and inside information
and ensures that the standards and disclosures required by the
Listing Rules are observed and, where required, reflected in the
annual report of the Company.
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The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws. Whilst
the Company Secretary reports to the Chairlady, all members of
the Board have access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary. Mr. Chau Kin Cheung, Alfred (“Mr. Chau”) has been
appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2021. Mr. Chau
joined the Group since October 2021 and he has day-to-day
knowledge of the Group's affairs. In response to specific enquiries
made, the Company Secretary confirmed that he has complied
with all the required qualifications, experience and training
requirements of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the
financial and operating performance, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Notices
of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other Board meetings.

For committee meetings, notices are served in accordance
with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms of
reference.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are normally sent to all Directors before
each Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to senior management whenever necessary.

Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions from time to time when a board-level decision on a
particular matter was required.

Guidelines are in place which stipulate that any material matter
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or Director will be dealt with at a duly convened Board meeting.
The Company's Bye-laws also contain provisions stipulating the
procedures according to which any material matters involving
conflict of interests are to be approved at Board meeting.
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Minutes of all Board meetings, recording sufficient details of
matters considered and decisions reached, are kept by the
secretary of the meetings, and are open for inspection by the
Directors.

During the year, a meeting has been held by the independent
non-executive Directors and the Chairlady without the executive
Directors present (the “Independent Meeting”), nine Board
meetings and one general meeting were also held and the
individual attendance of each Director is set out below:

FIEEFE R ERCBOAATRER
REFFEREZHB THEENERERA
RHESER-

RAFERNEFERABIUIFRATEFTETT —
RRBATEFHENSGS (VB EE) I
BOTNAREFEEZR—ARRKRE &
EFZEREEBINOT

Meetings Attended/Meetings Held

BHEZER BRTZ2E2

Independent
Directors General Meeting Board Meeting Meeting
£F BRERAE EXEgEE BIgE
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHIEL L 171 9/9 1/1
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen RSt 11 9/9 N/A 78
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEIRLESE 11 9/9 11
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RACKE 11 9/9 1/1
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth SEERE 11 9/9 11
BOARD COMMITTEES EERZET
The Board has established 3 committees, namely the audit ZESZGEMRI=—BZET DR ABZEE
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee & (IBZEE8®)) HFMEES (HWES
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee ﬁu) FignEEg (IRREET))  UERK

(the “Nomination Committee”) for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (Chairman)
Mr. Man Kwok Leung
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Chi Chi
Hung, Kenneth, who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
which lay down clearly its authority and duties. The main duties of
the Audit Committee include the followings:

(@  To review the consolidated financial statements and reports
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
Group's staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, compliance officer or auditor,

(b)  To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures;

(c)  To review and monitor the external auditor's independence
and objectively and the effectiveness of the audit; and

(d)  To review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of management, and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor.
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The Audit Committee performed the work during the year
includes the followings:

. reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company
as to whether they are in compliance with the accounting
standards and relevant requirements in relation to financial
reporting under the Listing Rules and other laws,

. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system of the Group; and

. reviewed the Group's accounting principles and practices,
financial reporting and statutory compliance matters.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, six meetings have been
held by the Audit Committee to approve the re-appointment of
the auditor, review the audit service plan for the year ended 31
March 2021, approve the internal control review report, approve
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and to review the unaudited condensed
consolidated interim financial statements (including accounting
policies and practices adopted) of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2021 and recommended such consolidated
financial statements to the Board for approval.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee of June 2022, the Audit
Ccommittee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the consolidated financial statements and
other reports for the year ended 31 March 2022 and discuss any
significant audit matters with the Company’s external auditor
and the senior management before recommending them to
the Board for consideration and approval. The Audit Committee
recommended the Board in relation to the re-appointment of Lau
& Au Yeung C.PA. Limited as the Company’s external auditor for
the ensuring year at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2022 is as follows:

BERZZEENAFERETZITFEENT
RIE .

s BRARAFERTHHREESERES
SHERKRABBM B REN LHRARE
tERRE ;

o BNAEEZREBEERERANBEERE
ZEMME &

s BRAXEEZESRAUKIED MBR
WRERBTEH

RNEE_E__F=/B=+—HIFER>
BEREZERORTAREGH LUEBREZ
. ERRE S _—4F=A=+—HLt
FENEARBESEZ L EABEXRS .
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Director Name Attendance
EEHH HExE
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (Chairman) — Z=E S E (Z/E) 6/6
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERSE 6/6
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RACKE 6/6
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the following
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Man Kwok Leung
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of
reference which lay down clearly its authority and duties.
The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings:

(@ To review, recommend and approve the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management;

(b)y To review, recommend and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

(c) To determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management;

(d) To review, recommend and approve the compensation
payable to executive Directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their office or
appointment; and

(e) To establish transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

The Remuneration Committee performed the work during the
year includes the followings:

o reviewed the remuneration policy for the Directors and
senior management; and

o reviewed and approved, with delegated responsibility from
the Board, the remuneration package of each Director and
the senior management including bonus payment, pension
right and compensation payable.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, two meetings have
been held by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration
Committee had discussed and reviewed the remuneration
packages for all Directors and senior management.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee
at the meeting during the year ended 31 March 2022 is as follows:

REE_ZE-__#=-B=+—HItEER>
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Director Name Attendance
EEl4A HEXE
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Chairman) RACKE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEREE 2/2
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth SEERE 2/2

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairlady and the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

Ms. Zheng Juhua

The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of
reference which lay down clearly its authority and duties. The
main duties of the Nomination Committee include the followings:

(@ To review the criteria and procedures of selection
of Directors and senior management, and provide
suggestions;

(b)  To conduct extensive search for qualified candidates of
Directors and senior management;

(c) To review the Board diversity policy and the progress on
achieving the objectives set for implementing the said
policy; and

(d) To assess the candidates for Directors and senior
management and provide the relevant recommendations.
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Nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee include the followings:

o assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

o in considering the nomination of new Directors, the
Nomination Committee will take into account a range of
diversity perspectives, which would include but not be
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service of the individual as the selection criteria; and

o identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, a meeting has been
held by the Nomination Committee to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee
Director at the meeting during the year ended 31 March 2022 is
as follows:
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Director Name Attendance
EElS HEZE
Mr. Man Kwok Leung (Chairman) BEBREE (FEFE) il
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter SMELCKE 11
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth EEMEE 11
Ms. Zheng Juhua B IEZ =+ 11

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Board adopted the Inside Information Policy, which contains
the guidelines to the Directors, senior management and all
relevant employees (likely possessing the unpublished inside
information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as its own code regarding securities transactions by
Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries and employees
of the Group who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information of the Company. The Company has
received written confirmation from each Director that they have
complied with the codes throughout the year. Details of Directors’
interest are disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” section of the Report of the Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis,
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is also responsible
for establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems with regard to the
objectives of the Group. The established systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or 10ss.

The Group has successfully acquired the financial services
business in December 2019. Upon the completion of the
acquisition, the Group has recruited professionals to rebuild
the structure of the financial services business, as well as
the creation and amendment of appropriate procedures to
strengthen the internal control and compliance of the relevant
rules and regulations. The Group will stay focus on proper risk
management and other compliance issues at firms whilst taking
necessary actions and proactively gatekeeping on the code of the
daily operation of the financial services business, and fulfill the
regulatory requirements from time to time.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review via an appointed internal
control adviser to perform internal audit function, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance
and risk management aspects on a rotation basis. Based on the
findings and recommendations, as well as the comments of
the Audit Committee, the Board considered the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group were effective and
adequate.
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The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas
across the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which
are appraised and maintained. The risk management system, as
well as the internal control system, are continuous, proactive and
systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems is reviewed by conducting internal audit assignments.
Recommendations for major observations of control weaknesses
from the audits will be provided, so as to resolve material internal
control defects.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company's external auditors are Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited. There has been no change in the Company’s external
auditors for the preceding three years.

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and
service charges of the non-audit services to be performed by
the Company's external auditor, Lau & Au Yeung C.PA. Limited,
and considered that such services have no adverse effect on the
independence of their audit works.

A summary of audit services provided by the external auditor for
the year and their corresponding remunerations is as follows:
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Nature of services Amount
RIS HEE ok 12
HK$'000

FHET

Audit services for the year ended 31 March 2022 1,030

BE_T - _F-RB=-t+—HIEFEZEURS

AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPANY'S
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has not
amended its Bye-laws.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account the financial
results, general business conditions and strategies and the
capital requirements of the Group. The Board will also consider
the possible effects on the Company's creditworthiness and the
Company’s shareholders’ interests. The payment of dividend is
also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the
laws of Hong Kong and the articles of association of the Company.
The Company currently does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meetings

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at the general meetings of
the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require a special general meeting (“SGM") to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. Eligible Shareholders
who wish to convene a SGM must deposit a written requisition
(the “"Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at Suite 2202, 22nd Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails
to proceed to convene such SGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
himself/herself/themselves may do so in accordance with
the provisions of section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.

Right to Nominate Directors for Election at General
Meetings

Shareholder who wishes to propose a person other than a
Director of the Company for election as a Director must deposit
a written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 2202, 22nd Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or
the Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited (the “Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar”), at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary. The Notice must state clearly
the name of the Shareholder(s) and his/her/their shareholding,
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the full name of the person proposed for election as a Director,
including the person’s biographical details as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder
concerned (not the person to be nominated). The Notice must
also be accompanied by a letter of consent signed by the person
nominated to be elected on his/her willingness to be elected as a
Director.

The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence on the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting held for
the election of Directors and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

The Notice will be verified by the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in compliance with the rules of procedures, the Company
Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the Company
and the Board to consider to include the resolution in the agenda
for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected
as a Director. The right and procedures to convene a general
meeting and to demand a poll on resolutions at general meetings
by Shareholders are set out in the Company's amended bye-
laws headed “General Meetings”, “Notice Of General Meetings”,
“Proceedings At General Meetings” and “Voting”.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of those Shareholders having the right to vote at
such meeting or not less than one hundred Shareholders, at the
expenses of the Shareholders concerned, can submit a written
requisition to move a resolution at a general meeting.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution, signed by all the
Shareholders concerned and may consist of several documents
in like form (which between them contain the signatures of all the
Shareholders concerned).

The written requisition must be deposited to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 2202, 22nd
Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary not less than six
weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution and not less than one week in the case of
any other requisition.
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The signatures and the requisition will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar. Upon verification that the
request is valid, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
(i) include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting, or (i) convene a special general meeting by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to
all the Shareholders, provided that the Shareholders concerned
have deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company'’s expenses in giving effect thereto.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises the importance of continuing
communications with the Company’s shareholders and investors,
and maintains ongoing dialogues with them through various
channels. The primary communication channel between the
Company and its shareholders is through the publication of its
interim and annual reports.

The Company's registrars serve the shareholders with respect to
all share registration matters.

The Company's annual general meeting provides a useful forum
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Board
members and management of the Company are available to
answer shareholders’ questions and explain the procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll, if necessary. Any relevant
information and documents on proposed resolutions are normally
sent to all shareholders at least 21 clear days before the annual
general meeting.

All shareholders” communications, including interim and annual
reports, announcements and press releases are available on the
Company’'s website at www.chaoshang.hk. The latest business
developments and core strategies of the Company can also be
found on the website, keeping the communications with investors
open and transparent.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public who may contact the Company by
phone on (852) 2598 9868 during normal business hours, by fax at
(852) 2598 9878 or by e-mail at info@chaoshang.hk.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Purpose and Objective

Hong Kong ChaoShang Group (the “Company” or “ChaoShang”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present
our Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (the
“Report”) to outline our strategies and performances on our
sustainable development.

Reporting Period and Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the business
segments of (i) trading, (i) money lending and factoring, (iii)
finance leasing and (iv) financial services (including securities
brokerage and asset management) in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") for the period from 1 April
2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), consistent with
the scope of the consolidated financial statement in the annual
report.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the latest ESG Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide") as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) issued by
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "HKEX").

Reporting Principles

The reporting principles (namely materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency) outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide have been
adopted during the preparation of the Report. Please refer to the
following table for our application of these reporting principles.
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Reporting Principles Our Application
HRERA KM
Materiality We conduct materiality assessment to identify ESG issues that are significant to

the Group. When identifying material ESG issues, not only do we consider the
concerns of the Group, but also take into account the interest of various external
stakeholders, such as suppliers, investors and customers.

B5E2M BMgETEENML UBEHAEREREARENESGEE NEEEAX
ESGEER BPINEEZ R AEENGIIE 77T BRSO ENM = GlnHtrE
ENREEMER-

Quantitative As far as practicable, the Group discloses its key environmental and social
performance indicators with quantitative measures, and provide historical data for
comparison. ESG-related targets have been set to monitor the Group'’s sustainability

performance.

=1t RETHNERT  AEBUSEN S IR EEFRNIRIENTSERIEE ik
HELEIRIELLE - BAESCGHERAN B ZELTHIT  UBEBAEBN I FEZRRER
Ho

Balance The Group has identified and disclosed the ESG issues that have significant impact

on the Group's business in this Report. The information in this report is presented
unbiasedly, with both positive and negative trends being reflected.

i FEEERAREFHITIKE T HAEBXBELEARXENESCHEE ° A1)
EFNEARNRAFEHEIR > RIREE &R EREE

Consistency Consistent methodology has been used in the Report with necessary explanation on
any changes to the methods used as compared to the previous year.

—E4 NBERB T —HAE W8 E—FABLLF A A AN ERELE NER
fRRE o

Access to the Report EmARS

As part of the annual report of the Group, the Report hasbeen FAXEBEEREN —ZHD > KRS
prepared in both English and Chinese and is available on our M E X & R X4 > 28] )X A A 5 48 14
corporate website at http://www.chaoshang.hk. In case of  http://www.chaoshang hk¥EEX - 415 I £ > 1]

discrepancy, the English version shall prevail. DI RS 24 2 o
Your Feedback BT REE

We highly value opinions from our stakeholders. You are HfISEERFHENER -HMECE BT
encouraged to provide valuable comments and suggestions on B AREMNAB RS H RN AEB R OTF
the content of the Report, the reporting approach or the Group's EBHEEHFENBEXRRREETENERIRE
overall performance in sustainable development. Please contact % ° 55 & B8 Zinfo@chaoshang. hkEA F FI B 22
us at email: info@chaoshang.hk.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

R EE

The Group principally engages in trading, money lending and FMPEZERELZ - EERRE BREHERK

factoring, finance leasing and financial services business.

Trading
B%

Seafood and electronic product trading
in the PRC.
RABEREEHNETFEMES -

Finance Leasing Business
MERE

Provision of finance leasing and sale-
leaseback services in the PRC.

It mainly offers machinery/equipment-
based finance leases
REPEREMERE R
ERLIMEARTS
HErERMEm KEmERE-

T REARTS T o

Money Lending and Factoring
B ERIFIE

Provision of loan financing in Hong Kong
and loan financing and factoring in the
PRC.
REAREREENRRE
RHERMEERRRIBFE o

Financial Services
ERIARFE

Provision of securities dealing broking,
placing, underwriting, margin financing
and asset management services in
Hong Kong.
REANREBIREEEZFSL E
B R T E R EEBIERTS
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

Sustainability Strategy

It is our firm belief that sustainable development not only
contributes to community development, but also benefits our
business operation and our stakeholders in the long run. We
aim to create a positive value to our shareholders, employees,
customers and suppliers. In this regard, we have formulated
our sustainability strategy, setting the way forward to embrace
sustainable development through our priority areas and
corresponding goals.

Goal B2

To enhance the well-being and
benefits of our employees
EeHME TN I=

Creating
value for our
employees
#AREMNES
BIEEE

Creating
value for our
customers
ABRMANER
BIiEEE

Goal BH1E
To uphold a high product quality
standard and enhance customer

satisfaction
BREEERERRE
A SEY =)=V
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Goal B1Z

To incorporate environmental
considerations into our daily
operations by the adoption of
green office measures
IBIBREAR B E T IRIR
REMAKPNBESEEF

Creating

value for the
environment
AIRIBAIE

&fE

Creating

value for our
community
AEMNHTE

BIEEE

Goal B1Z

To give back to the community
through donations and
volunteering activities
BBEE R E T EEOEL S
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Sustainability Governance and Board’s Oversight
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) takes the ultimate
responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related matters.
Delegated by the Board of the Company, our ESG Working
Group oversees the ESG management approach, drives the
development and implementation of ESG-related matters and
advises the Board on matters including but not limited to the
below on a regular basis:

. developing and reviewing the Group’s ESG responsibilities,
vision, objectives, strategies, framework, principles and
policies;

. reviewing and monitoring the Group's ESG policies and
practices to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements,

° monitoring the communication channels and methods
between the Group and its stakeholders;

. reviewing major ESG trends and related risks and
opportunities, evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group's ESG-related structures and business models,
and adopting and updating the Group’s ESG policies as
necessary;

. reviewing the annual ESG report to ensure that it is
prepared in accordance with relevant requirements; and

° assessing and reviewing the Group’s ESG performance
against targets.
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ESG-related Risk Management

Being accountable for the long-term stable growth of the Group,
the Board retains the ultimate responsibility for the oversight of
the Group's risk management activities and monitors material
ESG risks. The Group considers risk management as an integral
part of daily management and sound corporate governance. Risk
management mechanism assists the Group in evaluating and
minimising risks that may prevent or endanger the achieving
of its business objectives in a dynamic business environment
where economic, industry, regulatory and operating conditions
continue to change. The Group assesses and determines the ESG-
related risks and considers their implications. We also formulate
ESG-related controls to address significant ESG risks. Coupled
with sound internal controls, the process facilitates a continuous
process of identifying, evaluating, prioritising, managing and
monitoring of the risks that the Group faces in its operations.
Details on our risk management approach can be found in the
“Corporate Governance Report” section.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group values the opinion of its stakeholders, as responding
to their needs and interests allows us to better shape our
business strategy and strengthen key relationships. To
understand the concerns and feedback of our stakeholders,
we constantly communicate with various key stakeholders,
including employees, suppliers and business partners, customers,
local communities, government and regulatory authorities,
shareholders and investors, as well as financial institutions. The
communication channels used to engage with different key
stakeholders are presented in the table below:
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Key Stakeholder and Regular Communication

TEFNERERBERRE

Channel

Stakeholders Communication Channels

HHhE BIBRE

Employees o Regular communication and meetings
BE EHEBRE®

Suppliers and business partners

HEBKRESSIEBH

Customers
=R

Local communities
EiitE

Government and regulatory
authorities
BN EHE

Shareholders and investors

RERKEE

Financial Institutions
SRS

Staff training and workshops
BT EIIRTIES

Annual appraisal

FEFML

Welfare activities

EBAEE

Meetings

&%

Regular supplier assessment
TR E rE s T

Meetings

&

Customer feedback

BERRE

Website of the Group
E R LG

Circulars and announcements
BRRAE

Charity activities

BEEE

Compliance reports

iR E

Industry-related conferences and collaborative projects
TERMEgRERSIFER
Reply to enquires from regulator
ClIESEREEEH

Annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting
BRRBFAERERREINAE
Regular publications (including annual reports)
EHTY (BIEFR)

Circulars and announcements
BREAS

Corporate Website

NSIE DA

Business meetings

EEEEE:

Emails

BE

Corporate Website

NG
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Through a three-step assessment process, ESG-related topics that
are significant to the Group and its key stakeholders are identified
and prioritised through the materiality assessment exercise. The
detailed process of the materiality assessment is as follows:

Step 1.
Identification

B—F.

il

Step 2.
Prioritisation
E4

BREF

RPBE=ESROFEERE BEHLE
ERETIEFNEBAERSENESGIEMZ
B EEERM T EERETERF B
EMFHERFABIENT ¢

Step 3.
Verificaiton
E5=%.

T

By referring to the Listing
Rules requirements of the
HKEX and industry trends, the
Group has identified 20 ESG-
related topics that are relevant
to the Group's business
operation.

BB2EHITH EMmiRA]
ERMITHEBE NEEH
AT HRAEEEREEAM
HI20IBESGAB A% RE ©
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We invited stakeholders to
conduct an online survey

to prioritise the ESG-related
topics identified. A materiality
matrix is then generated from
the survey result, indicating
the importance of ESG-related
topics at stakeholders’ and
the Group's perspective. The
most material topics at both
perspectives are disclosed in
this Report.

HMBAERF N EETR LR
HRE » B B HIESGAE B sR
BETEREF  WRESH
BEREFEZLIER B
TESGHERZBREF M EMN &
AEENBEEM ARE
BT EMELEREANS

&5,

The Board verified the
prioritised material issues to
ensure the rationality, balance
and completeness of this
Report.
EEERDERFFHNE
Rz UBERAREN G
IR~ M R STRE M o
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During the Reporting Period, we have identified 11 material ESG-
related topics which are significant to the Group’s business
and its stakeholders. The materiality matrix generated from the
assessment is shown below. Issues shown on the top right-
hand corner of the following materiality matrix indicate the most
material ESG-related topics, which are bolded in the legend below.

MRS PRI ES S EEEB R
5102 B ABIESGHR M8 4SS (G 0
DI [ BRIEEBL LA ETS
BABBANESGRMBR 15 U T HE A
G e

Materiality Matrix

EEEIEME
Bie 4 .
®19
®3 ®10 @16
4
g ®9%,15 @1
)
<
% i ®13 012,14
k7] g 17
o
= HO
LR e18
+
S
Y=
E 04
00 e
(7]
e5
®3
o2 @20
E @ o1 |
o significance to the Group High
HESRNEEY
1. Air emissions 7. Employee benefits 12.  supply chain social risks
BE mHE R BEEF HEEPNLE R
2. Waste 8. Equal opportunity, 13. Hazards and emergency
XY diversity and response planning
3. Carbon emissions and anti-discrimination KRB EERE
energy TEHET 2t RER 14. Product safety and stability
IR HE U BE TR 9. Occupational health management
4. Water resources and safety EmTEKRETHER
KEIR BERERENZR 15. Customer service
5. Climate change risks 10. Employee development EEEBRTS
REECRER and training 16. Data protection and
6. Supply chain environmental BT #EEHEIN cybersecurity
risks 11. Employment compliance iR RERAELZE
g IR RS BIEERYE 17. Intellectual property rights
management
MAEEEE
18. Marketing and advertising
MSEERES
19. Anti-corruption
k&S
20. Community investment
HERs

TECTFFR
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

Our goal:
To enhance the well-being and benefits of our employees

Material topics covered:

. Employee benefits

o Employee development and training

o Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination
o Employment compliance

J Occupational health and safety

We value talent and consider our employees as the greatest
attribute to ensure long-term success of our business. We
are dedicated to attracting, retaining, and developing talented
individuals, as well as forging solid and healthy relationships with
them. We are committed to maintaining a non-discriminatory
workplace where all employees are provided with opportunities
to reach their full potential.

To protect employees’ rights, promote workplace harmony and
ensure the employee understand our internal regulations, we
have formulated the “Employee Handbook” and other human
resources-related policies for our employees, which detailed the
labour-related arrangements on remuneration, recruitment and
promotion, dismissal, working hours, holidays, etc.

By putting employees’ rights and benefits in priority, we strictly
abide by all relevant employment-related laws and regulations in
the jurisdictions where our businesses operates, including but not
limited to the Employment Ordinance, Minimum Wage Ordinance,
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination Ordinance in Hong
Kong, as well as Labor Law of the PRC (FZE AR HEFH L E)
;&) and Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({FhZE A R R %5
& [EE)) in the PRC. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance regarding labour-
related laws and regulations.
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Employee Distribution

As at the 31 March 2022, we employed a total of 58 employees
(2021: 66). The breakdown of employees by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical region is outlined below:

FH=bagiin

BE2022F3831H  HMBEEBRA T8RETL
(20214F : 664) MR~ BIRLEE - F8548
AAMEE DB THERSRIT

2022 2021
- T4
By gender R
Male 3 34 28
Female % 24 38
By employment type BEFERS S
Senior management SREIEE 12 12
Middle management iR EIEE 16 13
General employees —mRET 30 41
Full-time 25 56 66
Part-time Eidg 2 0
By age group FER AR 292
21-30 21-305% 11 17
31-40 31-405% 17 19
41-50 41-50%% 17 15
51-60 51-607% 10 11
61 or above 615 £ 3 4
By geographical region i & & 5
Hong Kong 58 35 35
The PRC H 23 31

Equal Opportunities, Recruitment and Dismissal

We have been striving to build a diversified talent team that
upholds equal opportunities and diversity as we respect the
uniqueness of each individual. The Group makes use of a
variety of recruitment channels to improve the talent pool. We
ensure that our recruitment process is free from any forms of
discrimination against one’s age, nationality, race, religion, gender,
marital status, pregnancy or disability and would only consider
the competencies, experience and qualification of candidates in
the process. Our dismissal policy has been clearly set out in our
staff handbook.

TERD  RISAMRE
BUBIEBZ T ENATER BRETE
ezt BARMAEESEANER
MoAERABERERRERTEATE
FAEFRRANBEAER AN FEEATZAMN
HEAFE B ER S8 MR B
N RBPHELENER EREBRETRETE
REABEDERMNER - RMEEITFM
BRHES) AR R R o
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During the Reporting Period, our overall staff turnover rate
was 47%. The employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region in Hong Kong and the PRC of the core
business was as follows.

By gender EIERE o
Male B

Female Z

By age group ¥R E 2
21-30 21-30%%
31-40 31-40%%
41-50 41-505%
51-60 51-605%

61 or above 61 £
By geographical region it E a8 5
Hong Kong E5E

The PRC ==1E|

Remuneration and Benefits

We strive to attract and retain talents by offering competitive
remuneration packages. We also review the remuneration
packages to ensure our employees can enjoy competitive
remuneration. Our employees are also rewarded by annual
salary increment and discretionary bonus based on the Group's
performance and individual performance as appropriate. To
motivate our talents, we conduct staff performance appraisal
annually as a benchmark to ensure our employees are
compensated and rewarded in a fair and objective manner in
accordance with their performance and experience. We refer to
performance appraisal for employee promotion decision. The
Group make contributions to employee insurance in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance
in Hong Kong and the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({F2ZE A
REMETZRE£)) in China. We offer medical insurance for
employees in Hong Kong. In addition to statutory holidays, our
staff are also entitled to a five-day working week, marriage leaves,
bereavement leaves, maternity leaves and paternity leaves and
working hours are clearly stated in our staff handbook.
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The Group places great emphasis on the work-life balance of
our employees to create a harmonious working environment
and foster their sense of belonging to the Group. We organise
employee activities regularly to strengthen team spirit and
bonding between employees and the Group, for example,
birthday parties, Christmas Party and Chinese New Year festival
dinner. Besides, we also celebrate different festivals with
employees such as distributing rice dumplings and Chinese New
Year Cake to them.

Occupational Health and Safety

As a people-oriented enterprise, we attach great importance
to the health and safety of our employees. As such, a
comprehensive occupational health and safety policy and related
measures has been established to protect health and well-being
of our employees effectively. We strictly comply with the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
((hE AR EFMEBZERHAE)), Hong Kong's Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance and other pertinent laws and
regulations. We have engaged a disinfection service provider
to carry out disinfection at our offices regularly to improve the
sanitary condition of our office.

To ensure employees’ safety at work, we provide them with
necessary equipment for protection against work-related injuries.
For example, first aid kit is available at the office pantry. In cases
of which employee suffers from an injury at work, one should
notify his or her Department Head and the Human Resources
Department immediately. In addition, guidelines for reporting
duty under typhoon and rainstorms were formulated to provide
employees with guidance on the work arrangement during
extreme weather events, to ensure employees’ safety when
commuting to and from office. In order to raise the employees’
awareness of workplace safety, we participated in the fire drills
organised by the property management to ensure that our
employees are equipped with basic knowledge to cope with fire
accidents, such as understanding the use of fire extinguishers
and getting familiar with escape routes of the building.

AEBFBREREINITFEALENTE
MRS —EM & TFIRE BB ETHA
EEVFEBR - RFIEHAEBE TR UM
BEBEENE TRAERZHEAVKHE  f
Nt RIRE B KA MR FHNABRE -
tesh > ZMHBRE T —EERARAEHE W
Bt D kR F A EHRE o

BERREARZ

ER—BUARETNEE RFIFFEERE
TRREMZE -FHIL HFIFIE T 2 EAIH
FREARZ2BERKRARMER > LA MFRE
HMETRREMEUL - RABERET(PE
ARHMBERERAE)  EBNWERZE
Fe B2 RRARGI) A0 H Ath A8 R AT R R ANERR - T A
BEEE TESRBIREBE A I
AEETHS  UAERAMIENHENR
e

mTEEETINITIFRE ZABMARM
VEHREUREMFARZ TEHE - IO
ERKBREZHE - NMRETHETIFRR
%> HEURBEMEBPFIEEMAERE
tESh - BRI E TR AMBRRR TH®ES
M mBE TIREBHERR TN IIFZHHEE
DFRETI ETHNZ2 - A TIREETYH
TSR ERH HASMTYEEE
EPIEBBELEE  BRETREBREX
KEWEAMH T RBNBNERS
EMPRERIBHI R ERRAR

Work injuries during the Reporting Period: 0

HRERENITEHEHE 10

Working days lost due to work injury: 0 day

O mrsmsTran:om

@E Work-related fatalities in the past 3 years: 0
BEIFRNETITHAIAE 0
Work-related fatality rate in the past 3 years: 0%
BAIFREATTHEEE 1 0%
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Despite the challenge of COVID-19, the Group has set up COVID-19 Emergency Response Team (ER Team) and
formulated a reporting mechanism for prevention and control of COVID-19 G Bk imH & 15 2 BHiE KR &)
to prevent the spread of diseases. In addition to requiring employees to check their body temperature daily before
work, the following preventive measures have also been introduced to fight against the pandemic:
BREDEEMETRAESHRE ZEB KT 720198 R EEHRES/NE B2UVE) > SIE THESKAS RIS
ZHERBRERE BHILEERNGEE BRERE TSR EHAIAR RSN BFIE 7 U THIERER > LUIEE MR
T

> Sterilised carpets, alcohol hand rub and other disinfectant supplies are provided at the reception area
ARFREMESAENME CEBEEFRMEMEFSHAR

> Distribute face masks and Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) kits to employees
M & T 7% O SMPTRRERRRAN AN

> All staff must wear medical face masks at workplaces to prevent spread of virus
FrA B LA LR BIMEEE A OS> U L REERE

> Staff with fever and respiratory symptoms must report to the ER Team and should visit doctor immediately and
stay home until fully recovered
BRENTREERNE T HNERSZE/ NMARE  UELMNERS: BERPEHITEEE

> Regular sanitation of common areas is carried out to maintain hygiene
EHHAHBEETER  UREFEE

> Upon returning from the high-risk countries or cities in the past 14 days, staff members are required to submit
health declaration to the ER Team and reduce physical interaction at workplaces
EBEUVRRAREBERIMTEZRNET W ERARZ E/NMIRIBEER WA/ E TSN G
=5

> More air purifiers are installed for air quality enhancement by removing air-born germs and viruses in our
workplaces.
ZRELZHNTER LR UEEERER  BERILESMERFPIHEARNFS

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any 7E3REHME  AEBL A MNBEMERER
material non-compliance with the laws and regulations in respect B EBEHRL 2 AEEEIERENIE R
of occupational health and safety.
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Development and Training

We strive to grow together with our employees. To facilitate the
career development of our talents, we have invested adequate
resources to provide learning opportunities for employees by
investing resources in the training programmes to develop their
strengths and enhance talent development.

For financial services sector, the Group provides orientation
trainings for new employees regarding the importance of
compliance and regulations, as well as our structure and
background. Besides, our internal training courses covered
standard operational procedures, management knowledge,
regulations, and specific skillset to enhance employee’s job
competence. We also subsidise employees to participate in job-
related external training courses and encourage them to attend
continuous professional training courses including the updates
on business-related ordinances to enhance their professional
knowledge and understanding.

During the Reporting Period, training topics of courses offered to
employees included but not limited to:

o Client management
ERER

o ESG investing
ESGIRE

25 R SR
BRARNBETHERR R TIREATH
BEER ROARATEANE R RETR
HEBRE  FRIIBETRAER HREM
FIRES > IR AS &

ERNEMEBOE  AEESHE TIRMHE
AIEAI MBS RFEREEM > LUK
BUREIEAI A ] o IESh - RAIBI A EBIEANIERIZ
BT RERFER  EENH  ERNBER
fE IREE IR N -RFIEEMET
2MNE T EHERAY N ERE IR » 2 S By th
F2MEFAENFEEEIIRE SRR EHE
BBV IR I AT - LUR & thFI Y 5 2 K0 38 A0 3
f2 o

EREHE RASETRHMBINIREE
BEEERRN

] The management and disclosure of climate-related risks

RIEEREERNEIEMIEE
o Anti-money laundering
RFERE

222 ERNERRIE R

o Occupational safety
X

o Information security
BERZE

o Cyber security
Eisze

Laws and regulations updates
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Percentage of
employee trained
ZilEEER L

Average training
hours
T35 RF 2L

By gender ¥ERIE 2
Male 3

Female Z

By employment type ¥EEHENE 2
Senior management SHREERE
Middle management AR EIEE
General employees —MRET

Labor Standards

As an ethical corporate, we are strictly abided by the Employment
Ordinance, Labor Law of the PRC ((FZEARFEMEH L))
and other labour related laws and regulations. We prohibited any
illegal employment of children or forced labour, discrimination
and harassment. In order to prevent the employment of child
labour, our Human Resources Department is responsible
for verifying the candidates’ identity documents, age, work
experience, education and other information to ensure lawful
employment. If the candidate failed to meet all the applicable
legal employment requirements, the recruitment procedure
would be terminated. For overtime work, the Group provides
remuneration, overtime payments and other related benefits as
appropriate in accordance with relevant laws, regulations and
internal policy to ensure employees have sufficient rest time and
avoid forced labour in business operations. If we identify child
or forced labor in the workplace, we will immediately terminate
their labor relationship, and carry out investigation to identify the
loophole. Remedial measures will be implemented in order to
prevent similar event from happening again.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any

material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to child labour and forced labour.

Annual Report 2022

62.5% 4.6
37.5% 1.9
28.1% 14.5
18.8% 1.7
53.1% 1.2

% T#R|

ERn—EREBNEE  RABRBET(ERE
1B ~ (PEARAMBEEEE) M E A 255
ERMBNERNER - HARIEEMIFERE
ARBERAHE T IERMEENTR BT
BIEEAET  HANANERBEEZE
REANNS D BEX M £~ TIFEER 2
BHEMES  UEFREGIEME - WRKBE
TEMEMBERBHNEGEAMERENR  HER
FF A AR LE o RN DE T F > A& BAR R AR R
AR ERMABEREVB R AR M E
MEMBREEF  UEFRETLHEEHNKE
Fifd] > B RAERFESPHIFERGFF R
RPBERITEBAAEELH®RG %S R
R ERIEHSERG BWETRES R
TR o T AT & EREVA ROE I - AR LEE RIS B
REE-

HERSHE AERTANEBEANERERH
BT MR % TR AR ROERRIER



BEHEERFRAR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B AL RO TR

CREATING VALUE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS

Our Goal:
To uphold a high product quality standard and enhance customer
satisfaction

Material topics covered:

. Anti-corruption

. Data protection and cybersecurity

. Supply chain social risks

. Product safety and stability management
° Customer service

The Group insists to place client’s interest at our top priority
and provide them with quality products and service to enhance
customer satisfaction. Our operations are in strict compliance
with relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Money Lenders Ordinance and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance in Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance regarding product
responsibility.

Quality Products and Services

We understand that quality and safety of our products and
services are of the utmost importance to our customers and the
fundamental elements of our operation.

The Group provides different financial-related services to
customers, including money lending and factoring, finance leasing
as well as financial services including but not limited to brokerage
asset management services, margin financing services etc. As
such, we have formulated “Operation and Risk Manual” and
“Credit and Risk Control Policy”, and our financial-related services
are in strict accordance with all applicable laws and regulations to
assure compliance and service quality. In addition, we have set up
internal control procedures to protect the Group, our customers
and employees from financial loss arising from theft or fraud, and
other dishonest acts, professional misconduct or omissions. For
trading business, our products mainly include seafood as well as
electronic products. In order to maintain the quality and safety of
our products, the Group only sources from qualified suppliers to
secure quality standard of our products.

AEMANEREIEEE
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To keep abreast of market trends and the latest technology, the Group has developed our online trading platform
and mobile app to provide customers of our financial services business with more convenient services. To maintain
the stability and security of our online services, we have formulated adequate and suitable measures for our online

trading platform and mobile app, including but not limited to the following measures:
ATERMBEBNRNEN 2EBAETHRMANE LR FEaMFRERER AR MANSHRBELD
HERRHEPEREIRD A7 HERMEIERBNEEENZ2E BMARMANESERZ FEMFHERRE

FHIE T ZOMBERVIEH > SEEFRICLUTER

o Requiring two-factor authentication login practice to verify user’s identity and prevent their private information

being accessed by other people

ERERAXFVFBNTRMOE > UBERENEH > B IEMPINFAAE B E M AEE
o Monitoring the system and network performance continuously to detect network issues and optimise

efficiency
TERED R RAAMAAE M BE ) MIZIREAB BT BIENE

o Performing stress test before system implementation and after major system change to understand the

stability and identify risks of our online systems

ARARBEHRANERRRERIETEDRE UTHEMTLRRANET EMH A R
o Keeping track of client trading activities to detect abnormal user activities

RHEFPIRZ 58 RAREHNERES

o Preparing incident reports when the system encounters material delay or failure to prevent similar incidents

from happening again

ERMBHEAREENRERFERFFTHRRE  UHLEUSHBREE

Customer Feedback

Recognition and support from customers are crucial to
our sustainable operations. The Group actively maintain
communication with customers and collect their opinions through
numerous communication channels including email, WeChat and
QQ

We strive to enhance customer experience and maintain
long-term relationships with our customers. The Group has
established a customer satisfaction management mechanism
and comprehensive procedures on handling customer feedback
in order to understand their needs and continuously improve
our products and service quality. In addition, our finance-related
business is in strict accordance with the Code of Conduct of the
Securities and Futures Commission.

To enhance customer satisfaction, we will handle all inquiries
and complaints in a timely and appropriate manner, and carefully
review complaint cases. Relevant investigation procedures will
also be conducted, allowing us to review deficiencies and make
improvement. During the Reporting period, the Group did not
receive any material complaint from customers.
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Data Protection and Privacy

We have always incorporated the protection of customers'’
rights and interests into the business development strategy to
effectively protect customer privacy. The Group is in compliance
with the relevant provisions of the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance in Hong Kong. Our employment contracts have
stipulated the terms and conditions relating to confidentiality of
information by requiring employees to undertake not to disclose
any information, technical data, trade secrets, know-how or other
information to any third parties without written consent of the
Group. Employee who breaches the terms is subject to instant
dismissal without compensation or other legal actions necessary.
To prevent any unauthorised access or leakage of customer data,
the Group also take precautionary measures to safeguard the
data collected in the businesses.

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is devoted to creating a working environment with
integrity and transparency. We strictly comply with the laws
and regulations regarding money laundering, bribery, extortion,
fraud and corruption, including the Organised and Serious
Crimes Ordinance, the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures)
Ordinance, the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance, Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirements for
Licensed Money Lenders and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the PRC.

As set out in our Code of Conduct policy, we strictly prohibit
employees to request, receive or accept any forms of benefits
from customers or suppliers of the Group. In order to maintain
the independence functionality, we do not allow our employees to
develop commercial or financial linkage with suppliers, customers
or competitors without written approval from the Group.
Employees are expected to make a declaration to the Group for
any actual or potential conflict of interests to avoid situations
which may constitute bribery.
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We have established an Anti-Money Laundering and Counter
Terrorist Financing Policy to take appropriate measures to prevent
and counter money laundering and terrorist financing activities
in the Group. Measures such as risk assessment, identifying
beneficial owners and on-going monitoring of customers
are included to prohibit third party transfer and suspicious
transactions reporting.

In order to identify and manage customers with high anti-money
laundering risks in a timely manner, the Group has standardised
the investigation measures of customer due diligence. Prior
to accepting the loan application of a customer, we will verify
the identity of customers and assess the risks associated with
the customers by analysing documents, data and information
provided by reliable and independent sources, including but not
limited to identity card, travel document and residential address.

To maintain the business ethics and integrity of the Group, we
encourage employees to report suspected incidents of any
violation of business ethics to the management by providing safe
and confidential whistleblowing channels. We will carefully handle
received information, conduct a fair and impartial investigation
of the reported case, and take necessary corrective actions for
the misconduct behaviour. Moreover, we provided anti-corruption
trainings to the directors and employees of the Group during
the Reporting Period to raise their awareness of ethical work
environment, thereby ensuring compliance of our business
operations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no legal case regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group and we are
not aware of any material non-compliance relating to money
laundering, bribery, extortion, fraud and corruption.
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Supply Chain Management

We are dedicated to maintaining long-term and stable
relationships with qualified suppliers who share the same
value as ours on sustainability. Regarding our financial service
businesses, we do not produce any physical product hence we
do not have significant procurement, and our main supply chain
management is mainly relevant to the trading business.

We put ethical sourcing into practice and encourage suppliers to
explore and implement sustainability practices in their business.
To effectively identify the environment and social risks in supply
chain, we have formulated “Internal Control Manual” which
outlined the procedures of procurement management. While
selecting suppliers, we will compare the quality and prices of
products. We have conducted an ESG-related risk assessment
on key suppliers. Based on the assessment result, we did not
identify material risks in the supply chain. Apart from that, we
also place great emphasis on the supplier's environmental and
social performance to reduce the related risks in the supply
chain. We expect our suppliers to adhere to the code of conduct,
operate with integrity, and treat their people fairly with reference
to the relevant Environmental, Occupational Health and Safety
policies, as well as strict standards on corporate governance. Our
suppliers are also expected to comply with local relevant laws
and regulations, in particular the issues of environment, child and
forced labour, health and safety. Only suppliers who meet the
requirements are considered qualified.

To ensure the procurement is fair and equitable, we closely
monitor the performance of suppliers. We will perform quality
assurance check for incoming product to ensure the quality of
our purchases meets our specification and expectation. Further,
we have incorporated environmental considerations into the
procurement processes, and prioritised local sourcing to reduce
the carbon footprint. To continuously monitor environmental and
social risks in the supply chain, site visits are also conducted to
understand and assess suppliers’ performance based on several
areas, including but not limited to product safety and quality,
environmental protection, pricing and delivery and reputation.
Meanwhile, we actively seek various means to enhance our
supply chain management.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has a total of 3 suppliers,
of which all suppliers are from the PRC.
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CREATING VALUE FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

Our goal:
To incorporate environmental considerations into our daily
operations by the adoption of green office measures

Material topics covered:
o Hazards and emergency response planning

Environmental Management

Due to its business nature, the Group's operation has a relatively
low environmental impact. We do not cause any significant
impact to the environment and natural resources. Nevertheless,
we aim to incorporate environmental considerations into
our daily operation, so as to create a sustainable future and
combat climate change. In this regard, we have implemented
various green office measures to make our operation more eco-
friendly, as well as ensure strict compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC" ((FREAER
HAMEBIEFRE L)), the “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the PRC" ({(F#E A B HFE AR5 EEH
J87E)), the “Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste” ({1 #E A R HAEE
REREM) 5 RIRIE A% )), Hong Kong's Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Water Pollution Control Ordinance and Waste Disposal
Ordinance etc. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection.

To ensure continuous improvement in our environmental
performance, we have set various environmental targets during
the Reporting Period. We will continuously monitor and report our
progress towards the targets. Targets related to Greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions, energy, water and waste are set out below:

Environmental Targets
Emissions: reduce air and GHG emissions by the adoption of

energy saving measures

Energy: increase energy efficiency by the adoption of LED lights
and energy-efficient electric appliance

Waste: increase paper recycling rate to reduce waste generation

Water: achieve an overall reduction in water consumption
intensity by the adoption of water saving initiatives
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Energy, Air and Greenhouse Gas Emission

Due to our office-based nature, our operations do not consume
large amount of energy. The sources of our energy consumption
and air and GHG emissions mainly consist of purchased electricity
for our office operations and fuel used by our company vehicles.
Nevertheless, to minimise our environment impacts, we have
adopted various green office measures, which are summarised in
the table below:
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Purpose Measures
B8 )i
Prevent unnecessary o Setting the temperature of air conditioners at designated degrees to
electricity use optimise electricity consumption
BRINENASE RZEFZENRIEENRE > UWEBIEESHE
. Turning off electrical appliances including lights, computers and printers
when being idled and before leaving office
REBERKEMARAERARES SFEE B RITI%
Increase energy efficiency o Cleaning the filters of air-conditioners regularly to improve the cooling
B ERME efficiency
EHBEATANBEERS IR RS WE
o using energy saving lights
EREREEE
Reduce fuel consumption o Conducting regular vehicle maintenance
B IREEEFE EHETHEEIRE
o Requiring drivers to switch off idling engines
BB ER S
o Closely monitoring the usage of vehicles
B BRI E g A RIS
Behavioural changes o Encouraging the use of video conferencing to replace business travel
TR XN AR SR B R B B S k1T

o Raising staff awareness on environmental protection by posters, internal

networks and other media

BBE%R - NEERAMRERRSE THNRFEEH

Use of Water

Our water consumption mainly comes from the use of municipal
water in offices. To reduce the excess use of water resources, we
perform regular check for hidden water leakage and overflowing
tanks, and fix dripping taps promptly. We provide trainings to staff
and post water-saving reminders in pantries and washrooms to
raise the awareness of employees on water saving. During the
Reporting Period, the Group does not encounter any difficulties in
sourcing suitable water.
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Waste Management

The waste generated during the Group’s operation comprises
of non-hazardous waste like paper and general garbage. No
hazardous waste was generated during the Reporting Period.
To minimise waste, we have adopted various resource saving
and recycling measures. We encourage duplex printing and
make use of electronic communication channels to reduce the
consumption of paper waste. We maximise the reuse and recycle
of waste paper when possible. Recycling bins have been placed
in our offices to collect recyclables, including paper, metals and
plastics. We also employ qualified service providers to collect and
handle used toner cartridges for printing machines.

Climate Change

The Group is aware of the increasing attention of stakeholders on
climate change issues. We have established the Climate Change
Policy to guide our efforts in mitigating the impacts of climate
change, and increasing the resilience and adaptability of our
operations to climate change.

BEMER
rEBRESBERTELENBEYOEESRE
W) Pl ARR K — AR IR © AT IR = HARE
NIEREELEAEREREY RBEALVER
¥ HFIRE T SR E R R B - 3K
B EmEITED > LA B EFEERBLUA
DIRSREEEYEVHFE - TR BERYIB R T F A
BESEERAKREIWER  ZFARMRAER
B[O WA L ErT RN & 8RR
BB LIS T G ERAIRBHE
U EE R BR IR T ENI 2R BE EE B =2 o

TR
BRI OEY BRI REN
BIE N MHIE 7 RIESEEHR > UIEE
KPRERESECNEE TREHRMWE
BHREE NI REE -

Mitigation Resilience and Adaptation
P B R ERES

o Establish and monitor carbon reduction and
energy saving targets
RV e A G =R

o Incorporate energy efficiency considerations
into our operations
RIBETRMEN LT BAMAFLFIREE 2+

o Establish and maintain effective environmental
management systems t0 manage energy use
and carbon emissions
BUMEEINIRIEEE R UEEE
TR R B B HE I

o Encourage innovation and collaboration to
mitigate climate-related risks
EENBIFT RS 1F > LURES K =18 R R & b

o Promote communication with stakeholders on
the Group's climate change policy
RERFHEMAEENREECEERET
EiE

To identify and manage climate-related risks, climate-

Continuously review the climate-related risks and
opportunities

B AR RIEAE R R e A 1%

Integrate climate-related considerations into our risk
management and decision-making processes

RE R EEENERAARMRRERRARN
BEZ A

Monitor and respond to market and regulatory
changes associated with low-carbon transition

AR FE A BRI E A N i5 R B E 81

7 B A B IR R R AR R R R > TR RIRAE

related factors are incorporated into our risk assessment and
management process. If climate-related risks are identified, the
likelihood and the impact of these risks will be assessed, and
strategies will be formulated accordingly to mitigate these risks
when necessary.
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The increasing frequency of extreme weather like typhoons and B¢ B A #UR Eikim KR H @ /8% > Al SEH
heatwaves could pose safety risks to our employees and affect FINE TR Z2EE > FERFINEREE
our business continuity. To protect employees and minimise %M AREE T WA SR /D AERNIEBL
the loss of the Group, climate-related hazards are included PRV /G 14 B 12 4 B2 oh 6145 A0 FE $ B &5 (2 48
and addressed in our Crisis Management Policy. In the event RIRIEE - ZB LREE 25k il TR F ik
of extreme weather like typhoons, rainstorms and extreme ImX& > Ei%RIEEE/NER S —FR4E
temperatures, the Crisis Handling and Management Leading #FE=TaZA03E M

Group will organise emergency plans and measures immediately.

Overview of Environmental Performance Data IRIBENBIEREE
2022 2021  Unit
—E-C —EFET—F B

Air Emissions

BE mBERK
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 9.5 129 kg
K[ 1EH(NOX) /N
Sulphur oxides (SOx) 0.3 03 kg
BREE¥(SOX) NI
Particular matters (PM) 0.7 1.0 kg
7 KT (PM) /N
Greenhouse Gas Emissions’
BE R
Total emission (Scope 1 and 2) 125.5 1488  tCOe
iR S (BE1R2) WB_EtiREE
Direct emission (Scope 1) 46.2 543 tCOe
BEHW (EE) WS biRES
Indirect emission (Scope 2) 79.3 94.6  tCO2e
BN (FBE2) W _EEiRE S
Intensity of greenhouse gas emission (Scope 1 and 2) 2.2 2.3 tCOe/employee?
BERBHNEE @BE1KR2) W E bR E S
/RE?
Energy
BEIR
Total energy consumption 274.7 301.4  MWh
RERHAEE R F1EF ELBF
Purchased electricity 116.5 115.6  MWh
SNEBEE TFEF E5F
Unleaded petrol 158.2 185.7 MWh
mEAH FE T+ 5
Intensity of total energy consumption 4.7 4.6 Mwh/employee?
EREEERE FEFTEEBE?
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2022 2021 Unit
=== 2% Efu
Water’
7K?
Total water consumption 82.0 1160 md
HEFRIKE K
Intensity of water consumption 1.4 1.8 m3/employee?
Bk=E NHEK RE?
Non-hazardous Waste
BEBEY
Total non-hazardous waste 2.3 1.4 tonnes
mEBEEYRE NI
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 0.04 0.02  tonnes/employee?
mEBEYEE /NP
! GHG emissions are calculated according to “Greenhouse Gas Protocol” BEREBHNEREEARERMEMMER B
published by the World Resources Institute and World Business Council EKBELERZEELAMNCEEREBBETRT
on Sustainable Development. E)st8Eo
2 The total number of employees as of 31 March 2022 was adopted inthe 2 REtEEER > HMRA T HE202243831H
calculation of intensity. BB THRE -
3 Water consumption of our Hong Kong leased office has not been ¢ KMESEEERAENEHKANESEQEE

included as the water supply is controlled by the property management
and data is unavailable to individual tenants. Nevertheless, we adopt
water saving measures to minimise water wastage.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR COMMUNITY

Our goal:
To give back to the community through donations and
volunteering activities

To deliver a long-term value for the community we serve,
we cultivate and promote awareness on social responsibility
among our employees and encourage them to participate in
voluntary works and charitable activities. We have established
the “Community Initiatives, Sponsorship and Donation Policy” to
ensure that resources are deployed effectively and contribute
to the development of the communities we serve. During the
Reporting Period, a total of 15 hours were contributed to the
volunteer activities.

In view of the impact of COVID-19, schools were suspended and
students’ school life have been affected. Therefore, children may
not adapt to school life after classes resume. To create a happy
school day for children, we participated in a volunteer activity
initiated by a non-profit organisation, Social Career, to prepare
and distribute snacks to children, hoping that they would be
encouraged and better adapt to school life. Through this activity,
over 1,000 snacks were successfully delivered to children.

AERMANLERIEEE

HFIER
RBBEERETIHEIBETS

RERFRBHNLESREREEE M
EEREESETHEEENETH > LEEth
MB2HREIREEEE - RMFIET (HEE
B RBEREBR)  LURERERFBEBN
B ARARBHNTEERFHERM RS
HAR A —HBRB TSN RE &S -

ER20198MRBENTE  ERIEREREN
REEEZETE -FHIL  NErEELEE
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ROV E2 R RIS T BAIFE R AR B
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Bk 22 FRESG#R & 4551
INDEX
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - BE - —RIEERARERIEE =30 BHH
A. Environmental
AIRIR
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : BER4D
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For The 62
(@  the policies; and Environment
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— Rk ERBRMAERBIHN mKETHNE ABRRANEEE
S BEEMREEEEYNELSHN
(@ BWE; &
b)) BFHETABEARZENERERK
psexddl
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective  Overview of 65
emissions data. Environmental
Performance Data
FARENIEEA1T  HI B R AB R P B E - IRIBENHERE
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope  Overview of 65
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,  Environmental
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of  Performance Data
production volume, per facility).
RRENIEEA12 BHiE (#@EE) KERBEE EE2) REREH REAUEERE
WE UEETE) & (ER) BE MUEES
B~ SIERME) o
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)  Not applicable for N/A
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit  disclosure since we do
of production volume, per facility). not produce hazardous
waste due to our business
nature
RREMIEEA13 FELEZEEEYESE UUESTE) K WER) EREBEE RMAE ~ER
BE WUSESEN SEREE) o TESEEY) RIS
RiEA
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in  Overview of 65
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.  Environmental
per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance Data
FRENIEEA14 FMELEERZSEEYEE WUESTE KWER) REANEERE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EEH - —RIEERARERIER EH B BH
KPIA1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps  Environmental 62
taken to achieve them. Management
FAREMIERA1S AT UNBINEERKEAEINELEER RIEER
FrERERBY 4 5% o
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-  Environmental 62, 64
hazardous wastes are handled, and a Management;
description of reduction target(s) set and steps  Waste Management
taken to achieve them.
RRENIERAL HMEBREERBESEEYNG L kit RREERE;
Frsl I BEE R R AEIEEERMEN  BYER
B B o
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BmEA2 : ERER
General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, Creating Value For The 62
including energy, water and other raw  Environment
materials.
—RIRE BRERAER (BEER KREMRMED N  RRIBAIGEEE
R o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by  Overview of 65
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in  Environmental
‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  Performance Data
volume, per facility).
RRENISIEA21 RERESNERK HBEER WE R REEJHERE
gom) BEE UTETFRESE REE @
NEESBEA 8BEREE) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Overview of 65
Environmental
Performance Data
RABEMIEIEA22 BEKERTE- IRIBEVHEHE
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s)  Environmental 62, 63
set and steps taken to achieve them. Management;

B IE IS 1RA2.3

hiiF
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Energy, Air and

Greenhouse Gas Emission
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EE - —RIRBRARENIEE EH B BHH
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in  Environmental 62, 63
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water  Management;
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Use of Water
achieve them.
FARENIERA24 HMRBGBARANKR LI BEMME UKk REEE;
SIVHBAKNE B R RAEIESEEZME AKX
EXHY 2D B o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished  Not applicable for N/A
products, and if applicable, with reference to  disclosure due to the
per unit produced. business nature
FRENIEEA2S ENRPMASEMENEER WER 84 EREBME KELLR TEA
EBf{EE- B
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[BEA3 : RIERXAER
General Disclosure  Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant  Creating Value For The 62
impact on the environment and natural  Environment
resources.
— i EE BEZETAHRERANRBEREREAFE ARENEEE
HIEER ©
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of  Environmental 62
activities on the environment and natural  Management
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.
FARENIEEAS] WLEFHEHHREAKABRNEAEE REEE
RERNEERRTENITE
Aspect A4: Climate Change
EEAS : mIRE1E
General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of  Climate Change 64
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
—RIRE HAREHECKROEEHETAEERE aEEL
HNEARFEHEFEENEE-
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related  Climate Change 64
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
RRENIEEAL ] FMERKAESHETAEETENEAR JEEME
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
Bibi ~ L& R TR

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FEHR -EE- —HIEEREARGERISE =8P B
B. Social
BitE
Employment and Labour Practices
BIERETEHR
Aspect B1: Employment
[BEB1 : B1E
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For Our 50
@ the policies; and Employees
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— A EE ERlFNRERE - BEEREA TEHFHE R HAEMANESRIZEE
HFEEKE 2t - REGUREMEFS
By
@ BE;R
b BTFHETABEAZZNEMEER
ROIBER}
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type  Employee Distribution 51
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
FRARAENIEEB1.T 2R EFEHE B ERE) - FikEn EESHM
REE D EELRE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group  Equal Opportunities, 57
and geographical region. Recruitment and
Dismissal

R AR IE1RB1.2

IR FE AR RMEE D BIESRKE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - BE- —RINERBABEKRISE B8 WE BHH

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EHEB2 : EEHZ2
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For Our 50
(@ the policies; and Employees
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer.
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
—ARHEE ERREREZE2IFREAMEEERRHE AREANEELIEEE
HEEER
@ BE; K
b)) BFHETABEAZENERERK
RAEBER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities  Occupational Health and 53

occurred in each of the past three years  Safety
including the reporting year.
FRENIEEB2T B|BE=F (BEERFE SFRITHMA BEREHEZS

U
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and 53
Safety
RASRENIEEB22 RAIBIBLRIEE#e- BERREEZS
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety  Occupational Health and 53

measures adopted, how they are implemented  Safety
and monitored.

RHAENIEIRB23 HAFTRMBBERBEAZERER URE BRERRAERS
AT REER A
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - Em-—RINERAEERISE B8 WE BH

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EmEB3 : ¥ERIE

General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge  Development and Training 55
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may
include internal and external courses paid by the
employer.
— A EE BERRAEREBTILEHENM#M RTEN ZEEAEI
R o sz 5 B 0

5 EIEREEI T eEREI N ENRIMERER

2o

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by  Development and Training 55
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

RASRAENIEEB3.1 RUMNKESSERN WEREEE - PREE FRHEE
B) 8= IiBET DtEe

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per  Development and Training 55
employee by gender and employee category.

RIREWNIEIEB3.2 MR KREERRE D SELEETHTI EEHEI
BT BB o

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : % T#A|
General Disclosure  Information on: Labor Standards 56
(@  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— AR EE BEABFIEE T 3 5aE%5 T - % T 28|
@ BE; K
() BETFHETABEASENEREIERK
RAINE R} o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  Labor Standards 56

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
RISRAEXMIEIEBA. T Wi IR B0V E M AR o B T K agh] %5 T 2R

Lok
5 Lo

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such  Labor Standards 56
practices when discovered.

RARENIERBL2 HATERRERBE R HRARIERPIERE 55 T#8|
B B o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EEH - —RIEERARERIER EH B BH
Operating Practices
SEEN
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : HFEREE
General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Supply Chain 61
risks of the supply chain. Management
— IR E EBIRMEENIRIE R ERMBEE- HrEREIR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 61
Management
RASRAMIEER5. HHMER DN EERHE - HAEREIR
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging  Supply Chain 61
suppliers, number of suppliers where the  Management
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
RASRAENISIEBS.2 WM ARMEAEEEMIBA mENTER HEREE
BRNHERHE  URERBITRERS
V£ o
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify  Supply Chain 61
environmental and social risks along the supply ~ Management
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
RARENIEIEB5.3 MM BMAANEEESEIRMNRERMTE HEHEE
EEHIER U AR T REE R G %
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote  Supply Chain 61
environmentally preferable products and  Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
FARAENIEEB5.4 WIMEREHEERECSARRERMIR HEREIE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EE - —RIRBRARENIEE EH B BHH
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EREE
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For Our 57
(@  the policies; and Customers
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact ~ Due to the business
on the issuer nature, the Group was
relating to health and safety, advertising, not involved in product
labelling and privacy matters relating to  labelling, and the
products and services provided and methods  Group did not publish
of redress. any advertisements in
relation to the money
lending business during
the Reporting Period,
therefore disclosure was
not applicable
— A EE ERFMREERTIBRBENRERZ2 - ES ARANEFAIEEE
BE R EBEE ARG ER .
(@ MmHE; & R ER ST A&
b)) BTFHETABEEAZZNEREZER TIREREE K~EH
RAIBER - TNE BN RS BRI
BREEEBNES &
b B R E LR E
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped  Not applicable for N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.  disclosure due to the
business nature
FAIRENIEEB6T EBENCEEZERBATRZ2EHERER RFEBEETEREL ~EA
mZaRIWB B3t o e EE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related  Customer Feedback 58
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.
RARENIEEB6.2 HEMNELREBRFNEFUEUKRERS FRRE
P
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing  Not applicable for N/A
and protecting intellectual property rights. disclosure due to the
business nature
RRIRAENIETRB6.3  Haut Bl i 58 o (R P& AN 8 2 1 A RE B IE B o REHBEENBRED NEHR
W=
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FEHR -EE- —HIEEREARGERISE =8P B
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  Quality Products and 57
recall procedures. Services
Due to the business
nature, the Group was
not subjected to product
recall matters
FARENIEEB64 HMMESBTEBERERLDWERS- BENERMRE
BEREHRUEE AEEF
BEXIERBREERE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and  Data Protection and 59
privacy policies, how they are implemented  Privacy
and monitored.
FRIRAENIEEB6S WIUHEBEEBERMRERIARBEE  UKiEE BURREHETLR
HITREEE %
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : R&S
General Disclosure  Information on: Anti-Corruption and 59
(@ the policies; and Anti-Money Laundering
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
— R EE BRI LB 3R~ (FF R LR 8200 ¢ RESER RS
@ BE;k
b)) BTHRTABEAZEZNEMEEK
ROIBER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding  Anti-Corruption and 59
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or  Anti-Money Laundering
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
FARAENIEER7.1 NRERAAHZBTANHESRITEEE ~KESERLERE
HNESIARHNE B KReh R
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and  Anti-Corruption and 59
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are  Anti-Money Laundering
implemented and monitored.
RIRENIEIER7.2 WM BEIEMNRBRRER > UREERNTR REFTHAREERE
Bk
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided  Anti-Corruption and 59
to directors and staff. Anti-Money Laundering
FARAENIEEB73 HMOESEKETRENKRESIEC REGRR LR
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FEHR - EEH  —RIRBRARERIER B IRE BE

Community

£

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HE’RE

General Disclosure ~ Policies on community engagement to  Creating Value For Our 67
understand the needs of the communities  Community

where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

—RIFE BREMHERHRTREEMEIMHLEREEM
BREAXKIFEERTEF mIBEK-
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

BASRAENISIERS.1 H FEREE-
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.

FHENIEEB82 HEHEEILBFABAEIR

AHEMNTERIEEE

Creating Value For Our 67
community
AERMANTEREEE

Creating Value For Our 67

Ccommunity
AREMNTERIEEE

It e S
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company present their
report together with the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements, there were no significant
changes in nature of Group's principal activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group's business, can be found in the sections “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 4 to 19 of this annual report. This discussion forms part
of this Directors’ report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group's performance by operating segments is
set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set forth in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 105 to 106.

The board (the “Board”) of Directors did not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY, PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in investment property, property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set forth in Notes 15 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during
the year (2021: HK$1.5 million).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set forth in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share options scheme below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2013 and the Stock
Exchange granting approval of the listing of and permission to
deal in the shares to be issued under the share option scheme
(the "Share Option Scheme”) on 3 September 2013, the Company
adopted the Share Option Scheme in replacement of a share
option scheme adopted on 25 March 2003 which had been
expired on 24 March 2013. The Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 2 September
2013, unless otherwise terminated. The followings is a summary
of the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose
The Share Option Scheme aims to provide the Company with
a flexible and effective means of incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
Directors, employees and other participants of the Company and
the Group.

Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite person(s) who
or which is/are eligible to participate as grantee(s) and receive
options under the Share Option Scheme, to take up share options
to subscribe for Shares.

Annual Report 2022
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Maximum number of shares available for
subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued Shares of
the Company as at 2 September 2013. Upon approval by the
Shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed 10% of the
issued Shares as at the date of approval by the Shareholders,
and a circular regarding the proposed renewal of the Scheme
Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the Shareholders in a
manner complying with, and containing the matters specified
in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting on 26 August
2016, the 10% limit under the Share Option Scheme was
refreshed, such that the maximum number of shares available
for subscription was 73,612,000 shares. Subsequent to this
refreshment, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting on 5
September 2016, every one share of the Company of HK$0.10
each was subdivided into five subdivided shares of HK$0.02 each.
Hence, the maximum number of shares available for subscription
was adjusted to 368,060,000 shares, and there were no further
changes since then up to 31 March 2022 and the date of this
report. The aggregate maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total number
of Shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the Share Option
Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Any excess over 1% shall be
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting
with such participant and his/her close associates abstaining
from voting and the Company shall issue a circular pursuant to
relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

BEHEERFRAR
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Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option
The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
twenty-one days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HK$1 as consideration for
accepting the offer of the share option granted. The grantee may
subscribe for Shares during such period as may be determined by
the Board (the said period shall not in whatever case be later than
the last day of the 10-year period after the day on which the offer
relating to the option is duly approved by the Board in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme (subject to early termination)).

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer of
the grant of option to the grantee, the Share Option Scheme does
not provide for any minimum period for which share options must
be held before it can be exercised.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares.

The life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years
starting from 2 September 2013 (can be terminated before
expiration).

As at 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report, no share
options has been granted under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 109 and in Note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE KABZ A kG
COMPANY
The Company's reserve was as follows: KABZHEENOT .
2022 2021
= BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contributed surplus BERRBER 34,178 34,178
Accumulated losses RETE518 (200,481) (229,973)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of the contributed surplus if:

(@ the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are
set out in Notes 14(b), 28 and 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 251 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Zheng Juhua
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth
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In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Company'’s Bye-laws and
to comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan
Chi Yuen and Mr. Man Kwok Leung will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within three years without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than the transactions as disclosed in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party in which a Director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
31 March 2022 or at any time during the year then ended.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Directors had an interest in any business apart from the Group’s
business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group's business that need to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Director
2%

Name of company
YNCIEZY

BEARBDZABRMABEMNMFRBEBT L
TRAZER RESEREREBERTER
REERRBFAGLER UFAERKE
EEEe

FRREERESMEIIFNITEEERAR
B ETRASBIIBMFEZBUM . FEREDSE -
ARBBBNBEBILIIFRTESTHOTEAR
B ENR-.

EEZRBED
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P IETI B B S ERE CEEMERID
ZBRBELe

EEZGHOEDR

BRI R B B REM M MB LR B
SoRIBTEZB=+—HAMEZA
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Nature of interests
EEtE

Nature of business
EBRNE

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
PRERE

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited
(“Royal Century”) and its subsidiaries
CRERERERAR (MZEER) &

HITB AR

As the Board is independent to the boards of the above
mentioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm'’s length, from the business
of those companies.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in
any business (apart from the Group's business) which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year had the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or
any contract of significance for the provision of services by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements were connected transactions which
were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters
of appointment entered into between the Directors and the
Group were connected transactions which were exempt from
any disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register as required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Directors’ interest in the Company:

EFERERITHRASRKRMD - HRR
BREZFZEm Bk

R_E - _F=-B=+—H EFEKAEARH
BRITEHAEREBE AR AR B K EER
FE (EEREBHFRIPERG (B RPER
1) EBXVER) VA A BB (TA&1731) ~ HEREER
M RESTERBREES MPEERAEXY
ERBT7 M8 BB HI B A A B R B X FT U RE 2R Ke
KB RERIRIRE S RIS K HE352K7F
B EBEMAB SRR XA N BRE L
™75 B B 8% 1 0P S AR 22 <7 B A0 & AR A B) K i
RFTERERENWT

EFENAAB) 2 HEm -

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Number of shares shareholding Capacity
B4 R &E RERHTILE 59
Ms. Zheng Juhua Long position 834,767,140 shares 20.26% Interest of the controlled
BHIEL L (Note) corporations
4 &834,767,1408% REAE#EGT
(FH)

Note: 834,767,140 shares were held by Superb Smart Limited (“Superb
Smart”), a company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua,
the executive Director and Chairlady of the Company. Accordingly, Ms.
Zheng Juhua is deemed to be interested in the relevant shares under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interested or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and/or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme” section on
page 80 in this annual report and Note 27(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors,
or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had
any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as it is known by or otherwise
notified by any Director or the chief executive of the Company,
the particulars of the corporations or persons who had 5% or
more interests in the following long positions in the shares and
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO or were entitled to exercise,
or control the exercise of, 10% or more of the voting power at
any general meeting of the Company (the “Voting Entitlements”)
(i.e. within the meaning of substantial shareholders of the Listing
Rules) were as follows:

Name of substantial

BEHEERFRAR

EFBARMHBEF 2L

BRI AFIRFS0E B EE ) — B RES
IR 27COPTIREIN » R A B HEAEA
B B A B 5 AR R B2 N fe) BF RS R 4 5T AL A2 )
ZH O REEETEBARNRT R ETAEM
FANBREZ RO NERES (BFES) mE
mo Bl ERESHEEBSI KRB+ /\K
FUBETAORBERARNB DS ZRERN > I}
EREBEE_ S __F#=HB=+—HLEERX
TEEAZERERN -

FERREHMA LR RERR
RziEmkXE

RIBEZ_HF=RB=+—H ' BEXREEM
EFWSMRITHRAEFMEHMBERNE
RRIREBE R S M ARG 1R HI E3361R R FER
SMAracix 2 iR RABRAR M Z i B %
BS% U EEm NEFATEAREARE
FERITESIERI0%3 L L1 R (T =
ml) BPEHRAANEBRRAEERSE) 242
AL ZFHBEAOT :

Approximate
percentage of

shareholder Number of shares shareholding Capacity
FTERRES g 4= RIESOEILE B9
Ms. Zheng Juhua Long position 834,767,140 shares 20.26% Interest of the controlled
BEHIEL T (Notes (i) corporations
47 2834,767,1400% SN B
(B %))
Superb Smart Limited Long position 834,767,140 shares 20.26% Beneficial owner
(Notes (i) BmEAA
Y7 &834,767,1408% (FMT=E())
Dragon Mind Long position 341,132,000 shares 8.28% Beneficial owner
Holdings Limited (Note (ii) BEm#EB A
ERERBRAT 47 2341,132,0008% (FfF5E(i)
Managecorp Limited Long position 341,132,000 shares 8.28% Trustee
(Note (ii)) =sEA
4 2341,132,0008% (FfEE(ii))
Mr. Zhang Lirui Long position 341,132,000 shares 8.28% Founder of a

SRFER A (Note (iD)

4 2341,132,0008% (FIEEGi))

discretionary trust
BIBEFERILA

TECTFFR
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Notes:

(i) 834,767,140 shares were held by Superb Smart, a company wholly and
beneficially owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua, the executive Director and
Chairlady of the Company. Accordingly, Ms. Zheng Juhua is deemed to
be interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

(i) 341,132,000 shares were held by Dragon Mind Holdings Limited which
is wholly-owned by a discretionary trust of which Mr. Zhang Lirui (“Mr.
Zhang") is the settlor and Managecorp Limited (the “Managecorp”) is the
trustee, and accordingly, Mr. Zhang and Managecorp are deemed to be
interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
corporations or person who, as at 31 March 2022, had the Voting
Entitlements or any interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Zheng Juhua, aged 50, is an executive Director and the
Chairlady of the Board of Directors of the Company. Ms. Zheng
has been a member of the Board since April 2011. Ms. Zheng
conducts a property rental and investment business in Shenzhen,
the People’s Republic of China. She has over ten years of
experience in securities investment in Hong Kong. She is the
sole beneficial owner of Superb Smart Limited, a substantial
and controlling shareholder of the Company which holds
approximately 20.26% of the issued share capital. She has not
held any directorships in the last three years in any other public
company the securities of which are listed on the securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 55, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor
degree with honours in Business Administration and a master
of science degree with distinction in Corporate Governance
and Directorship. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practicing certified
public accountant and has extensive experience in financial
management, corporate development, corporate finance and
corporate governance.
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Mr. Chan has been a member of the Board since June 2011.
He is currently an executive Director and chairman of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 8125). He was
an executive Director of Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited
(now known as Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited) (stock code:
524) from June 2015 to October 2019 and an independent non-
executive Director of China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited
(stock code: 164) from April 2006 to September 2019, Media Asia
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8075) from September 2009
to March 2020, New Times Energy Corporation Limited (stock
code: 166) from May 2012 to March 2020, Asia Energy Logistics
Group Limited (stock code: 351) from September 2004 to July
2020 and Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1089)
(which shares were delisted from the Stock Exchange on 24
December 2020) from July 2015 to December 2020.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Man Kwok Leung, aged 75, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Man has been a Board member
since April 2011. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.
Mr. Man has extensive experience in the legal practice and was
appointed by Xinhua News Agency as a district advisor between
1995 and 1997. He is currently a Director of Apleichau Kai Fong
Primary School, the committee member of Apleichau Kai Fong
Welfare Association, the secretary of Apleichau Promotion of
Tourism Association and the honorary legal advisor of Junior
Police Officers’ Association. Mr. Man is not related to any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Man is currently an independent non-executive Director of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559).
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Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter, aged 71, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yu has been a member of Board
since April 2011. He has over 28 years of experience in real
estate and financial services industries. Mr. Yu has a Bachelor
Degree in Management from Youngstown State University in
Ohio, the United States and a Master of Science Degree in
Financial Services from American College in Pennsylvania, the
United States. Mr. Yu is a member of the Certified Commercial
Investment Member Institute and was the first Chinese-American
elected to the board of the San Francisco Association of Realtors.
Mr. Yu worked in Pacific Union Real Estate Company in the United
States between 1980 and 1995 and held senior positions in
MetLife and New York Life Insurance Company in managing Asian
customers in North America. Mr. Yu is not related to any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders the
Ccompany.

Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive Director of China
Sandi Holdings Limited (stock code: 910) from December 2010 to
September 2019.

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth, aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Mr. Chi has been a Board member since April
2011. He has over 20 years of experience in accounting and
financial control area. He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy
Degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the United Kingdom, an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chi is not related to
any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Annual Report 2022

REACEE 7R ARRBEBIUIFERITES
RENEEG IR RAEEBZE—FN
BREYFIESFHE - BN EMER SRR
BEEEBA T N\FRB REERFEE
B Z fik P Youngstown State University = &
BEBE4+ 254 NERE Y AELMNAmMerican
Collegez &RARBIEE T2l o RIELEHE
BafEERE AEnamE TABME
BENMAZFEmMtERSHSEE G E2/HE
AN REER—NANEFEE—NNAEBHE
ZEFPacificUnion Real Estate CompanyIf{E:
B BEEFAEEASREAR RARD
AEREBABDEEIER BEEEIEENZ
DEEP RELEANTEANES -SRE
EERNETERRNERE R R EMRE G

REEBR _E—ZFF+_BE_FT—NEF
NAHREERE =R AERAS HH
881 910) 2B IEHITES -

FEWAE 53R BRERBBEIUIFNTES
RERZEGIRE - FREB_T——FNO
AHAESFEEME KNGt KUY BFEEE
EBB_+HEER -REAEBEIARES
SEETSM TARBERFARESNA
CEFRGE UKRBEGSNLE BERT
MEAGREBFFABAEAY FITEIFET
WERITHAEBRE) B8 -FHREHEANT
EREF SREEBATBZRENEREK
R EEAIR o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
B S

Mr. Chi is currently an independent non-executive Director of
Perfect Medical Health Management Limited (formerly known
as “Perfect Shape Medical Limited”) (stock code: 1830). He was
an executive Director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559) from January 2010 to March 2020 and an independent
non-executive Director of Greentech Technology International
Limited (stock code: 195) from October 2012 to April 2020, and
Hephaestus Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Union Asia
Enterprise Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 8173) from November
2019 to March 2022.

Senior Management

Mr. Chau Kin Cheung Alfred, aged 37, is the company
secretary and financial controller of the Company. Mr. Chau
holds a bachelor’s degree in Professional Accountancy from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has extensive
experiences in auditing, accounting, financing and company
secretarial matters. He joined the Group since October 2021.

Ms. Li Yue, aged 34, is a finance manager of the Company. Ms. Li
has a Master degree of Financial Management from the University
of Alberta and bachelor degree in Business Management
(Accounting) from Jilin University of Finance and Economics and
she has the certificate of accounting profession issued by Finance
commission of Shenzhen Municipality. She has over 5 years of
experience in banking industry. She joined the Group since July
2015.

Mr. Zhou Dezhao, aged 44, is a general manager of the Group’s
finance leasing department. He has a Master degree of Business
Administration from University of Northern Virginia and a bachelor
degree in Finance from Sun Yat-Sen University. He has over 15
years of experience in banking industry. He had worked in several
banks as a general manager in business department or business
development department before joining the Group. He joined the
Group since October 2015.
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Mr. Wong Yiu Man, aged 49, is a responsible officer and director
of the Company’s subsidiaries namely ChaoShang Securities
Limited and CHAOSHANG ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED. Being
the managing director of these subsidiaries, Mr. Wong is primarily
responsible for supervising the business of retail brokerage and
asset management under the regulation of the SFC. Mr. Wong
obtained a Bachelor of Accounting and Financial Management
the University of Sunderland, and has over 26 years in financial
industry. He joined the Group since June 2021.

Mr. Yeung Chung Lung, aged 34, is a responsible officer and
director of the Company’s subsidiaries namely ChaoShang
Securities Limited and CHAOSHANG ASSET MANAGEMENT
LIMITED. Mr. Yeung is primarily responsible for supervising the
business of retail brokerage and asset management under the
regulation of the SFC. Mr. Yeung received a Bachelor of Arts
Degree in Financial Services from Edinburgh Napier University,
the United Kingdom, and has over 14 years in financial industry,
mainly focusing on the operation of front office and other
financial business developments. He joined the Group since July
2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, approximately 72% (2021: 64%) and 18% (2021:
21%) of the Group’s turnover was attributable to the five largest
customers and the largest customer respectively.

During the year, approximately 100% (2021: 91%) and 43% (2021:
47%) of the Group’'s purchases were attributable to the five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers above at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the laws of
Bermuda or the Company's Bye-laws, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Annual Report 2022

BERRIE 495 RAKRATNB AR ME
ELHERADRIBEEEERREATNEG
BEABREZE BRAEFARSETRANE
BHEKIE T EEAEEEASETEE T
TERENEEEEBEK SREBENR
%k%au&%%ﬁﬂﬁiﬂﬁ7tﬁfé
BTEBEABEELE BN S —F X
BIMAKRER-

HEfhRESTE > 34k WA T RBM B AR #E
BEERADMNANEEEEARLATINE
BEAEREF - HAETEEEEEERE
EEETZTERECAREEEEXET B
EHX?%?I@TE%W&E@?(—%E%MWQY%
TE W AESMEREA14FL LK

FERINRAENEE LX&HWJ@@%%%
BR- BN B —FtRAMALER-
EEEHN

RERBEMNN RBEE-T-__F=A8
=+ —HEFERAREIYXEBRARER
B2 EMERBOEFZEERITHA
HZE# -

FTEXRRIMER

RAEER K%ﬁjﬁ@ﬁ&?k%ﬁﬁ
B AR EE B £ 584972% (T —% 1 64%)
T #918% (T ——4F . 21%)

RAEER AEBTLAHER KRR AHIE
D RMEZE E BB RELY100% (B - —4F ¢
91%) F#943% (Z B _—4F : 47%) ©

BEES REZMBATHNEFRE GLE
EFMNERAARBEEITRAS%IULEZA
) REFEREARER DR FEMHEENR
ERRERED

BEBEERE
BFEAI N A AR 2 A T8I FEAE IR
B SE E R SORE R AR BIRLAIE
RARREEHRS o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to Bye-law 168(1) of the Company's Bye-laws, every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any
loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred
by the Company in the execution of the duties of his/her office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-laws shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company have maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares during the year ended 31 March 2022.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications, experience and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong are
required to participate in a contribution retirement scheme of
the Group set up in accordance with the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Under the scheme, employees are required to
contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per month and they may choose to make additional
contributions. The employer’'s monthly contribution is at the rate
of 5% of each employee’s monthly salary up to the maximum
limit of HK$1,500 per month.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate in
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant local
government authorities since incorporation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 39 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the sufficiency of public float
requirement under the Listing Rules at any time during the year
and as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors, has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations
of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Lau
& Au Yeung C.PA. Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Zheng Juhua
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

[ LAU | 2B @t imsmspamasE
SR GANERI 1 AU & AU YEUNG C.P.A. LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 105 to 250,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are (i) impairment
assessment of trade and account receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables
and deposits, prepayments and other receivables, and (ii)
impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets.

FREEE
MEBFETRESRERMANEZHE BR
HEARGEMBRENEFTRAEENS
H-BEFREERMBEFABEGROGMBR
KERHARRFETREN - KM EHZ
FRERHEBHIER

BT 5t b B ORISR B 5 FE EIE()E
MR~ PR TR B U B AR
£ EWRERENES B RRE R
B2 AT ROGE R EEZAE
B

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
FAREEE KR E IR IR

Impairment assessment of trade and account
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan and
interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables
FEUWERFR - EINRBEHENRIE - BRWERKRFE FE
WRERIEMZE  BORREMERRIEZRE
A

Refer to notes 20, 19, 22, 21 and 23 to the Our audit procedures in relation to the recoverability of

consolidated financial statements trade and account receivables, finance lease receivables,

B2RRE M REMNE20~ 19222 21%23 loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables included:
RMBEMERES ERRMERERE - BWEREF]
BB RERIENZS AR EME R IE R U
BN ESEFEE

TECTFFR

97



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

98

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

Key Audit Matter
FAREtEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B R E

As at 31 March 2022, the net carrying amounts of the
Group's trade and account receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables, factoring
receivables and deposits, prepayments and other
receivables were HK$288.8 million, HK$67.3 million,
HK$96.1 million, HK$51.5 million and HK$38.8 million
respectively, in which allowance for impairment losses
of HK$61.9 million, HK$10.1 million, HK$29.4 million,
HK$1.6 million and HK$3.5 million were recorded.

RZEZZF=B=+—H> EB&£EBENENKKE
T EWRERERE - BRERKEFE  EBRF
EBREANZE ENRREMEKRRIEZED
#3288,800,0007 7t ~ 67,300,000 7T ~ 96,100,000
76~ 51,500,0007% 7T % 38,800,000/ 75 © R 5t B E %
H %89 5 $%£1561,900,0007 7T ~ 10,100,000 7T
29,400,0007 7t ~ 1,600,0007% 7T 523,500,00078 7t ©

Management assessed the impairment loss on trade
and account receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables based
on assumptions about expected credit loss rates. The
Group used judgments in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment loss
calculation, taking into account cash collection history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates.

BEEENEREEBRAZENBIRERIERER
R B ERIE - R E R T B FEUURIZERRIBA
e AN REMEVRIEN R EETTG &
EEAMEBRIMNEZERESBENGAEBR  T/E
TIBFERRIER  RENT IS E R RISt o
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Understood key controls in relation to expected
credit loss (“ECL") impairment assessment.

B TEHE EE A =AM ET HEREN R EL
el o

Understood the ECL model used by the Group.
R ER Y EREEEATERIINER -

Discussed with management to understand and
evaluate the basis and reasonableness of the
rationale for expected credit loss rate of different
aging and types of debtors.
RMEBIEE T LUIRR KT ETERE RER
ANFEREEBERAENEERGIE -

Examined the ageing profile of the debtors
and checked the accuracy of the calculation of
impairment loss allowance.

BEEHBANRE S BN ERETERERMY

Obtained and understood from management of
established policies and procedures on credit risk
approval, monitoring and debts recovery process.
MEREENIKREDEREZEERMAEKEE
RHRNRIBOIAZF ©

Evaluated management’s assessment of the
recoverability of those individual debtors with little
or no settlement subsequent to the end of the
reporting period.
EEEEHRSHAERBRALVENLAERN
& )& 75 A\ B BT YR B4 15 H R 5T A ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

Key Audit Matter
RAREtEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB E st AR

We focused on this area as the balances of trade and
account receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables were
material to the consolidated financial statements
and the assessment on the impairment loss on
these receivables involved significant judgments and
estimates by management.

HBMELERZEE JhHRERERS  BWRERS
FIB~FEREREF B BUIRIERIBEMZ & 8
AEREMERRSEHEREMBREEADAHZE
FEWGRIE B EN T Y R EEENE A KT GE

- Evaluated the disclosures regarding the impairment

assessment of trade and account receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, factoring receivables and deposits,
prepayments and other receivables in accordance
with the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards in notes 20, 19, 22, 21 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

— RERTYFEREHEGRR BRRERS
MEFERERKRAE S EBWRFRERENZE T8
TR EMEWRIEE &7 & B IRRM 552019~
22~ 21 K2318 2 W B E LT E -

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

BERENEEZRETS

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements
BRRE ST BIRERNE7

The carrying values of the Group’s goodwill and
intangible assets as at 31 March 2022 were amounted
to HK$5.0 million and HK$21.5 million respectively and
were contained in two cash-generating units (“CGUs")
identified by management, the Comercializadora
Ven 2010 CGU and the ChaoShang Financial CGU
respectively. Allowance for impairment loss on
goodwill of HK$71.7 million was recorded for the year.
RIBEZZHF=A=+—H> BEEBELELE
ENEREE 7 545,000,000 7T 5221,500,0007% 7t
TEERMESEEANNRSEL SN (ReE
A EBML) B AComercializadora Ven 20108935 & &
FEARHEEMNREEFEMNN BENERS
BEFFANER1E71,700,00078 7T ©

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets included:
KMEMEmERRLEERET NS EFEE

- Evaluated the Group's identification of CGUs and

the value of goodwill and intangible assets allocated
to the CGUs and assessed the methodology
applied by management in the preparation of the
discounted cashflow forecast with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.

— HE BEREREELSBUNHIERSEERE
EFEMNEERETLEENEEKTLEERRE
K2ERTEAENRENGRMBRERER
RIRSFTE AR 7% o
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Key Audit Matter
FAREtEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B R E

Management performed an annual impairment
assessment of its goodwill and the associated
intangible assets. Management compared the
carrying values of the CGUs to which the goodwill
and intangible assets have been allocated against
a discounted cashflow forecast to determine
the amount of impairment loss which should be
recognised, if any.
EEEHEEREENELEEETFEERME
B BEERREEELABUNBEREFLEENIR
EESEMBRERERAETIEE UETE TR
RBVRERETRE (A) o

The preparation of a discounted cashflow forecast
involves the exercise of significant management
judgement, particularly in estimating the long term
revenue growth rate and the discount rate applied.
FHAERBSREEAP RELERNEIREFIE
TEHERESHRIAWGAEEXRBERANMEERER
ELHERHIER -

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill and intangible assets as a key audit matter
because the impairment assessments prepared
by management were complex and contained
judgemental assumptions, particularly the long term
revenue growth rate and discount rate applied,
which could be subject to management bias in their
selection.
HM# T EHERBLEENRETGRE 2R
B EE DHNREEERENBETHEERE
%%%Hﬁ%)ﬁﬁ BRI Rl @I REKE
RREEMNER RN EEEFLEERTHRR
Ffr PR o
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Evaluated the discounted cashflow forecast
prepared by management by comparing specific
data and significant assumptions in the preparation
of discounted cashflow forecast. Our evaluation has
taken into account our understanding of the Group's
future business plans.
FERRNIRBESRERAEHNAREESA
BARBHRETLER TEEEREERENIIRITER
SRR TETEE BRMETREE BSEERRKE
#etd o

Compared the discount rate adopted in the
discounted cashflow forecast with that of
comparable companies and external market data.

R EIRIB S M ETE R P IRA VA IREE AT LR A
SIBIAE R LE SR A S EE T 35 B E 1T LR 8k o

Obtained from management the sensitivity analysis
of long term revenue growth rate and the discount
rate adopted in the discounted cashflow forecast
and assessed the impact of changes in these key
assumptions to the conclusions reached in the
impairment assessment and whether there were
any indicators of management bias.
RGRBEERERANAXANERRSEIEE
ERMEBENEEEHREDMRTHZEEKX
{EXDyﬁiﬁg@ﬁ;j%ﬂ/m{éﬂ${$nﬂDFH EIJEZ%EEZ%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee of the Group assists the Directors in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WA B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors” use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or related safeguards.
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WA B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Tsang Cheuk Bun

Practising Certificate number: P07122
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Sy TH A e FLA 2 i i A 2

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE - E - TFE= = —HIFFE

2022 2021
== T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FET FHET
Revenue W 5 169,386 337,853
Cost of sales 5 & A A (126,260) (246,426)
Gross profit EAH 43,126 91,427
Other income HhA 7 17,466 6,688
Impairment loss on finance lease FEW R SR ERIERERE
receivables 19 (2,765) (5,870)
Impairment loss on trade receivables  FEWERE ZUBE K518 20 (5,700) (8,157)
Impairment loss on account REBEE P EWERTURIE
receivables from margin clients 518 20 (5,575) (15,348)
Impairment loss on factoring RN RIERIB R ERE
receivables 21 (993) (234)
Impairment loss on loan and interest  FEWE R A BRI{EEE
receivables 22 (16,403) (13,174)
Impairment loss on deposits and other &% K E hFEUL
receivables FIBERERE 23 (1,152) (442)
Loss on changes in fair value of KREMEANEEEEIE
investment property 15 (2,904) (115)
Impairment loss on goodwill EmERERE 17 (71,700) -
Gain on changes in fair value of HthsMBEEQANEEE
other financial assets Wz 18 74,089 4,365
(Loss)/Gain on changes in fair value of FHEE SR E QA EESH
held-for-trading investments (§538) Wz (1,241) 279
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of held-for- HERFIEFEERE
trading investments Wz, (§518) 5,662 (5,764)
Gains on bargain purchase of interest R URBEHH & A SR 2
in an associate Gl 16 12,636 -
Administrative expenses THEHR (63,266) (74,822)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Sy TH A he HLA 2 i i e 2%

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE - E - TFE= = —HIFFE

2022 2021
—g-C B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHET TFAET
Operating loss EEEE (18,720) (21,167)
Finance costs E=yn:N 9 (2,020) (3,242)
Share of results of an associate YN AN 16 (5,647) -
Loss before taxation PRI AIES1E 8 (26,387) (24,409)
Taxation RIE 10 (768) 960
Loss for the year KEEEIE (27,155) (23,449)
Other comprehensive income: Hitte2mEmWa -
Items that may be reclassified BE1E AT GEERT T HEE
subsequently to profit or l0ss: EampyES
— Exchange differences arising on — MBI EBEEN
translation of foreign operations PERERR 27,516 52,199
Total comprehensive income REEFERERE
for the year 361 28,750
Loss for the year attributable to: MTFALEGAREEERE !
Owners of the Company KANBFEA (26,842) (23,168)
Non-controlling interests JEEER S (313) (281)
Loss for the year KEEEIE (27,155) (23,449)
Total comprehensive income/(10ss) MTFALTEGEAFERE2EA
for the year attributable to: W, (B518) -
Owners of the Company KRBFBA 1,227 30,002
Non-controlling interests JEIERR R (866) (1,252)
Total comprehensive income AEER2ER =
for the year 361 28,750
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE QB Z@ERAEIZFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS  FE{L S ARESIE
OF THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted BEARKiE#E 12 (0.65) cents #&fll  (0.56) cents Al

The notes on pages 112 to 250 form an integral part of these L& ix&

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SR M EIR LR

Asat31March2022 R -ZE_—F=H=+—H

2022 2021
= =BT —4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- RE KM 14 44,810 48,280
Investment property KEY= 15 45,387 46,374
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 8,100 10,737
Net investment in sublease DIAKEFER 14 3,717 -
Interest in an associate BE N BER 16 19,964 -
Intangible assets mLEE 17 21,500 21,500
Goodwill mE 17 4,995 76,695
Other non-current assets HtIERSHEE 230 230
Other financial assets HithErEE 18 43,250 8,168
Finance lease receivables FEWN R E R ERIE 19 7,827 29,901
Loan and interest receivables EWRER T B 22 18,450 -
Deferred tax assets IR TH S EE 30 14,203 9,009
232,433 250,894
Current assets BB E
Amount due from an associate FEW = A R R IE 16 175 -
Trade and account receivables FE UK BR X 20 288,791 284,818
Factoring receivables FEWRIERRIE 21 51,483 52,580
Finance lease receivables FEWN R E R E RIS 19 59,518 83,401
Loan and interest receivables ERER T B 22 77,678 70,670
Deposits, prepayments and e FENTRIER
other receivables HnpE U =Ia 23 38,798 20,231
Tax recoverable FEURAR R 7,476 -
Held-for-trading investments FIEEERE 24 7,987 16,843
Net investment in sublease DK E PR 14 2,214 -
Cash held on behalf of clients BEREFSER 25 35,081 41,521
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHET 26 217,023 246,791
786,224 816,855
Total assets BEMEE 1,018,657 1,067,749
EQUITY W
Capital and reserves BARRKHE
Share capital [N 27 82,412 82,412
Reserves EX] 855,719 854,492
Total equity attributable to /NS YN
owners of the Company 938,131 936,904
Non-controlling interests IR R (13,795) (12,929)
Total equity e 924,336 923,975
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SR MEHIA DL

Asat31March2022 R -ZE_—F=H=+—H

2022 2021
=== =T —4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHET FET
LIABILITIES afd
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Retained consideration payables FERERE 29 14,211 26,593
Lease liabilities HEas 14 8,901 -
Deferred tax liabilities IR IBEE 30 4,748 5,405
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 27,860 31998
Current liabilities Bt =Nl
Account payables FE (T BR R 31 34,915 44,994
Bond and interest payable FE(T B R A S 28 = 7,877
Retained consideration payables FETRERE 29 - 8,557
Contract liabilities aHNaE - 40
Lease liabilities HEaR 14 4,308 11,058
Accruals, other payables and FEET &R EtE R IE A
deposit received Bi%E 18,217 28,622
Amount due to a Director B —EENIE 32 1,214 764
Amount due to non-controlling FES IR T IE
interests 33 263 252
Tax payables FE{TIRIE 7,544 9,612
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 66461 11776
Total liabilites ~ ®&&% 94321 143,774
Total equity and liabilities EankaBEEzE 1,018,657 1,067,749
Net current assets REEEFE 719,763 705,079
Total assets less current liabilities & EEER REIAE 952,196 955,973

The notes on pages 112 to 250 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 250 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022 and were
signed on its behalf.

Zheng Juhua
BRHIE
Director

EE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZ_—F - _—F=F=+—HILFE

EBHEERFRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests
FATHEAE E[2203 47
Property Share of net
Share Share  Contributed  Exchange Surplus  revaluation Accumulated assets of
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total subsidiaries Total
NEERE EEHEAR
kA ROEE  BABRKE  EREE  BROR e RHER it BEE Eb
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn Fin T T T T T T FEn TEn
At1 April 2020 RIRZZERF—H 82412 1,000,745 34178 (68,420) 6,362 7245 (155,620) 906,902 (11,677) 895,225
Comprehensive loss REHH
Loss for the year rEEGR - - - - - - (23,168) (23,168) (281) (23.449)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Eft1 2K/ (518
Bxchange differences on tranlation of BERNERHBRRZ
financial statements of ERER
foreign operations - - - 53,170 - - - 53170 ©071) 52,199
Transactions with owners BEAZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve BNEERE - - - - 1,09 - (1,095) - - -
At 31 March 2021 RIRZ-£=F=+-H 82412 1,000,745 34178 (15,250) 7457 7245 (179,883) 936,904 (12.929) 923975
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_-ENA—R 82412 1,000,745 34178 (15,250) 1451 7245 (179,883) 936,904 (12,929 923975
Comprehensive loss 2EHE
Loss for the year rEERE - - - - - - (26,842) (26,342) (313 (27,155)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Eft2ENE/ (5#8)
Bxchange differences on translation of BERNERHBRRZ
financial statements of ERER
foreign operations - - - 28,069 - - - 28,069 (653) 27,51
Transactions with owners BFBEAZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve BNETERE - - - - 1715 - (1,719) - - -
At 31 March 2022 RIRZZE=F=+-H 82412 1,000,745 34178 12819 9172 7.5 (208,440) 938,131 (13,795) 924,336

The notes on pages 112 to 250 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A BlERRR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZ_—F - _—F=F=+—HILFE

2022 2021
g BT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FHET FET
Cash flows from REFHRETE
operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated ISR FRA)
from operations FrigiRE 35(a) (21,574) 45,040
Profits tax paid, net BX SR F5E (16,174) (11,583)
Net cash (used in)/generated iEE (FrA)
from operating activities FRiGIRE 3 (37,748) ¢ 33,457
Cash flows from investing RETEIRERE
activities
Purchase of held-for-trading EEREFEERE
investments (27,503) (16,732)
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE RERSEY
equipment 14(a) (944) (3,096)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - REREM
plant and equipment FriSFRIA = 85
Proceeds from disposal of held-for- HEREEERE
trading investments FriSRIE 30,804 11,504
Acquisition of additional interest in BABE A ABEIMER
an associate 16 (2,999) -
Receipt from net investment in WER DRI E P REFRSRUE
sublease 163 -
Bank interest received BUERTTH] B 2,605 1,210
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEFHFRAE, (FRA)
investing activities REFE 2,126 (7,029)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Bl Ei R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZ_—F - _—F=F=+—HILFE

2022 2021
- BT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b= FHET FRT
cash flows from MEEBRERE
financing activities
Increase/(Decrease) in amount due FEN—%EERIE
to a Director gm, Gazl) 450 (1,522)
Repayment of principal portion of BEREEEY
lease liabilities REED 14(b) (12,443) (12,407)
Repayment of interest portion of Byt == pd
lease liabilities MEED 14(b) (524) (975)
Repayment of bonds BEES (7,800) -
Other interest paid B EMAE (130) (419)
Net cash used in financing A EEN AR AR IR 4E
activities (20,447)  (15323)
Net (decrease)/increase in RERREEHEEE
cash and cash equivalents GrEb) /8 hni3%8 (56,069) 11,105
Cash and cash equivalents at FYzRERIRE
beginning of the year %FIEE 246,791 183,430
Effect of foreign exchange EXEE 2 P
rate changes, net 26,301 52,256
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZRERRE
end of the year %MEIEE 26 217,023 246,791

The notes on pages 112 to 250 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

112

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s
registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton Il, Bermuda. The principal place of business
in Hong Kong is situated at Suite 2202, 22nd Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in trading, money lending, factoring,
finance leasing and financial services businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment property, held-for-trading investments
and other financial assets that have been measured
at fair value.

Annual Report 2022
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEFHHBEHSE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RENEE B

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group:

RENGEBMBREENZ
M ERREEERS ?%ﬁ@
HMEE TEREEENERANE
B2 @5t BURBRZ R ITEELIE -
WhEEHES R B 5
FREGEEVERRBEABR
&ﬁ%zﬁhmﬁé%%ﬁﬁw
SFA 2

(@) HEEERMHZIETREE
SJZERN :

The following amendments to standards are MTEAMZEETRDR S
mandatory for the Group and have been ——FA—HBHERZHE
adopted by the Group for the financial year T E5R bl BN

beginning on 1 April 2021:

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, Interest Rate Benchmark EHEEHEN FXREE
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, Reform - Phase 2 ER A HE—
and HKFRS 16 MBREEN  FIRE
(Amendments) FAFBB

IR S 2|
FIF BB

B H Rk 2R
FRREB
MR & 2EH|
1637 (1BFT)

HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent ERPHRE  209TERES
(Amendments) concessions AR E165% mAREE

(1BETA) B

HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent EEMBRE  R2021F

(Amendments) Concessions beyond #ERIE 1698 6B308%
30 June 2021 (CEEN) (920197 ik
A mEE

HeEe

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has no material impact

rFEERBHEBMBRS
FRRM ZESTHAERR

on the Group's financial performance and NEERBEFEEZRER
positions for the current or prior years and/or MBI K/ SHE I AR
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated BUBFRRZEETIERE KR
financial statements. &
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continuea)

(a)
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New and amended standards adopted by
the Group: (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR.
The Phase 2 amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate
to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount when accounting for changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis
for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous
basis immediately preceding the change. In
addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform
to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that
could arise on transition are dealt with through
the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The
amendments also provide a temporary relief
to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge,
to assume that the separately identifiable
requirement is met, provided the entity
reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the
next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments
require an entity to disclose additional
information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest
rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy.
The Group has adopted the amendments on 1
April 2021 and applied retrospectively, but is not
required to restate the comparative information.
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2 FEES
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BREERFTR EBYH
BEERNEIRREBME
HREERB169E 2 EFT AR
RANKRBEERAIEAER
% M R B R AT B ST
PAREEEFEYHFREZ
BB e 36 — MR Z BT iR i
—HBRAITRERE
HHETERMEERERZ
BNREREEAEEHE
TERERBERERX
MERAEREDE AIRRE
EREHANREENEY
ERBREBEESNREERN
BRMEEREE LFRR
SREFAHAREE I
O B FAEFT A S FF R E
EETE B kB SAEHF]
REENEFMERNES
MmA G & L HRRE - B
HARS AJ BE EE £ BT U a3
BROBBEBMBRSE
AISE9OMER R EETR
B DB REBEMEN
MeZFEITAHEREHR
BRRE RNERRA R
8 E 75 B R Bl 17 B 88 2R
AEBHAZHEE - ZRR
AFFERNIEEHPREBE
EimEr BEHEZRE
EERAGEERER R
KRERE A I RHR24E A A
e R] BIEA o IhSh > SR HE
SIRBRERARERINE
B LI B RERNERE
BES T A REENEHE
RHNERIAREREER
BT E - RFEITANR T
T —FNA—ARETEE
i WIEE MR > BHB A
B LERER



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group: (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions” issued in May 2020 provide
a practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent
concessions arising as a direct consequence of
the Covid-19 pandemic. The practical expedient
applies only to rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the pandemic
and only if () the change in lease payments
results in revised consideration for the lease
that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (i) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there
is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

2

FETHBENE @
2.1 REIEE 3

(@

TEECHRMZ T RZE
TR : (B)

BB BEREELF165% (&
572K)

RN _TFERABEMGZE
BT E ERH165% (1B5]
) B ERREREEEE
BEIAEBEAREITITE
B EBEEZER A SR B
ERBEzEBRBRREEL A
S EERAHAEBTI TR
Bo-ATHEERZEEAR
BEzEEBBRELE ZHEE
BE BEMEOVEENRZE
HERKETHEREHLER
e 2 HEEARE
B ERBRARE (DVEE
TR E R D ERERE
BHRA_E _—S,BA=+
Bz Rz ; KkiihEE
ZHMBER R GG RES
Eﬁ@jo
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

116

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@

Annual Report 2022

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group: (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 issued
in April 2021 extend the availability of the
practical expedient for lessees to elect not to
apply lease modification accounting for rent
concessions arising as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic by 12 months.
Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met. The amendment is effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2021 with any cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendment recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the
current accounting period. Earlier application is
permitted. The Group adopted the amendments
on 1 April 2021.

The Group has not received any Covid-19-
related rent concessions during the year and
plans to apply the practical expedient when it
becomes applicable within the allowed period
of application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Accounting policy newly applied by the
Group

In addition, the Group has applied the following
accounting policy which became relevant to the
Group in the current year.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the
associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

2
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a
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Annual Report 2022

Accounting policy newly applied by the
Group (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Accounting policy newly applied by the
Group (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or 10ss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture. There is
no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)
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Accounting policy newly applied by the
Group (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()

New and amended standards not yet
adopted

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning 1 April
2021 and have not been early adopted.
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HKAS 1 (Amendments)
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

Revised Accounting
Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for
Common Control
Combinations'

Classification of
Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and
related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use!

Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract’

Reference to the
Conceptual
Framework’
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()

Annual Report 2022

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28 (Amendments)

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture®

Insurance Contracts
and the related
Amendments?

HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020"

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

Certain new accounting standards,
amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 March 2022 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group.

Those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are described below,
but are not expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as current
or non-current. The amendments specify that
if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a
liability is subject to the entity complying with
specified conditions, the entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liability at the end of
the reporting period if it complies with those
conditions at that date. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of
a liability. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Staterment 2

HKAS 1.69(d) was amended such that if an
entity does not have “the right at the end of
the reporting period to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period” then it must be classified
as current. Therefore, as amended, a liability
is required to be classified as a non-current
liability as long as an entity has the right to
defer its settlement for at least twelve months,
regardless of the entity’s intention.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHBEHE &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RENEE B
(c) New and amended standards not yet (c) RMABIFRET RASIEETE
adopted (Continued) Bl (&)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()
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New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8

The changes to HKAS 8 focus entirely on
accounting estimates and clarify the following:

- The definition of a change in accounting
estimates is replaced with a definition
of accounting estimates. Under the
new definition, accounting estimates
are “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.

- Entities develop accounting estimates
if accounting policies require items in
financial statements to be measured
in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty.

- It clarifies that a change in accounting
estimate that results from new
information or new developments is not
the correction of an error. In addition,
the effects of a change in an input or a
measurement technique used to develop
an accounting estimate are changes in
accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors.

A change in an accounting estimate may affect
only the current period’s profit or loss, or the
profit or loss of both the current period and
future periods. The effect of the change relating
to the current period is recognised as income or
expense in the current period. The effect, if any,
on future periods is recognised as income or
expense in those future periods.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHBEHE &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RENEE B
(c) New and amended standards not yet (c) RMABIFRET RASIEETE
adopted (Continueq) Al (#&)
Amendments to HKAS 12 EEEFTERF 1298 (1557
)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope
of the recognition exemption in paragraphs
15 and 24 of HKAS 12 (recognition exemption)
so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
The amendments are effective for annual
report periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023, with early application permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity
from deducting from the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that
asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit or
loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
and shall be applied retrospectively only to
items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of
the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Report 2022

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the
purpose of assessing whether a contract is
onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the
contract comprises the costs that relate directly
to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g. an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly
to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which
an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to
replace a reference to the previous Framework
for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued
in June 2018 without significantly changing
its requirements. The amendments also add
to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(FRIC)-
Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather
than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)- Int 21 respectively instead
of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at
the acquisition date. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2022. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()

Annual Report 2022

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA in
January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of
a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHBEHE &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RNEE B
(c) New and amended standards not yet () MRFMBIFTREIETE

adopted (Continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2018-2020

Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2018-2020
sets out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that
are expected to be applicable to the Group are
as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. clarifies
the fees that an entity includes when
assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged
on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first
applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment
is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration
of payments from the lessor relating to
leasehold improvements in lllustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding
the treatment of lease incentives when
applying HKFRS 16.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.2 Subsidiaries

(@
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Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continueq)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@

U

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity's
net assets in the event of liquidation
are measured at either fair value
or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their
acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@
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U

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date,
any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continueq)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@

(@

(iff)

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded
in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or l0ss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Costs include direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner

consi

stent with the internal reporting provided

to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive Directors of the Company that makes
strategic decisions.

2.4 Fore

(@
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ign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK dollars
("HK$") which is the Company’s functional
and the Group’s presentation currency. Other
functional currencies are Renminbi (‘/RMB") and
US dollar ("US$").

The Directors consider that presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in HK$ will
facilitate analysis on financial information of the
Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income within “finance cost”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Fore
(c)

Annual Report 2022

ign currency translation (Continuea)
Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing exchange rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

- all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in the
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposal (that
is, reductions in the Group's ownership interest
in associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the group losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEFHHBEHSE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.4 SMEBRE @
(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial (d) HEBNEBRIOERD
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the item’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over the estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Property over the unexpired

period of the lease
Furniture and fixtures 3-5years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Leasehold improvement 3-5years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amounts if
the carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed
as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of that item (including the relevant prepaid
lease payments) at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated
profits.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property
is measured at its fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
is included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposals.
Any gains or losses arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which the item is derecognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGSHHEHME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.7 Goodwill 2.7 BHE

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUS, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group of CGUS to
which goodwill has been allocated is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.8

29

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition and recognised
separately from goodwill. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible assets may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each reporting period end.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Other assets subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 10ss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.10 Financial assets

(@

(b)
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Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (OCI) or through
profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held-for-trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

()
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses)
in the period in which it arises.

FESHBRBE &
210 EFEE #®
(C) D+E( )
EETA ()

e ¥RaBE=EAHEEZ

M AEMEEE -
MEFFREEHNRE
MEREEEMEE
NEEMS  HEME
ENRERSBAEAE

TN EERAE Al
NABESEEHEH
SFAHM 2@ EE

S oREBEEHMTAH
emu s ERER

T 20 B9 R (B N 3 3 S

18~ F B WA K S EE U
KBS 1B PR SN o 4% IE TR
REmMEER AN

H fih 2w U &= SR Y

R BEREZEM
DEEBmIREM

Wi, (B518) FESR o 2k
BHZSETHEENF
BEWAZERF XX

AR WA o SMEE UK
B ER EtlE

(F518) 2% mRE
HZAIRGE2ZEI
mERUBIIIBEES] -

s BRAREBESEBRHE
st ABm - RERE
HA AR A R EE
EEHEH AHLM
EEB @S ERERN
BEEDBRANEFE
BEHZ#Ht ABmE
B BRBRANEFE

BHEEHFAEB=
BEHRKREMELEN D
) 3 &S 18 Y A R
REME, (B518) i

.
5o



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

oy B R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group's right to receive payments is

established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair

value.

(d) Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Annual Report 2022

Impairment (Continuead)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment (Continued)
General approach (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade
and account receivables and finance lease
receivables which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below:

(d)

Stage1 -

Stage2 -

Stage3 -

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial
recognition and for which the
loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for
which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial
recognition (but that are
not credit-impaired financial
assets) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Annual Report 2022

Impairment (Continuead)

Simplified approach

For trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery includes generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was identified on
the cash and cash equivalents.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.11 Financial liabilities 21N EREE

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include account
payables, contract liabilities, accruals, other payables
and deposits received, bond and interest payable,
retained consideration payables, amount due to a
Director and amount due to non-controlling interests.
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value,
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at
FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised to the profit or loss over the life of
the financial liabilities, except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are
carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or 10ss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes
in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit
or loss are included within finance costs.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTHHEHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments 212KHEMT A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.13 Trade, account and other receivables

Trade and account receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade, account and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Margin financing service refers to the lending of funds
by the Group to customers for purchase of securities
for which the customers provide the Group with
collateral.

The Group recognises margin financing services
to customers as margin accounts trade receivable,
and recognises the commission as interest income
accordingly.

Trade, account and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair values and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.14 Ccash and cash equivalents 214 RERFAEEEEE

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and at financial
institution.

Bank deposits which are restricted to use are
classified as “restricted bank deposits”. Restricted
bank deposits are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Trade, account and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers.

Account payable to brokerage customers are all
deposited in the bank accounts designated by the
Group. The Group recognises the funds as liabilities
for settlement to the customers. The Group executes
trade orders through stock exchanges on behalf
of the customers. If the total amount of purchased
securities exceeds that of sold securities, accounts
payable to brokerage customers decrease by the
difference in addition to the withholding stamp duty
and commission. If the total amount of sold securities
exceeds that of purchased securities, accounts
payable to brokerage customers increase by the
difference after deducting the withholding stamp duty
and commission. Trade, account and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade, account and other payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.17 Borrowings

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that part or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

2.18 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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SR e A AR B

FETHBEREHME &
219 #84E @)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.19 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and consider whether it is
probable that a taxation authority with accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTHHEHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.20 BENER B SEFREIR (12)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
Statements.

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group
is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the Group the ability
to control the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.20 ENER B iR SEFR1STR (12)

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment property that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
property are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.21 W HERR ()

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods are recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the buyer, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the buyer’'s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the buyer, and either
the buyer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the goods are delivered to the customers as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Rendering of services

Revenue from money lending, factoring and finance
leasing consultancy fee and handling fee are
recognised at a point of time when the services are
rendered.

Revenue from the securities brokerage services is
recognised at a point of time when the customer has
obtained control of the service, generally when the
trades are executed.

Revenue from placing and underwriting services
is recognised at a point of time when the relevant
placing and underwriting are completed.

Revenue from asset management services is
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over
time.

Revenue from other sources

Finance lease, factoring and loan interest income is
recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEHHBRBE &=
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.22 Employee benefits 2.22 EE®/H
(@) Employee leave entitlements (@) 1EEAFRIEF]

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Retirement scheme obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans organised by the
relevant municipal and provincial governments
in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC
based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated at a
percentage of the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments
undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the
plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and
other post retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the PRC
government.
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.22 Emp
(b)

()
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loyee benefits (Continued)

Retirement scheme obligations (Continuea)
The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme
are based on minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined
contribution retirement scheme are expensed
as incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the relevant Group entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundantly the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-
based compensation plan, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options)
of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options
granted. In determining the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance
conditions are taken into considerations
(for example, an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.22 Emp
(d)

Annual Report 2022

loyee benefits (Continuead)

Share-based payments (Continuea)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period,
the Company revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and
services conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares and the proceeds received
net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The options granted by the Company over
its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
are treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity account.

A cancellation during the vesting period (other
than a grant cancelled by forfeiture when
the vesting conditions are not satisfied) is
accounted for as an acceleration of vesting, and
therefore recognise immediately the amount
that otherwise would have been recognised
for services received over the remainder of the
vesting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.23 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Over the lease terms
3years

Leased properties
Motor vehicle
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.23 Leas

es (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(o)
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Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including insubstance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.23 Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office properties (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment that are considered
to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases and sub-leases in which the Group does
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases and sub-leases that transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grants will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants related to assets refer to
government grants which are obtained by the
Group for the purposes of purchase, construction
or acquisition of the long-term assets. Government
grants related to income refer to the government
grants other than those related to assets.

Government grants related to assets are recorded as
deferred income and recognised in profit and loss of
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a systemic basis over the useful lives of the assets.
Government grants to compensate the future costs,
expenses or losses are recorded as deferred income
and recognised in profit or loss when related costs
incurred. Government grants related to income that
compensate the incurred costs, expenses or losses
are recognised in profit or loss directly in current
period.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or Directors, where appropriate.

2.26 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial instruments include
other non-current assets, other financial assets, net
investment in sublease, held-for-trading investments,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, trade and account receivables, other
receivables, factoring receivables, trade deposits
paid, amount due from an associate, cash held on
behalf of clients, cash and cash equivalents, account
payables, contract liabilities, bond and interest
payable, retained consideration payables, accruals,
other payables, deposit received, lease liabilities,
amount due to the non-controlling interests and
amount due to a Director. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes to
the consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments, include
liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and price risk, and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group
has adopted the risk management policies and
guidelines. The board of Directors meets periodically
to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group's exposure to different risks arising from the
use of financial instruments. Generally, the Group
employs conservative strategies regarding its risk
management. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(a) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed for
each operating entity of the Group and are
aggregated by the Group finance department.
The Group finance department monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements
to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet
operational needs while maintaining sufficient
headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing
facilities at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.
Such forecasting takes into consideration
the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal balance
sheet ratio targets and, if applicable external
regulatory or legal requirements.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end of
the reporting period to the contractual maturity

MHERREEERRER @

3.1 BHRABRER @

@

mEEERE (&)

TERBEHESHRESHD
B ZRGRAEREAER
ZzEMERE D AR
MRl RNFFIRESEAS

date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the ARAGIFIVERE
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Between Total
Less than 1and Over undiscounted Carrying
1year 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
KRR
biE 1255 SELE mERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
At 31 March 2022 S
=ZA=+-H
Account payables FEfTERTT 34915 - - 34915 34915
Retained consideration payables I REAE - 15,000 - 15,000 14,211
Lease liabilities HERE 4875 9,344 - 14,219 13,209
Accruals, other payables fEs &R HthER
and deposit received TEREWERE 18,217 - - 18,217 18,217
Amount due to a Director EN—2EENE 1214 - - 1214 1214
Amount due to IR ERTE
non-controlling interests 263 - - 263 263
59,484 24,344 - 83,828 82,029
At 31 March 2021 RIE_-%&
ZB=1+-H
Account payables EfIERR 44,994 - - 44,994 44,994
Bond and interest payable ERESRHE 7877 - - 7877 7877
Retained consideration payables  FEfTREAE 10,000 27,500 - 37,500 35,150
Contract liabilities afaE 1) - - 10 0
Lease liabilities HEEE 11,341 - - 11,341 11,058
Accruals, other payables et &R HHER
and deposit received HEREWRE 28,622 - - 28,622 28,622
Amount due to a Director E—RESHE 764 - - 764 764
Amount due to ERFEREGTE
non-controlling interests 252 - - 252 252
103,890 27,500 - 131,390 128,757
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its net investment in sublease, amount due from
an associate, trade and account receivables,
factoring receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables, cash held on behalf of clients,
cash and bank balances which represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sale of goods and provision of services are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and appropriate financial strength. It also
has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly
the recoverable amount of each individual
net investment in sublease, amount due from
an associate, trade and account receivables,
factoring receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. To manage credit risk, cash deposits
are mainly placed with reputable banks which
are high-credit-quality financial institutions.
The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)
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Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of financial asset and
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

o internal credit rating;
o external credit rating;

o actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

o actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results and finance position
of the borrower; and

o significant changes in the expected
performance, payment status and
behaviour of the borrower.

The net investment in sublease, amount
due from an associate, trade and account
receivables, factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash held on
behalf of clients, cash and bank balances are
subject to the ECL model.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

While cash held on behalf of clients and cash
and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment of HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was
identified.

Trade and account receivables and finance
lease recelvables

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECL which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
and account receivables and finance lease
receivables from initial recognition. To measure
the ECL, trade and account receivables and
finance lease receivables have been individually
assessed based on respective credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information
on factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

For trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in Notes 20 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)
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Credit risk (Continued)

Receivables which the simplified approach is
not applied

Impairment on factoring receivables, loan and
interest receivables, net investment in sublease,
amount due from an associate, deposits and
other receivables are measured as either
12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the asset as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition by considering
available, reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information.

Maximum exposure and staging classification
The table below shows the credit quality and
the maximum exposure to credit risk based
on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on the customers’ creditworthiness
information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and the staging
classification as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
and the exposure to credit risk for financial
assets.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WHMHERAKEEEEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MBRRAZR @
(b) credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMKE @)
Maximum exposure and staging classification = A B R i O % 18 £ 27 45
(Continued) (&)
31 March 2022
ZEZZE=R=+—-H
stage Ill
Stage | Stagell  (Lifetime
(12-month  (Lifetime ECL-  Simplified
ECL) ECL) impaired)  approach Total
PEE=
PEER— (B@
P& e — (B HEHR

(128  HEBR  BEHEEE
BHEE HEHRE k-
%) %) B  MsE EL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FTET FTERT FTERT THET TET
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
M) FEE () B

Net investment in sublease, NEKEFE

amount due from an associate  FEWEEE ATIZUE 6,106 - - - 6,106
Trade and account receivables  FELERR - - - 350,740 350,740
Factoring receivables FEWRERIE 53,047 - - - 53,047
Finance lease receivables R B ERIE = = = 77,450 77,450
Loan and interest receivables  FEIEZRF B

Note (iii) LE(D] 53,549 16,854 55,149 - 125,552
Deposits and other receivables & K EL A

Note (ii) ()] 27,597 - 6,807 - 34,404
Cash held on behalf of clients ~ BAEEER 35,081 - - - 35,081
Cash and bank balances BeRRTEE 217,023 - - - 217,023

392,403 16,854 61,956 428,190 899,403

Less: Allowances for B OREBERE
impairment losses (1,639) (354) (32,463) (72,054)  (106,510)
Net carrying amount FREFE 390,764 16,500 29,493 356,136 792,893
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHEANEEREREEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continue)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HBRAREZE @
credit risk (Continuea) (b)y EERK #@)
Maximum exposure and staging classification = A B B i O % 18 B 77 48
(Continued) (#&)
31 March 2021
—E_—F#=B=1+—H
Stage | Stage I Stage Il
(12-month (Lifetime  (Lifetime ECL Simplified
ECL) ECL) - impaired) approach Total
PEER=
BEER— (M8
P EE— (BE  FEHR
(2BAR  HE#HA  BEHEE
BHEE  BHEE Bk-
B B5) BRfE  BtAE &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TET TET TET TERT FTER
Note () Note (i) Note (i)
MIEE() HIEE() B ()
Trade and account receivables  FEUTERZT - - - 333,973 333,973
Factoring receivables FEWRIERIE 53,111 - - - 53,111
Finance lease receivables EWRERETE - - - 120,300 120,300
Loan and interest receivables  FEWEZRFIE
Note (iii) i 2 Gi) 11,321 23,930 50,179 - 85,430
Deposits and other receivables &% R HFEWEIE
Note (ii) LE() 14,575 - 6,767 - 21,342
Cashheld on behalf of clients ~ ZPR{EEER 41,521 - - - 41,521
Cash and bank balances ReRRTERE 246,791 - - - 246,791
367,319 23,930 56,946 454,273 902,468
Less: Allowances for B OREEERE
impairment losses (627) (571) (17,658) (56,153) (75,009)
Net carrying amount REZE 366,692 23,359 39,288 398,120 827,459
Notes: MIsE -
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Among which, the financial assets falling in stage |
are mainly credit rated as Pass, all of the financial
assets falling in stage Il and stage Ill are credit
rated as Special Mention and Non-performing,
respectively.

No deposits and other receivables has been
moved from stage | to stage Il or from stage Il to
stage Ill during the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$1,652,000 moved from stage Il to stage
I1l).
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and staging classification

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) Loan and interest receivables amounted to
approximately HK$5,694,000 (2021: HK$23,930,000
from stage | to Il and HK$50,179,000 from stage
I 'to Ill) has been moved from stage Il to stage
Il during the year ended 31 March 2022. The
respective allowance for impairment losses of
approximately HK$132,000 also moved from
stage Il to stage Il (2021: HK$134,000 from
stage | to Il and HK$1,118,000 from stage Il
to Ill), with an additional impairment loss of
approximately HK$2,863,000 (2021: HK$437,000
and HK$13,014,000 respectively) provided during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Interest rate risk

The Group's operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group was not exposed to
significant interest rate risk as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 as there was no variable interest
bearing assets or liabilities at the end of the
reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Directors are of the opinion that almost all
of the transactions of the Group and recognised
financial assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, Renminbi (“"RMB") and United States
dollar (“US$"). Given the HK$ is pegged to
the US$, the management does not expect
that there will be any significant currency
risk associated with such US$ denominated
balances and therefore no sensitivity analysis
is presented thereon. Otherwise, the Group
had no material exposure to currency risk as
majority of the Group’s asset were denominated
in its functional currency of either HK$ or
RMB. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management will monitor the foreign exchange
exposure should the need arises.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

HHEEREEBREREE @
3.1 MBRBREZR @

176

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (d) SMBEREE (&)
() Exposure to foreijgn exchange risk ) AZIMEE DRSS
The following table details the Group's TREINEAEEBMUER
net exposure at the end of the reporting FERZINEEB LU
period to currency risk arising from 57|\Z S BEZERE
recognised assets/(liabilities) denominated REE/ BB MEE
in a currency other than the functional B R 3RS R
currency of the entity to which they Z}_LBW%E °
related.
2022 2021
—_E-T =2 —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
RMB AR 31 29
uss$ ETT 3,680 (117)
EUR BroT (360) (377)
3,351 (465)
(i) Sensitivity analysis () BREZHT
The following table indicates the TRETAEBRE
approximate change in the Group loss AEBE PR SR
before taxation (and accumulated losses) STEKRERZIMNEE
in response to reasonably possible EEEAEEBME
changes in the foreign exchange rates to H 2 BRI A8 (73’25«%‘
which the Group has significant exposure FHE51R) BIAEH)
at the end of the reporting period.
2022 2021
—EgE-— B —F
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss before (decrease) loss before
in foreign taxation and in foreign  taxation and

Annual Report 2022

exchange accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

Ghis Her#Ra 4hitE HERIRAD

BEEEEM, . HERBE  EXENS  BERRE

(R BENEE (Rl) BENEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHAT FAT

RMB AR 10% (3) 10% ©)
(10%) 3 (10%) 3

EUR BrT 10% 36 10% 38
(10%) (36) (10%) (38)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(1) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change in
foreign exchange rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period, and that
all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. Results
of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the effects
on the Group loss/profit after tax measured
in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2021.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its held-for-trading investments in listed
equity securities. Decisions to buy or sell listed
equity securities are based on daily monitoring
of the performance of individual securities
compared to index of relevant stock markets
and other industry indicators.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the end of the reporting period. If
the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the
Group's pre-tax loss for the year ended 31
March 2022 would decrease/increase by
HK$799,000 (2021: pre-tax loss decrease/
increase by HK$1,684,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

3

R 75 L B

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

BEEEERBE @

3.1 BHRABER @

(d)

(e)

MR ()

) HEES (&
BRE 2T RE& I
KERNREARD
REFMATEEMA
BRE (CHEMF) R
RAEMERE -

PRt EiEEEREN
T-FEHSHLEH
BHIINEEXRSFIER]
FEEEFH 25T fhe £
KFTEM D &R
HAEBEUZES
KtEBZRNEBER
SER 2 BB
BRBREARBEITE
RMBERBT UHE
BleZNTB_T_—
FR—BEEET

B ERE
FEEZBEFEEERE
P MR AR S5 M EE 55
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BEBEEF,TE10% (ZF
T —F110%) B AREER
BE_Z-_H#=H=+—
BIEFEEMNBRRABERS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)
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Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 March
by level of the inputs to valuation technigue
used to measure fair value. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The Group uses independent valuers to perform
valuations of financial instruments which are
categorised into level 3. Valuation reports with
analysis of changes in fair value measurement
are prepared by the independent valuer at the
end of each reporting period, and are reviewed
and approved by the management of the Group.
Discussion of the valuation process and results
with the management of the Group is held
once a year to coincide with the end of each
reporting period.

3 HMBEREEERRER @

3.1 MBRAKREER @

(H 2nEfhs
TROMEAEBZ R AET
RzEMIAR=ZB=+—
HERUFEAREBZMGE
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B2 RE CREHR
B E—®-

s BE—BMEREZR
BN BEEFEEBEZ
BER2 AIREE
(BPfER) s (B
REER 28 (EZ
#R)

s EBERBRBIUIIFRKRIE
RERMBHEZS
B AFETBEEZ )
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the Group's assets
that are also measured at their fair values at 31

3 MBEKREEEEREEK @

3.1 HBRAKREZE @)
) 2‘anEfEstE
TREINR B _Fk_
E-—F=ZA=+—H877

March 2022 and 2021. NABEEZAEREE.
2022 2021
—E-C ET-F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total
-4 B =R Bt F—1 i E=H =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAT TAR TR TR TER TiEx TR
Investment property & E#1% - - 45,387 45,387 - - 46,374 46374
Other financial assets &R EE
-Profitguarantee  —EFI R - - 43,250 43,250 - - 8,168 8,168
Held-fortrading ~ $HEEEN
investments: RE&.
- Listed equity — ERA
securities Fiek 7,987 - - 7,987 16,843 - - 16,843
Total st 7,987 - 88,637 96,624 16,843 54,542 71,385

There were no transfers between any levels
during the year.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise equity securities
listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange classified as
held-for-trading investments.

The fair values of current financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate
to their carrying amount.

REFERN > ERZEILE
o

F—RAIBEHTA
REBTHEEENERM IR
BRARETDERREHRE
THREFSE - HARRE
ZRKRAIERIMBERZZ T
KiEm KL TTEERE
BIRBHEEKE BZF
BRERRERRERZAF
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BRIWAARGRE  NEREF
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BREAFTEAB-LLFTL
BIIAE R -FIAE
NIRBEREAFIFLE
RENE BB EHRA
T
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BRAREEE
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)
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Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined
by using valuation technigues. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

Save for Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements for disclosures of the investment
property, the valuation technigues and key
inputs used of other financial assets of level
3 fair value measurement at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

3 HBEREEERREE &

3.1 BHRABRER @

(f)

AREMEE @
F_RzEHIA

WIS ERET S E BRI TR
TANARERBMAEERM
BE - LEHERMEERN
BEESHNAIREMHEH
BoUrREREHERER
HENBE HAETAR
REFMBAEEZHESA
B A TREFTAS Z ke

=R HT A
i —EE U £ T B2 HAIE
ERuoBERmBHE 8%
TARFAHZ =R

PR G M BHRERWEISKRE
MEZIREIN RIREHR
HihEMEERE =BRLR
Bt PR G ERMT KRR
B2HWT

Significant
Other financial Valuation unobservable
assets technique inputs Rate
ERFAEHR
HithEmEE HEAZE 2 o
2022 2021
g - —F
Profit guarantee Monte Carlo simulation  Discount rate 9.41%-10.44% 4.66%-4.81%
AR ERERERZE ARIRE
Volatility 44.65% 53.69%
EiE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

The fair value measurement is descendingly
correlated to the discount rate used, i.e. an
increase in discounted rate used in isolation
would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement, and vice versa.

The fair value measurement is ascendingly
correlated to the volatility used, i.e. an increase
in volatility used in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement, and
vice versa.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the
impact of changes in discount rate and volatility
as the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The following table presents the changes in
level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 March
2022.

3

MHEREEEZERREER @

3.1 BHRABER @

f

ARME-E E
F=ZRzEHITA (B
NRESEEPIERNMIIR
KAIERRF BBEEMAE
ARNMRE EARER AR
BtE TR k2R

ANRESTEEPIERRIKE
BIEERF  BNEEM &R
BUK R LA RIS A R EE
E L7 RZINRe

MR AEE AR Z AEREE
FORIE SR B T EE
FILR B R BEERE Do

TRIFHE-Z - 4=
B=t—BLEEZE=M
THREZF-

Other
financial Investment
assets property
Hith
TREE BREYE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
At 1 April 2020 AZEZHMA—H 356 42,946
Fair values changes recognised in -~ FIBHREIMA A EE )
profit or loss 4,365 (115)
Currency translation difference ERRE - 3,543
Reclassified to other payable B AEMENR 3,447 -
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 BB -_—F=A=+—HkK
—E-_—FMA—H 8,168 46,374
Fair values changes recognised in -~ B FESRHIA A EEE)
profit or loss 74,089 (2,904)
Currency translation difference ERRAE - 1,917
Reclassified to other receivable BN EAEMEER (39,007) -
At 31 March 2022 RZTZZF=RA=+—H 43,250 45,387
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
and borrowings. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders or sell assets to
reduce debt. The Group monitors capital on the
basis of gearing ratio. The total debt to equity ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including bond
payable, lease liabilities and amount due to a Director)
less cash and bank balances. The total debt to equity
ratio at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

3 HMHBEEEEERREE ®

3.2

BEXRERER
FEBEEEAZBRERES
EREFBEEZRE KMmAK
LGP NEIEE

FEBZEARBECERERE
B-REFUABELRNE £ &
EREgREZNTRREZKREE
BRNHEEELRLERE K&
EUBEEXRERER - SE0EE
HEDLERNEREFPHEGEED
AE-aEFHEMURER (BEE
NES HEERREREN—RE
ERIR) RRERIRTEEFESE
RIBE__HFrRZE_—F=A8
=t+—HZEERBEHERLER
(I

2022 2021

—E-C B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Bond payable FETES - 7,800
Lease liabilities HEaE 13,209 11,058
Amount due to a Director R —REEHE 1,214 764
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRERIRITEE (217,023) (246,791)
Net cash &R EE (202,600) (227,169)
Total equity BT 924,336 923,975
Net debt to equity ratio BEPEAEREE N/A FiE R N/A 78 8
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Useful lives and impairment assessments

of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determine the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
and amortisation charges for property, plant and
equipment by reference to the estimated periods
that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets. Management
will revise the depreciation and amortisation charges
where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives and actual residual values
may differ from estimated residual values. Periodic
reviews could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation and
amortisation expense in the future periods.

The Group reviews tangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be
recovered. Assessing the impairment loss requires a
determination of fair value which is based on the best
estimates and information available.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

Useful lives of intangible assets
The intangible assets comprises of trading right and
licences.

Trading right is the right allows the Group to trade
securities in the Stock Exchanges.

Licences comprise the licences of Type 1, 2, 4 and
9 regulated activities licences under Securities and
Futures Ordinance.

The Group's trading rights and licences are classified
as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance
with HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. This conclusion
is supported by the fact that there were no specific
terms for the rights and the Directors of the Company
expected that the business underlying the rights can
be operated perpetually.

Under HKAS 38, the Group re-evaluates the useful
lives of the trading right and licences at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether events
and circumstances continue to support the view of
indefinite useful life for the assets. As at 31 March
2022 and 2021, the carrying amount of the trading
right and licences of the Group are approximately
HK$500,000 and HK$21,000,000 respectively.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(c)

Provision for impairment of financial
assets (trade and account receivables,
factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables,
net investment in sublease, amount due
from an associate, deposits and other
receivables)

The Group's management determines the provision
for impairment of the financial assets (including
trade and account receivables, factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, net investment in sublease, amount due
from an associate, deposits and other receivables)
based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected credit loss rates. The Group used judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
past collection history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of these financial assets and impairment
charge in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed. The details of the key assumptions
and inputs used in the impairment assessment are
set out in Note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)
(d) Fair value of financial instruments

(e)

(f)

(8)

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation
technigues including the discounted cash flow model.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible,
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values. The judgements include considerations of
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives in
relation to Financial Services Segment

The Group determines whether goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill and intangible assets are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Further details
of impairment testing of goodwill and intangible
assets are given in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair value of investment property

The fair value of investment property is determined
by using valuation technigue. Details of the judgement
and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of interest in an associate

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any indication for impairment
on the interest in an associate and further assesses
if they have suffered any impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.1(b). The
assessment requires the use of estimates.

Annual Report 2022
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(h)

)

Income taxes and deferred taxation
Significant judgments and estimates are required
in determining the provision for income tax. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Deferred taxation on investment property
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets arising from investment
property that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment property and concluded that
the Group's investment property in the PRC is not
held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group's deferred taxation on investment property
in the PRC, the Directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment property measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale
is not rebutted and deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised.
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5 REVENUE
Revenue represents () net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns and trade discount; (i) interest
income from money lending, factoring, finance leasing
and margin financing; (i) consultancy fee and handling fee
income from money lending, factoring and finance leasing,

I 35

W s BNV il & E RPER FREE
B (e -RE-RMEEER
RETHENSWA S (INEEREK
MERELHERTFEERA (WEE
RELLEERA VEHEKREEERE

(iv) brokerage commission income from securities dealing;

(v) underwriting and placing commission income; and (vi)

asset management fee income.

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as

HéU\ Tz (Vi)

EEBEBRA-

FEBAFEWZZ DAUT ¢

follows:
2022 2021
—_E"C BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Sales of goods 5 i & 125,904 250,605
Interest income from money lending, EE-RE -REHEER
factoring, finance leasing ReEEREN B UA
and margin financing 31,021 44,419
Consultancy fee and handling fee BE -RENBERE
income from money lending, BHBERFEEWRAS
factoring and finance leasing* 125 3,713
Asset management fee income BEEEEBERA 245 113
Brokerage commission income e RS WA 3,695 4,539
Underwriting and placing commission €84 & fc &M URA
income 8,396 34,464
169,386 337,853
Revenue from contracts with é*}%ﬂﬁ‘%iﬁi@?u%1 58RIAT
customers within HKFRS 15: EREHWNE
Recognised at a point of time FER—OF R, ﬁEm
Sales of goods 7 fh i 125,904 250,605
Consultancy fee and handling fee EE-REKRMEHRES
income from money lending, BB RFEERA
factoring and finance leasing* 125 3,713
Brokerage commission income e RS WA 3,695 4,539
Underwriting and placing commission B85 RECEREITA
income 8,396 34,464
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 188,420 = 293321
Recognised over time FER—BFRTEL ISR
Assetmanagement fee income  HEEEEWA 245 113
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 138,365 = 293434
Revenue from other sources: HhaBEKA -
Interest income from money lending, R EREFIEEAEZEE
factoring, finance leasing and RIEB-BEBEMEER
margin financing calculated using RETRHEF BWA
effective interest method 31,021 44,419
169,386 337,853
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5

R EVENUE (continued)

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group's unfulfilled
performance obligations to transfer goods or services to
customers for which consideration has been received at the
reporting date. The contract liability is recognised in revenue in
the period when performance obligations are fulfilled.

During the year, the Group recognised revenue of approximately
HK$40,000 (2021: approximately HK$889,000) from consultancy
fee income that was included in contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year.

As at 31 March 2022, there is no amount received for performing
future obligation (2021: approximately HK$40,000). This amount
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future
from the consultancy contracts entered into with the Group's
customers.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified
as the Board of the Company. The Board reviews the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The Group’'s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of the
operations. Each of the Group’s reportable segments
represents a strategic business unit that is subject to
risks and returns that are different from other reportable
operating segment.

5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
The Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

° Trading segment engaged in trading of goods in the
PRC;

° Money lending and factoring segment engaged in
provision of loan financing in Hong Kong, loan and
factoring financing in the PRC;

o Finance leasing segment engaged in provision of
finance leasing and sale-leaseback in the PRC; and

° Financial services segment engaged in provision
of securities dealing broking, placing, underwriting,
margin financing and asset management services in
Hong Kong.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
profit/loss represents the profit/loss earned by each
segment without allocation of incomes or expenses which
are not recurring in nature and unrelated to the Group’s
operating performance, including central administration
costs, Directors’ emoluments, gain/(loss) on changes in
fair value of investment property, gain/(loss) on changes in
fair value of other financial assets, gain/(loss) on changes
in fair value of held-for-trading investments, gain/(loss) on
disposal of held-for-trading investments, gains on bargain
purchase of interest in an associate, share of results of an
associate, finance costs, impairment loss on deposits and
other receivables (non-trading nature), exchange gain/(10ss),
rental income, sublease interest income, sundry income
from an associate and interest income from cash and bank
balances.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments, all assets are
allocated to operating segments other than investment
property, held-for-trading investments, other financial
assets, net investment in sublease, interest in an associate,
cash and bank balances, tax recoverable, deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. All liabilities are allocated
to operating segments other than retained consideration
payables, bond and interest payable, amount due to a
Director, tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other
corporate liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6
The Board assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on their underlying operating profit/(loss),
which is measured by profit/(loss) before taxation.

DEEH @)
EESRBEEHNAAAMCE RN/
(W548) STEHRIR > HIERIRAT 2
R/ (B548) st & o

(@) Segment revenue and results (@) DEWEKRFEE

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_Z-_F-R=1+—HIEE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading  factoring leasing services Total
BERK
85 RE MEHEE ERRTS @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue and results W ERES TERT FER TER TR TR
Segment revenue DEEW 125,904 16,354 7,634 19,494 169,386
Segment results DIEEE (7,526) (5,399) (1,298) (18,068) (32,291)
Impairment loss on goodwill B ERE - - - (71,700) (71,700)
(7,526) (5,399) (1,298) (89,768) (103,991)
Corporate expenses TERY (19,126)
Operating loss mEEE (123,117)
Corporate income BERA 16,155
Loss on changes in fair value of  REMEAAELSEE
investment property (2,904)
Gain on changes in fair value of ~ HMERBEAAE
other financial assets =il e 74,089
Loss on changes in fair value of ~ FEEBEREAAE
held-for-trading investments 2351 (1,241)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEFEEEREWNE
investments 5,662
Gains on bargain purchase of REHE R B RERZ
interest in an associate Bl Then 12,636
Share of results of an associate  BEEA B ML EE (5,647)
Finance costs RERA (2,020)
Loss before taxation BRHAIEE (26,387)
Taxation " (768)
Loss for the year AEEBE (27,185)
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SR e A AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 DEEN®
(@) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (@) DEWEHEKRES @

Year ended 31 March 2021
BEZ-_—HF-A-+—HIFE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing Services Total
BExR
25 R MEHRE SRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue and results KGR ESE FAET FAET TET TERT TET
Segment revenue DENE 250,605 19,101 17,095 51,052 337,853
Segment results DELE (6,116) 2,540 3,497 740 661
Corporate expenses hERY (562
Operating loss REEE (24,963)
Corporate income BERA 5,031
Loss on changes in fair value of ~ REMEAAEEFER
investment property (115)
Gainon changes in fair value of ~ Eth&REEAAE
other financial assets 23 4,365
Gain on changes in fair value of ~ HEEEREANE
held-for-trading investments 2EE 279
Loss on disposal of held-for-trading HESEEERBEE
investments (5,764)
Finance costs B A B2
Loss before taxation RiRAIEE (24,409)
Taxation HIE 960
Loss for the year AEEBRE (23,449)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

SEEN @
(b) NEEERER

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

As at 31 March 2022
RZEZZE=R=+—H

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services Total
8% fRERRE REHEE SRR Bt
Segment assets HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
and liabilities NEEERAR FTET TER TER TER TER
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W REREM 1,385 1,471 35,722 5,779 44,357
Intangible assets B EE - - - 21,500 21,500
Goodwill B = = 1,000 3,995 4,995
Other non-current assets HitEre g & - - - 230 230
Loan and interest receivables EWET RS - 18,450 - - 18,450
Finance lease receivables FEWRERENE - - 7,827 - 7,827
1,385 19,921 44,549 31,504 97,359
Current assets REEE 245,627 129,182 62,367 95,830 533,006
Segment assets NEEE 247,012 149,103 106,916 127,334 630,365
Unallocated: KAE
Net investment in sublease NAKEFE 5,931
Interest in an associate = UNGIL -4 19,964
Cash and bank balances RERRTERE 217,023
Others Hith 145,374
Total assets per statement of B RREERE
financial position 1,018,657
Segment liabilities NEEE 3,947 437 9,168 35,841 49,393
Unallocated: A
Amount due to a Director e —REZTE 1,214
Others Hth 43,714
Total liabilities per statement of B EHRREEEE
financial position 94,321
Other segment information ~ HfthHEEH
Capital expenditure BARRY 632 13 10 277 932
Unallocated capital expenditure  RAEBERERL 12
944
Depreciation nE
- Right-of-use assets —EREEE = = = 8,391 8,391
- Property, plant and equipment  —#)% B R HE 387 493 1,435 3,432 5,747
Unallocated depreciation RDEWE 3,474
17,612
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 DEEH@®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) REEEREE @
As at 31 March 2021
RZZZ—F=BA=+—-H
Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing Services Total
25 GBERRE MERE SRR st
Segment assets HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
and liabilities NEBERAR FTET FhET FAET FAET FET
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M REREM 1,105 1,679 35,892 8,935 47,611
Right-of-use assets FRESE - - - 8,390 8,390
Intangible assets By EE - - - 21,500 21,500
Goodwill S - - 1,000 75,695 76,695
Other non-current assets HitJEResEE - - - 230 230
Finance lease receivables MR EREE - - 29,901 - 29,901
1,105 1,679 66,793 114,750 184,327
Current assets REEE 234,399 123,763 85,336 104,733 548,231
Segment assets DEEE 235,504 125,442 152,129 219,483 732,558
Unallocated: KA
Cash and bank balances ReEMBTER 246,791
Others Hit 88,400
Total assets per statement of IBERRREERE
financial position 1,067,749
Segment liabilities HEaR 3,820 1,529 16,236 54,652 76,237
Unallocated: Kk
Amount due to a Director R —REENE 764
Others Hitt 66,773
Total liabilities per statementof ~— EiHREREEEE
financial position 143,774
Other segment information ~ HhDEEH
Capital expenditure ERET - 1,565 219 1,278 3,062
Unallocated capital expenditure KA EREL 34
3,096
Depreciation e
- Right-of-Use assets —EREEE - - - 8723 8723
- Property, plant and equipment  —#7% 8 Rkt 386 150 1,561 3,048 5,145
Unallocated depreciation RAEIE 3,906
17,774
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 NEEN®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) DEEEKREE @)
Geographical information & &Zik
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and BEZIHFRIZTI—F=
the PRC for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. B=t+—HIFE FsEEZE
IR EB KPR

BHAEREREHIIER Z T
T ERRHEERIRS 2t

Information about the Group's revenue and external
customers is presented based on the location at

which the goods or services are delivered or provided.

The Group's total revenue from sales of goods and
services by geographical location is detailed below:

B2

rEERMEE D2 ERKARE

e TR T

2022 2021

B F —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

PRC e 143,847 278,576
Hong Kong B8 25,539 59,277
169,386 337,853

AEBBEEMREME D ZIFR
HEE TEEBE BERNEE
REMEBREE) FHUT

The Group's non-current assets excluding goodwill,
deferred tax assets and other financial assets by
geographical location of the assets are detailed

below:
2022 2021
g _E_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
PRC =8 109,621 113,827
Hong Kong 58 60,364 43,195
169,985 157,022
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 DEEN®
(c) Revenue are derived from the following (c) WmNPBEKRBTIEERR

major customers:
The following customers attributed to 10% or more of
the Group's total revenue during the respective years.

UTEFRREEFERNEMAEASE
B 48 B 48 10% o

196

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Customer A EEH 31,307 45,932
Customer B Z2RZ 30,806 -
Customer C ZER 24,686 35,164
Customer D BRT 22,797 -
Customer E ZE/ - 72,191
Customer F o - 35,875

All the major customers are customers of trading FMBXTERRNEZERER

business.
7 OTHER INCOME 7 HihlgA

2022 2021
—E-= s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Bank interest income RITH B WA 2,605 1,210
Sublease interest income AHEBEF BUWA 94 -
Other interest income EHA WA 61 270
Rental income WA 1,332 3,280
Government grants (Note) B HEEh (M =E) - 1,225
Sundry income from an associate REHE AT MIERA 174 -
Others Hh 13,200 703
17,466 6,688

Note: Government grants were mainly unconditional government
subsidies received by the Group from relevant government

bodies.
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8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8 [RIRAIESTE
The Group's loss before taxation has been arrived at after REMBFRRAIEBERLENRE . GEA) T
charging/(crediting): F&IEE .
2022 2021
- —ET—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cost of inventories sold FEIHE ﬁZZK 123,488 244,764
Salaries and wages included in e TE (8
administrative expenses: RITHRER I?q)
Directors’ emoluments EEME (BIEREHN
(including contribution to defined BRARRFF A HE)
contribution plans) 6,083 6,383
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER]
(excluding Directors’ emoluments) (FBEES®) 18,371 20,917
Contribution to defined contribution REMFCRIKRER]FTE 2 H=
plans (excluding Directors) rEEESR) 1,064 805
25,518 28,105
Auditor's remuneration Z AN &= 1,156 968
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -REBERBIMITE
equipment 5,975 5,531
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RS EITE 11,637 12,243
Property rental expenses in respect of fEHAFRE 22T SR
short-term lease 362 340
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - REKRBMER
plant and equipment - 55
Impairment loss on finance lease FEWEER ERIERERIE
receivables 2,765 5,870
Impairment loss on trade receivables — FEURERFR(BEESE 5,700 8,157
Impairment loss on account receivables {R:5 % & 2 EWERRUR BB
from margin clients 5,575 15,348
Impairment loss on factoring receivables f& W (R I FUIE R (E 518 993 234
Impairment loss on loan and interest ~ FEW S & F BRI E /B
receivables 16,403 13,174
Impairment loss on deposits and %a R EMERURERE
other receivables 1,152 442
Loss on changes in fair value of KEMERNEEHEE
investment property 2,904 115
Impairment loss on goodwill AL SE 71,700 -
Gain on changes in fair value of other EH &M EEA A ESEHW G
financial asset (74,089) (4,365)
Loss/(Gain) on changes in fair value of FEEERE A A BEELBNEE
held-for-trading investments Y z) 1,241 (279)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of held-for- HERFEBERE (k&) Hi8
trading investments (5,662) 5,764
Gains on bargain purchase of R ZS A B R ZHE
interest in an associate W W 2w (12,636) -
Share of results of an associate YN AN (E 5,647 -
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10

FINANCE COSTS 9 MEmMAE
2022 2021
g B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on bond payable FE(FEF B 53 311
Interest on lease liabilities HEasEd R 524 975
Interest on retained FESIREBREF R
consideration payables 1,443 1,849
Others H1th - 107
2,020 3,242
TAXATION 10 #RIE
2022 2021
=2 TET—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current income tax BIHERFR1SHR
- Hong Kong profits tax —BABNE (211) 2,397
— PRC corporation income tax — R 2RISR 6,612 5,536
6,401 7,933
Deferred tax EERR I (5,633) (8,893)
Taxation charge/(credit) RIERS, (HER) 768 (960)
Hong Kong profits tax EFHEFER

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective from
March 2018, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at
the rate of 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated
assessable profits of the qualifying entity of the Group
and 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above
HK$2,000,000. The profits of other group entities in Hong
Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates

regime are continued to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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10 TAXATION (continued) 10
PRC corporate income tax
The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations
in the PRC is calculated at the applicable tax rates on the
estimated assessable profits for the year based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The amount of taxation charge/(credit) for the year can be

WIE
PEEEFREH

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERTREEB 2 PEEEMERERE
RBITEP 2RREREMSEAFEM
SHERIR A RBRARKEHE -

FEERERS (B%) BRIRATEER

reconciled to the loss before tax as follows: ZHIRNOT -
2022 2021
= BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEx
Loss before taxation (GG oFi= (26,387) (24,409)
Tax at the applicable tax rates BERMEAE ZRIE (4,709) (5,106)
Tax effect of: RIEFZ .
Income not subject to tax AR Z WA (16,488) (3,201
Expenses not deductible el 2 &R
for tax purposes 15,074 4,470
Overprovision in prior year B FEBEEE (219) (789)
Share of results of an associate =N R 932 -
Recognition of previously MR SCRI R R 2
unrecognised temporary difference BEFER - (1,895)
Temporary difference not recognised KRRV R ZE 2,856 -
Tax losses for which no deferred SR IRIE PSR 2
tax asset was recognised MIEE1E 3,332 5,676
Tax concession MEER (10) (20)
Utilisation of tax loss HIHRIBRE - (95)
Taxation charge/(credit) MIEMx, (E%) 768 (960)
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11 DIVIDEND 11 RE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any EEfEEMBE_S __F=8
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). —t—HLEFEERTEAERE (ZF
Z—F I m) e
12 LOSS PER SHARE 12 SKEE
2022 2021
g T %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss attributable to shareholders B R FE(L A58 (26,842) (23,168)
Weighted average number of ordinary st ESRERFBEEZ
shares, for the purposes of LB INETEE (FR)
calculating basic loss per share
(shares in thousands) 4,120,600 4,120,600
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEE HK(0.65) cents il HK(0.56) cents 7L
As there is no dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding RNIE I ZHERZE—F=A=+—
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the diluted loss per share is B #iEEEBAEErE  ZER
equal to the basic loss per share. WEREEEEESREREIEER -
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13 ERREEHALHE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(@) Directors’ and senior management’s (@) EFRSHREEASHM
emoluments
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_E-__F=HA=+—HL
FE
Employer's
contribution
Salaries and  Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees other benefits bonus scheme Total
s x| BHRR BiktEZ
ik Htnigs 128 BE MR ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET THET FTERT TET
Executive Directors HiTES
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHELL - 2,321 - 18 2,339
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BREEBLE = 3,276 - 18 3,294
Independent non- BUERiTES
executive Directors
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEBRE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter KECKE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEELE 150 - - - 150
450 5,597 - 36 6,083
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE_E-_—F=H=+—HL
£E
Employer's
contribution
Salariesand  Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees  other benefits bonus scheme Total
e HeM BMRSE BIREEIZ
HE HitngH] 12E) BEHED fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTER TET TET TET
Executive Directors HiTER
Ms. Zheng Juhua BRI L - 2,321 - 18 2339
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BRERLE - 3,576 - 18 3,594
Independent non- BIFRTES
executive Directors
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERLE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter FALCKE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMEE 150 - - - 150
450 5,897 - 36 6,383
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13 EFREEHFALIME @

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s (@)
emoluments (Continuea)
No Director waived or agreed to waive any
emolument during the year (2021: Nil). Fees paid to
independent non-executive Directors during the year
amounted to HK$450,000 (2021: HK$450,000).

No emolument has been paid to the individual or the
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021 Nil).

Emolument bands

EEREREEAEHMN @

TEER EFHMERRIBR
HEEEMNE CST—F 8 o
AEERZNBIUFRTESRZ
% #450,0008 70 (ZEZ—F :
450,0007& 7T) ©

REE_ZET__F#=B=+—H
IEFER  UEAERESSN
1ERIBN & > 7E 2315 S5 N B2 BN 0
BAEEREABERBE (CZ
T—F |

Number of individuals

[ s A
2022 2021
—E-C S
Nil — HK$1,000,000 2377 51,000,000 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,00158 7T 2,000,000 7T - -

HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 75 23,000,000 7T 1

HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 75 24,000,000 7T 1 1
5 5
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The Directors’ emoluments presented above include
the emoluments of two (2021: two) highest paid
individuals in the Group. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2021: three) highest paid individual
during the year ended 31 March 2022 were:

EFERREHFALTME @

(b) AEEREHAL
EXFREFEEFMEEmE (Z
T —F I WR) ~EERSFA
TZME - RNEE_E__F=H
=t+—HIEFERGT=4 (CZT

T—EIZ®) B ALz

2022 2021
s B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, bonus, other allowances ¥ ~ {641~ ELMt2 &
and benefits in kind BY)F @ 2,433 2,474

Employer’s contributions to BRI 2 BEMR

retirement scheme 105 107
2,538 2,581

Emolument bands

Number of individuals

B A&
2022 2021
—E== —E—F
Nil = HK$1,000,000 F B 71,000,000 7T 3 3
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EY ey
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- RERBMREREEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
(@) Property, plant and equipment (@) ME- -BEKRSEM
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor
Property improvement fixtures vehicles Total
mE HERE HARRE RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER THET TET FiER
At 1 April 2020 RZZEZZFNE—H
Cost BA 35,784 13,296 9,375 8,306 66,761
Accumulated depreciation REtifE (3,220) (5,657) (5,077) (4,904) (18,858)
Net book amount REPE 32,564 7,639 4,298 3,402 47,903
Year ended 31 March 2021 HEZZ”-F
ZA=+—-HALEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 32,564 7,639 4,298 3,402 47,903
Currency translation differences ERHREE 2,669 6 78 59 2812
Additions HE - 967 345 1,784 3,096
Transfer from right-of-use assets HERBREEEA - - - 140 140
Depreciation (Note ) E (Ha8) 791) (2,254) (1,230) (1,256) (5531)
Disposal HE - - - (140) (140)
Closing net book amount FREEZE 34,442 6,358 3491 3,989 48,280
At 31 March 2021 RZB-—-F=A=+—-H
Cost B 38,739 14,592 9,842 10,225 73,398
Accumulated depreciation Rt E (4,297) (8,234) (6,351) (6,236) (25,118)
Net book amount REFE 34,442 6,358 349 3,989 48,280
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-Z-C-F
ZA=+-HALEE
Opening net book amount FNREZE 34,442 6,358 3,491 3,989 48,280
Currency translation differences ERHAE 1,446 1 31 83 1,561
Additions AE - - 944 - 944
Depreciation (Note 8) e (H5E8) (839) (2,485) (1,246) (1,405) (5,975)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 35,049 3,874 3220 2,667 44,810
At 31 March 2022 RZ2-_F#=B=+-H
Cost A 40,381 14,775 10,854 10,375 76,385
Accumulated depreciation Rt E (5332) (10,901) (7,634) (7,708) (31,575)
Net book amount REEE 35,049 3,874 3220 2,667 44810

204  annual Report 2022



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e B R B R

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Leases
This note provides information for lease where the
Group is a lessee or lessor.

The Group leases office premises, residences and
motor vehicle used in its operations with lease terms
between 20 months to 40 months and subleases

14 ME - -RERBMREREEE

(#)

(b)

HE
AR IR A R A B 1F 25 A
A HBEAZHEER

FEFEEBEAREENNRAIE
EERARE  HEHA20(E A F40
B8R > TAENEBOPAEEET

certain of the office premises area to the Company’s KRB ZHERT o

associate.

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FHAEEE ‘
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of- FEBFRERESERE
use assets and the movements during the year HHRREENT
are as follows:

Office Motor
premises Residences vehicle Total
WAE £E pal::| 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHT FTHT FTHET
As at 1 April 2020 RIZ-ZENA—H 22,647 645 146 23,438
Depreciation (Note 8) IE (MEE8) (11,910) (327) ) (12,243)
Transfer to property, plantand ~ EREWE R EREM
equipment - - (140) (140)
Derecognition RIERERR - (318) - (318)
As at 31 March 2021 and RIEZ—F=B=+—H
1 April 2021 RIEB-—#MB—H 10,737 - - 10,737
Addition 210 9,000 - - 9,000
Depreciation (Note 8) ITE (MHEE8) (11,637) - - (11,637)
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZZ-_&#=A=+—H 8,100 - - 8,100
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE-RERBMRERAEEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea) (#&)
(b) Leases (Continued) (b) HE ®@
(i) Net investment in sublease (i) PHEKREFE
2022 2021
—EZHF B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net investment KEFEE 5,931 -
Allowance for ECL TEHRE B RSB - -
5,931 -
The Group entered into a sublease arrangement AEBERFE LB AR
with the Company’s associate as the RE (HEBEFRTHRLENT A
intermediate lessor for office premises, which 4018 B HR) AN B B
has an initial non-cancellable lease term of 40 NEVBF]— DB Z &
months. This lease does not include purchase or MERRWEI P IR
termination options.
Information about the Group’s exposure BRAEBREFEHARRKO:
to credit risks and loss allowance for net kDB R IREE
investment in sublease is included in Note 3.1(b) HNERENR A EES M BRE
to the consolidated financial statements. F5E3.1(b)
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- RERBMREREEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea) (&)
(b) Leases (Continued) (b) #E #@
(i) Net investment in sublease (Continued) (i) SHEKREFE B
Below is a maturity analysis of lease UTARKBERWEIES
payments receivable and the reconciliation MUARKRITERERHARE
of undiscounted lease payments to the net HEEZ HERo
investment.
At 31 March 2022 RZIE_ZH=H=+—H
HK$'000
FAET
Past due [y 487
Year 1 B—F 1,950
Year 2 F_FE 1,950
Year 3 B=F 1,950

Undiscounted lease payments to be  RIFTEFEWFR S

received 6,337
Less: Unearned finance income B RBIRESHWA (406)
Net investment (net of ECL) BEFEE (NRTEHREEEEEE) 5,931
Less: Current portion B RENERS (2,214)
Non-current portion JETRENEL D 3,717
The interest income on net investment RERKEFEEHERFE
recognised during the year amounting to WA £994,0008 75 (Z 2 - —
approximately HK$94,000 (2021: Nil). F ) o
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
(b) Leases (Continued)

(iii)

Annual Report 2022

14 NE-RERBMREREEE

(#)

(b) E @

Leases liabilities (i) HEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FREEEERESNT -
movements during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-— BT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5k FAET FET
Balance at the beginning #4583
of the year 11,058 23,783
Addition AN 14,594 -
Accretion of interest FABEHE
recognised during BB
the year 9 524 975
Payments (RN (12,967) (13,382)
Derecognition AR IEFESD - (318)
Balance at the end of FRERR
the year 13,209 11,058
Analysed into: ST
Current portion TRENEL 4,308 11,058
Non-current portion JERENE 8,901 -
13,209 11,058

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 3.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

HESENIHROTREGES
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Leases (Continued)

(iv) The amounts recognised in profit or loss

(v)

14 ME -RERBMREREEE

f-

(b) #E @
(iv) REmPEPAEAEERR

in relation to leases are as follows: BIEEEWTF ¢
2022 2021
—E-= s
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE TFHET FET
Sublease interest income A FEFEER EWA 7 (94) -
Interest on lease liabilities FHE&EF B 9 524 975
Depreciation for right-of- {EREEERE
use assets 8 11,637 12,243
Expense relating to BUGHARE
short-term leases BRNEX 8 362 340
Total amount recognised in A8 & R FEERAYRIE
profit or loss 48%B 12,429 13,558

The total cash outflow for lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 35(b) to the consolidated
financial statements. The lease payments not
included in measurement of lease liabilities was
approximately HK$362,000 (2021: HK$340,000).

V)

HEaEREsREAER
FRE M SRR M EE35(b) iR
E kAR ESRT2
RIFE & 34 A362,0007%8
7T (Z& ”—4 : 340,000%8
7o) °©
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15 KREYE
2022 2021
—E-Z BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT
Balance at the beginning of the year ~ F #4586+ 46,374 42,946
Change in fair value NAEEE (2,904) (115)
Currency translation differences bE RS 1,917 3,543
Balance at the end of the year FRAERR 45,387 46,374
Loss on property revaluation MEELEIE (2,904) (115)
Particulars of the investment property KREMEEN
Location Use Tenure
biuf2 R& THEHA
Room 1707-1713, 17th Floor, Block B, Commercial building Medium-term leases
Xintian Century Business Center, for rental

Shixia North Street,

Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong, PRC
PEERESFImEReGEILE HHEEENE
okt Ad B IS R0 BER17181707-1713%F

(a) Valuation processes of the Group (@)
The Group measures its investment property at
fair value. The fair value of the Group’s investment
property has been determined on the basis of
valuation carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited, an independent and professionally qualified
valuer.

The management of the Group has discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at annual
reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

15 BEYE ®)
(b) HEFZE

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
(b) Valuation techniques

The investment property was revalued on the
investment method.

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is
estimated on the basis of capitalisation of existing
rent receivable from the existing tenancies and the
potential reversionary market rent of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of
the investment property, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and
other factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated
rental value and reversionary yield, while it takes into
account the rental value generated from the existing
lease term to arrive at the term vyield.

The key input was the estimated rental value, term
yield and reversionary vyield, which a significant
increase/(decrease) in these inputs would result in a
significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is their current use.

BREMEDRKRERETER.

REE

BEREL AREDRBZFYE
BIRAEEZRWIRAEERE
HERMSEETFUERLCZE
M5t e

ETHEREERERRENE
ZRE BEUE BRI R
B BE -ZERENMREMEE
DSt BERER W
X FEREEEREHEBEEZME
TBE UFHERREK-

FTEBABBERGFAESEE F
M mERERRGEE  kZFH
ABBEARELF (PR B> &8
BRREMEQARERBLA (F
) o

FEESHRYMEZ ANER ZY=E
ERZBERRERRERRT
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15
(c) Information about fair value

measurements using significant

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

15 BREYE ©)

(c) AREREXRFAHRBARK

BZzAREHE B=ZH Z2E

unobservable inputs (Level 3) ¥l
Range of
Fair Value at Valuation  Unobservable unobservable
3,15/\ March 2022 techniques inputs inputs
A—E|— —
=—BA=+—H RARRZ NGk
ZARE fHEHE WARE BAHEZEE
Investment property
in the PRC
RyEzEEME
- Commercial office RMB36,900,000 Investment  Term yield, 3%
(equivalent to method Reversionary yield; 4%
approximately Estimated net market RMB151
HK$45,387,000 unit rent per saleable area
(month (RMB/sg.m.))
—BERAE A B #36,900,000 BEZE FH R 3%
(BERY g ES 4%
45,387,000% 7T) SEUHERR ARM1517T
Z st g R E
(B \RB¥T/ S8FHK)
Range of
Fair Value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable
31 March 202 techniques inputs inputs
AR~ —
=A=+—H ReJHREZ OGIE kS
ZARE HEH* WARE WMABEZEHE
Investment property
in the PRC
RPBEZREYE
- Commercial office RMB39,300,000 Investment  Term yield; 3%
(equivalent to method Reversionary yield; 4%
approximately Estimated net market RMB161
HK$46,374,000) unit rent per saleable area
(month (RMB/sg.m.))
—EERAE A EE#39,300,000 BRE* FRM R 3%
MBERLY (bl e 4%
46,374,000 7T) SBEAHERR ARE161TT
ZfEEtTiEFME
(B ANR¥T/ S8FHXK)
There was no transfer among levels 1, 2 and 3 during BE_E__HER_EFZ—F=

the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

15 REWE @

(d) The following amount has been recognised in the (d) THEEERGSEZREMS

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other EUEm R PR
comprehensive income:

2022 2021

—E-- T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFAET

Rental income HEWA 1,332 1,266

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no investment property was
pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Interest in an associate represents the Group's 27.57%
equity investment in Royal Century Resources Holdings
Limited (“Royal Century”), whilst it was accounted for as
held-for-trading investments in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.
During the year, the Company further acquired 11.16%
equity interest in Royal Century through the stock market,
resulting with the Group’s equity interest in Royal Century
increased from 16.41% as at 31 March 2021 to 27.57% as at
31 March 2022.

16

Eﬁ:giifﬂi’z: Z_—F=A=+—
R EVMECSUMAEENERE
$$%¢&$$DD°

BEQBED
BEAREGASAERN CRERER

BRAR (MZEBEIR)) 227.57%K D%
B ZRERNAERRE_E - —F=
BZ+—BLEZGEHBERERPUSE
BEREAR AABEREEARNRT
B EE—TEALCEERIN.16%RMD
REBRCEERNROEZHNR S
=B =1+—HM16.4%EMER
TE T THE =B =+—HmW27.57%°
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16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 16 EtEATIHER @
2022 2021
s B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Fair value of held-for-trading investmentsE % {— & R BB E AT AR
in Royal Century immediately before  Z A {FEERE A NE

its accounted for as an associate 9,976 —
Acquisition of additional equity IR BB B = A B RBIMIR A 1 1

interest in an associate 2,999 —
Profit or loss for the year: FREE !
- Gains on bargain purchase at dates of —BEH= AT HEE >

acquisition of interest in an associate  HBUL BB W % 12,636 —
— Share of post-acquisition results and —9 15Uk BB EE K

other comprehensive loss Hih2mEE (5,647) —

19,964 —

Fair value of listed investments BERB LHREZ R AE

in an associate (Note) (M%) 7,434 —
Note: The fair values of the listed shares are determined based on st . ERDZAFENDRBRFIREZH

quoted market bid prices available on the Stock Exchange. LR BIREEE -

Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting AEFBNRBREARNBEQABFBEN
period are as follows: T

Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation issued share capital held

Name of associate and operation by the Group Principal activities
HERERIE Bl 3L R AR 3 26 FERFANECRITRAEELY FBEH

2022 2021
Royal Century Hong Kong 27.57% 16.41%* (i) Provision of design, fitting out

and engineering and procurement
of furnishings and related products
services, (ii) Leasing of construction
equipment and provision of related
installation services, (iii) Sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines
and (iv) Provision of financial services.
CEER s 27.57% 16.41%*  (MRHFE  RERTREURKER
ERABRERRR (HERERE
R iRMAER LR (i)FBEH K
(VIR E SRR o

* Accounted for as held-for-trading investments * LR FEEREAR
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s associate as at 31 March 2022 which represents
amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements

16 HEQTHEER @

BERB DN AERZGREMBHREU
AR

EHAERZHMEARNRN _ S - —_F=
B=+— BB a7 T o Y
T B ER SN RIESBMBRE

of Royal Century prepared in accordance with HKFRSS is as

EARRZCEERFEEMBREK

follows:
HK$'000
AT
Current assets MENEE 33,918
Non-current assets ERBEE 68,296
Current liabilities MEIEE (19,894)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (9,910)
Net assets attributable to owners of CEERREDNEE SR
Royal Century 72,410
Revenue W 57,660
Loss for the year KEFEEIE (21,068)
Other comprehensive loss for the year KEEHMPEEE ©)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KEFEELREMEEIE (21,074)
The Group's share of loss of an associate KEEDLIE QA BEIE (5,647)
Gains on bargain purchase of interest in WigHE A Bl m 2 BB E
an associate 12,636
Results attributable to interest in an associate BERNB D HES 6,989
Share of other comprehensive loss of an associate LB AT 2 2 EE1E -
6,989
Net assets attributable to owners of CEERREDNEEFR
Royal Century 72,410
Proportion of the Group's equity KEFBNRCEERRA#EZ Z LA
interest in Royal Century 27.57%
19,964

As at 31 March 2022, the amount due from an associate
is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The

carrying amount of the balance is denominated in HKS.

EWHEATRBEBR _SE - _F=
Zt+—HAERF RERBREKEE
BoZEAMZIREELETTYE.
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 17 BREEREE

2022 2021
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
INTANGIBLE ASSETS BREE
Trading right R5 1 500 500
Licences hE iR 21,000 21,000
21,500 21,500
Trading right represents the right that allows the Group to RGBT AREBRBRMEERS
trade securities in the Stock Exchange. ZHER] o
Licences comprise the licences for Type 1, 2, 4 and 9 IR EENETESRPERIREZ
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures 12 ARFEIEERN 2 hR IR -
Ordinance.
HK$'000
FAT
GOODWILL meE
COST 5%
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R_EEFOR—R T8 —F
31 March 2022 =A=+—HRIZZZZ
=A=+—H 76,695
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT REtEE
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 C:;ﬁ:;ﬁfﬁﬂﬁ El?i’z
Provided for the year FREE 71,700
At 31 March 2022 RN_E-__"F=H=+—H 71,700
CARRYING AMOUNT EREE& %8
At 31 March 2021 A E_—F=A=+—H 76,695
At 31 March 2022 N2 _F=H=+—H 4,995
Goodwill arose from acquisition of (i) 100% equity interest BERONRZZ—OFtBAHKEC
in Comercializadora Ven 2010 C.A Limited and its subsidiary mEBBRLRBMRENBAE2100%
on 9 July 2014; and (i) 100% equity interest in ChaoShang HRZMZE“  RIWR ZE—hAE+2H8
Financial Holding Limited and its subsidiaries on 31 —t+—HWESEEMERBRAB K
December 2019. HBAB Z100%R AR FT B 4 o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 17 BREEREE @)

(Continued)

Impairment testing of intangible assets and HithvmpBEEREERENR

goodwill

Intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated for BELBERBECSHAENHENTD

impairment testing purposes to the following cash- BEEUTHREELBEMN ((ReELES

generating units (“CGUs"): fiL1) :

- the operating activities of Comercializadora Ven 2010 — [CIHhEaBzREEE ItEmE
which is engaged in finance leasing business (the MExK ((CHEERSELSE
“Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU"); and i) ; &

- the operating activities of ChaoShang Financial which —  HEemo&EEE B ERME
is engaged in provision of financial services business ERBRFEERE ((PasmReE
(the “ChaoShang Financial CGU"). HEEM) o

The carrying amounts of intangible assets and goodwill DEERESELEBA BREEERBE

allocated to the CGUSs as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as NS FR_E—F=RB=+—

follows: BZEREENT :
Intangible
i S assets Goodwill Total
As at 31 March 2022 =B=+—H mEBEE 5k st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU  {“IxEABRSEEE N

Cost 1,000 1,000

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BB RERE = =

- 1,000 1,000

ChaoShang Financial CGU MRS ELEEN

Cost 21,500 75,695 97,195

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BB RERE - (71,700) (71,700)

21,500 3,995 25,495
21,500 4,995 26,495
Intangible
S assets Goodwill Total
As at 31 March 2021 =A=+—H mEE E “ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT FHET

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU  {“IxEARESEEE N

Cost 1,000 1,000

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BB RERE - -

- 1,000 1,000

ChaoShang Financial CGU HEERMIREELEEN

Cost (D% 21,500 75,695 97,195

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BB RERE - - -

21,500 75,695 97,195
21,500 76,695 98,195

TECTFFR
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17

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(Continueq)

Impairment testing of intangible assets and
goodwill (Continued)

Intangible assets and goodwill with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually or when there is
impairment indicator. Details of impairment testing are set
out below.

Chaoshang Financial CGU

An independent professional valuer was engaged by the
Company to perform an impairment test for intangible
assets and goodwill allocated to the Chaoshang Financial
CGU by comparing their recoverable amounts to their
carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period. The
recoverable amounts of the Chaoshang Financial CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by the senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
10.2% (2021: 10.7%), and the cash flows beyond the five-
year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.5%
(2021: 3.0%). Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted revenue and profit margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development of
the Chaoshang Financial CGU. There was no change in the
basis on determination of the recoverable amounts as at 31
March 2022 and 2021.

Since the recoverable amount of the Chaoshang Financial
CGU determined based on value in use calculation was less
than their carrying amounts, an impairment loss on goodwill
of approximately HK$71,700,000 (2021: Nil) was recognised
during the year.

For sensitivity analysis, if the discount rate is increased or
the growth rate beyond the five-year period is decreased
by 100 basis points respectively, the recoverable amount
of the ChaoShang Financial CGU would be lower than
its carrying amount and the impairment loss on goodwiill
and the ChaoShang Financial CGU's assets (including
intangible assets) would be increased by approximately
HK$13,600,000 and HK$4,500,000 respectively.

Annual Report 2022

17

BREEREE @&
HttE\EREEREERENR @

BEERACEAFHZEVEERBS
EOSFYNHBRREFREFETHE
A - ARAREASZF BT

HEEMREEE B
KABIBEEFEEIIEEGEMBERLL
BZENR AR SR O U [0l & %6 £
HEEmE Hohk2dmesmiReEE
BAUNEFEERFEETREDR-
HETsmReEEBEUZIWEIEEET
RiEFEREBEETS TREBENERS
MEBASHERERFH BFESR
ERRERERASTHE °fﬁﬁ;ﬁ§%:ﬁu
FrERZ B IREA102%(_—E _—4F :
10.7%) MAFEREZIRERELEE
25— E - —F 130 ZIEREEHEE
METEEREEMENEMEIERRHA
BERA/MEET AR ETBERE
Wi Kim 2 BRIEEHER SRS
RIREEABEUZEATREANEERBY
MBEREAA - HEZS - M-

T —F-A=+—H HEEUWKEE
BBz kiR AR o

ERREBEEREBEREZHEERME
CESEMNZ RO SERNIREE,
AR AERNERIFERESGEY
71,700,000 (= Z—4F © )

MBREDHME > HAERRE NN E
FHIRIERZFR /D 2 RI10085F > BIE ™
TR EL B RGBT EERER
HirEBEEEmERdRERRTES
BUEE (BEEVEER ZRERER
73 BB h043913,600,0007 7T 524,500,000
BITe
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(Continued)

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU

During the year, the management reviewed and assessed
the value in use of the Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU to
determine its recoverable amount. No impairment loss was
recognised for the Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU (2021:
Nil).

BREEREE @

CIHEARESELEN

RAER EEBERKIECHESR
REeEFBEMANEREBEUNETETK
Ol - CIHEPReELFENTED
R RERE (CE—F .8 o

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS HthEmMEE
2022 2021
—E-C B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Fair value at the beginning of the year EH#1ARE 4,721 356
Changes in fair value NREED) 74,089 4,365
Fair value at the end of the year FRAMNE 78,810 4,721
Reclassified to actual (receivable)/ ERBE—RZFRNFRESES
payable upon completion of the B (FEU) FE(TRIB*
Year 1 and Year 2 PG* (35,560) 3,447
At 31 March R=B=+—H 43,250 8,168
* The amounts are recognised in other receivables/payables and * SEREMER ENRRREEE

are classified as current assets/liabilities as appropriate.

Chaoshang Financial

The other financial assets of the Group represent the
profit guarantee (the “CS Profit Guarantee”) provided by
the vendors (the “CS Vendors”) to the Group arising from
the acquisition of ChaoShang Financial Holding Limited
("ChaoShang Financial”) in December 2019.

The CS Profit Guarantee provided that for the period of
three-years commencing from the date of completion (i.e.
years ending 31 December 2020 (the “Year 1 PG"), 2021 (the
“Year 2 PG") and 2022 (the “Year 3 PG") respectively), the
audited profit after tax of ChaoShang Financial shall not be
less than HK$20,000,000, HK$25,000,000 and HK$30,000,000
respectively. Any shortfall between the guaranteed profit
and the actual profit for the relevant guaranteed period
shall be compensated by the CS Vendors. On the contrary, if
the actual profit is higher than the guaranteed profit, 50% of
the difference between the guaranteed profit and the actual
profit for the relevant guaranteed period shall be shared by
the CS Vendors.

EETRD.

T & R
AEBNEMEMEENRES (DHK
B7H)) R E-AFE+ZBWE#E
EMERBRAR (NHEER) MEE
BB RE (DA EFREE)

W R ) RS R E B W R Ak B BB R
F=EHER (B DA %%i_v -
2 (IF—FHMNRE) 22—
F (MFZEHMNREB & _7::
(ME=Fa8REFHD+A=+—H
IEFE) » BEBEZERE R DR
/L $420,000,0007 7t ~ 25,000,000 75 52
30 000,000 7t ° N B BB R A B
%IMEEJEAT%MM%IJEﬁ&ﬁ%%’éﬁ%’rﬂﬂiﬁﬂﬁ-ﬁ
Eﬁﬁfa P BEBREN SN ER
wH @“Bﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ@fﬂﬁ%%
REBEI IR IR H B B PR m ) Z= 3850%
Z & EEo
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18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 18 HihEmMEE @
ChaosShang Financial (Continued) MEER @
The CS Profit Guarantee represents a right to the return of B m A REE A E R R AT E]

previously transferred consideration for the acquisition of
ChaoShang Financial when the specified conditions are met
and hence constitutes a kind of contingent consideration
arrangement to be accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 3 and
HKFRS 9. The CS Profit Guarantee was initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
acquisition date at a fair value determined by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited, an independent professional qualified
valuer.

The fair value of the CS Profit Guarantee was determined
to be approximately HK$78,810,000 (2021: HK$4,721,000)
by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited as at 31 March 2022,
using a discount rate of 9.41% to 10.44% (2021: 4.66% to
4.81%) per annum, under Monte Carlo simulation and taking
into consideration of whether the CS Profit Guarantee is
probable to meet. A fair value gain on other financial assets
of approximately HK$74,089,000 (2021: HK$4,365,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2022. Details of the valuation technigues and key input used
for other financial assets are disclosed in Note 3.1(f) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The audited profit after tax of ChaoShang Financial
for the year ended 31 December 2020 is higher than
HK$20,000,000, as such, 50% of the difference between
the guaranteed profit and the actual profit in the amount
of approximately HK$3,460,000 (the present value was
approximately HK$3,447,000 as at 31 March 2021) shall be
shared by the CS Vendors (the “Year 1 Shared Profits”).

The audited loss after tax of ChaoShang Financial for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$14,020,000 (the “Year 2 Loss”). The Year 2 PG was
not met and as such, the CS Vendors shall compensate
approximately HK$39,020,000 (the “Year 2 Compensation”)
to the Group which represents an amount equal to the
Year 2 Loss plus the Year 2 PG. The Year 1 Shared Profit
together with the Year 2 Compensation with a net amount
of approximately HK$35,560,000 was reclassified to other
receivables (Note 23) as at 31 March 2022.
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19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

19 BURRBEHRERE

2022 2021
== =T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Current portion of finance lease FEW R E B ERIERBN D

receivables 69,545 90,218

Non-current portion of finance lease  FEWRRE M ERIBIEREN IS
receivables 7,905 30,082
77,450 120,300
Less: Impairment loss B ORERIE (10,105) (6,998)
67,345 113,302

The carrying amounts of the finance lease receivables are

EWREEERIAZ REABUARES

denominated in RMB. Ho
Minimum finance lease Present value of minimum
receivables finance lease receivables
REEKREHEERE RIEEWRBRENIARE
2022 2021 2022 2021
B —ET—F —E_C B —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET TET
Within one year —FRN 61,408 90,149 59,518 83,401
In the second to fifth years, £_Z=% L
inclusive (BHEEREME) 8,250 32,289 7,827 29,901
69,658 122,438 67,345 113,302
Less: Unearned finance B RBIRREBE WA
income (2,313) (9,136)  N/A R~EH N/A i
Present value of minimum  REEKRSHEE
finance lease receivables  FIEIRME 67,345 113,302 67,345 113,302
Less: Current portion of W EWRERE
finance lease ENEPTEIES)
receivables (59,518) (83,401)
Non-current portion of EWRERERIE
finance lease receivables  JEREN L 7,827 29,901
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19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19 EBRRMERERIE @
The aged analysis of finance lease receivables that is not T RAEDREZ BN ERENIERE
considered to be impaired is as follows: DU
2022 2021
= BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Neither past due nor impaired BE R B AR TR R (B 24,301 102,003
Past due but not impaired BB RBIE
0 to 30 days 0Z30Hd 313 2,765
31 t0 90 days 31E90H 626 4,298
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 2,005 1,407
more than 180 days 180H LA 40,100 2,829
67,345 113,302
Set out below is the information about the credit risk DUTF &5 BRI R R EERENERRE
exposure on the Group's finance lease receivables using a HETIEERRRKOER
provision matrix:
31 March 2022 —E-_HF=HF=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
0-90 91days- 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
BR1E
Finance lease receivables due FEMRERETIEAMN 0-90B  91-1808  181-365H fBbpres BB st
Effective expected B ERREE
loss rate 3.39% 32.72% 13.84% 27.43% 36.55%
Gross carrying amount REEE 26,127 2,980 37,216 10,692 435 77,450
ECL provision BEeE 887 975 5,151 2,933 159 10,105
31 March 2021 ZET—HF=-HA=+—H
Over 1year
but less
0-90 91 days - 181 days - than Qver
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
BlE
Finance lease receivables due ENRERETBEAH 0-90H 91-1800  181-365H BOR2E BiBE izt
Effective expected BEtENBER
loss rate 4.50% 27.32% 29.97% 38.63% -
Gross carrying amount REBE 114,249 1,936 3,504 611 - 120,300
ECL provision BESE 5,183 529 1,050 26 - 6,998
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19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (cContinued)

The movement in the provision for impairment of finance
lease receivables is as follows:

RWREEEMNIE @
R REERERRAEREEINT

HK$'000

TFAET

At 1 April 2020 RIZE_ZFMA—H 900

Provision for impairment BERE 5,870

Currency translation differences ERHMEER 228
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIZEZ—F=A=+—HkK

T —FMWA—H 6,998

Provision for impairment BB 2,765

Currency translation differences ERBEER 342

At 31 March 2022 A B "F=HB=+—H 10,105

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, finance lease receivables
were secured over the leased assets mainly by machineries
and equipments.

The maturity date for each finance lease contract is
normally not more than 5 years. The interest rate inherent
in the leases is fixed at the contract date for the entire
lease term. The effective interest rate is approximately
10% t0 15% (2021: 10% t0 15%) per annum. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at each of the end of the reporting
period is the carrying value of the finance lease receivables.

There was no unguaranteed residual value of assets leased
under finance leases as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The
Group applies the simplified approach to provide lifetime
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for finance lease receivables.
The management assessed the expected loss on all finance
lease receivables individually and the credit quality of
finance lease receivables has been assessed by reference
to historical information about counterparty default rates
and fair value of collaterals, if any.

N TEBECTHERTET—HF=ZR=+—
H> REMEREREMRERZEEE
EZ IR

EMERESREEH R NBBsE-
REEEESHN BEMNEUERE HH
FTEEEAE BREMNELHNAI10%E
15% (ZBZ—F  10%E15%) o PEIR
FHFR BARAZTRAEERRRTDE YR
ERIEEREEC

B CHERIE-HEZA=+—
H IEMEHEERTEHEEEZR
ERFGREE ~EERBBIESE
HEWMEEERENEBMHREE
AR ESHRERFHRAEER
BH-BEEEHMARKRMEEENIAR
BIETETREARS 1R MR E R EMRIEA
E’mei\,\%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁL%IE’J
BEEMRBRRNAAE WA) &
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURBRFR
2022 2021
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Receivables arising from securities MEBHLALET
broking business: EEZEWERRR :
- Loans to margin clients —AREEELER 67,411 61,978
- Clearing houses —4EER 327 5,924
67,738 67,902
Less: Impairment loss B RERE (21,086) (15,511)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 46,652 52391
Receivables arising from asset NEEEEEBEEBES
management business FE U BR R - 81
Receivables arising from trading NREEGEBEE ZEWR™R
business 283,002 265,990
283,002 266,071
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (40,863) (33,644)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 242139 @ 232427
Total trade and account receivables FEURBR TR 4R %R 288,791 284,818
Receivables arising from trading business B EBEENRBIERR

The Group's trade receivables are generally with credit
periods of 60 to 120 days (2021: 60 to 120 days).

Receivables arising from securities broking
With regard to receivables arising from securities broking,
the Group seeks to maintain tight control over its
outstanding account receivables and has procedures and
policies to assess its clients’ credit quality and define credit
limits for each client. All client acceptances and credit limits
are approved by designated approvers according to the
clients’ credit quality.
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURBRFR (&
(Continued)
Receivables arising from securities broking ESKLEEZRIRERT @)

(Continued)

The normal settlement term of cash clients and clearing
houses account receivables arising from the ordinary
course of business of securities broking is two trading days
after the trade date.

Loans to margin clients are secured by the underlying
pledged securities, repayable on demand and bear interest
at commercial rates. As at 31 March 2022, the total market
value of securities pledged as collateral in respect of the
loans to margin clients was amounted to approximately
HK$255,114,000 (2021: HK$312,712,000). Securities are
assigned with specific margin ratios for calculating their
margin values.

Receivables arising from asset management
business

There are no credit terms granted to clients for its asset
management business.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the end
of the reporting period is the carrying amount value of the
account receivables. Except for the receivables arising from
securities broking, the Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The carrying amounts of the trade and account receivables
are denominated in following currencies:

NHESECAEEBBRETELEZBK
REXRREBEFRRHN—REERD
RZBEMERZE -

BRESE LB UERIKIRESE
IR BREEKEER > WITmE £ XM
B-R_E__F#=F=+—H %A
RESELETIRIFFIERRZESZ
4B TH{E497255,114,00058 5 (B - —
£ 1 312,712,000 7T) © & H5W I FIFE
2 RBEEEUANEERESEBE.

BEEEEEHELNRBIRR

MENEEEEEFOERARTEER
Hio

RERSHPR ERAZEAREERRTY
EWERM Z BRAE - REFCLEEZ
FEUER RSN > R E B |\ A E AR
miERIELR

FEUBRREREE U THIEIBSIE !

2022 2021

—E=-Z BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

HK$ BT 46,652 52,391
Us$ E=7T - 81
RMB NG 242,139 232,346
288,791 284,818
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES

(Continueq)

An aged analysis of receivables arising from trading and
asset management, net of allowance for impairment, at the
end of the reporting period, based on the date of invoice (or
date of revenue recognition, if earlier), is as follows:

20

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

FEURBRTR ()

PRERERR - B A (RSBl A
M -HER) 2EFREEEEELY
FEWER R E I BRIBL(E B = AR D AT 10
™

2022 2021

s B —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

0 to 30 days 0&30H 6,831 38,743
31 to 60 days 31&E60H 5,921 28,317
6110 90 days 61290H 25,263 22,678
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H 25,482 36,740
More than 180 days 180H Lk 178,642 105,949
242,139 232,427

The aged analysis of receivables arising from trading and
asset management business that are not considered to be
impaired is as follows:

FEREREZEZREEEEEBE

EZEUERMIRE DTN T ¢

2022 2021

—E-C =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Neither past due nor impaired BE R B ER TR AR B 35,069 100,109
Past due but not impaired B REHBERRE

0 to 30 days 0Z30H 10,731 7,614

31 to 90 days 31E90H 19,115 20,478

91 to 180 days 91£2180H 50,022 20,635

more than 180 days 180H U 127,202 83,591

242,139 232,427

No ageing analysis of cash clients account receivables
and loans to margin clients is disclosed as in the opinion
of the Directors of the Company, the ageing analysis is not
meaningful in view of the nature of the cash clients account
receivable arising from securities broking and the revolving
margin loans.
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURERFR &)
(Continueq)
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide AEBBERBBICH X HTABWER
lifetime ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for all trade and account AR EBMBREENFOFTHETIR
receivables. The management assessed the expected loss TR A FHESRIE - BIEE @R
on trade and account receivables individually. B EWERR B TasT I8
The individually impaired trade and account receivables are tEEHERERKERDERESR
recognised based on the credit history of its customers, FREELAH fIU S B EIE SRR
such as financial difficulties or default in payments, and 2 RIRITHIBBERIERRD L IZ B FE
current market conditions and are adjusted for forward- BEIRL A S5 /1 A BUS BRI BEE B R
looking information that is available without undue cost or FEE o
effort.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk DUN 8155 R R B3 A FE BY FE W AR =R
exposure on the Group's trade and account receivables ERRRIKOER :
using a provision matrix:
31 March 2022 —E--H=HB=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
0-90 91days- 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
Trade and account BBE
receivables due FEMER AR 0-90H  91-180H 181-365H fBb2sE Bil2E 4Bt
Effective expected B AMRER
loss rate 15.91% 1.40% 5.45% 18.06% 64.37%
Gross carrying amount FREEE 132,679 50,730 91,465 29,566 46,300 350,740
Provision st 21,112 708 4,987 5,340 29,802 61,949
31 March 2021 T HF=-H=+—H
Over 1year
but less
0-90 91 days - 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
Trade and account BEE
receivables due TR R 0-90H 91-1808  181-365H B0 BiB2E 45t
Effective expected B AMRER
loss rate 10.11% 301% 422% 30.20% 7659%
Gross carrying amount REGE 200,905 21,276 61,566 27,731 22,495 333973
Provision Bkt 20313 641 25% 8376 17,229 19,155
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20

(Continued)
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade and
account receivables is as follows:

FEUREBR TR ()

FEWERTURE R BE ST

HK$'000

TFHET

At 1 April 2020 S _EZFFMA—H 60,416
Written off b 67! (39,953)
Provision for impairment BEEE 23,505
Currency translation difference ERHMEER 5,187

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A TE T —FZRB=+—HBk

—ET—-FWPA—H 49,155

Provision for impairment BEEE 11,275
Currency translation difference ERHhEER 1,519
At 31 March 2022 W2 _F#=B=+—H 61,949

21 FACTORING RECEIVABLES 21 FEWRIERRIE

2022 2021

—F=-Z BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Factoring receivables FEU(RIEFRIE 52,152 53,032
Interest receivables FEUF] 2 895 79
53,047 53,111
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (1,564) (531)
51,483 52,580

The carrying amounts of the factoring receivables are
denominated in RMB.

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9 for factoring receivables, which
permits the use of the 12 months ECL provision for these
factoring receivables, unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, which the
Group then recognises lifetime ECL.
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21 FACTORING RECEIVABLES (continued)
The movement in the provision for impairment of factoring

receivables is as follows:

21 FBUWRFRERIE @
R RIERRRE R BEESNT

HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2020 RIZEZEFMOE—H 270
Provision for impairment AEEE 234
Currency translation differences ERnhEER 27
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 BT —F=ZHA=1+—HBK
2 —HMA—H 531
Provision for impairment AEEE 993
Currency translation differences ERnEER 40
At 31 March 2022 ATEC_F=ZA=+—H 1,564
22 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 22 EBREFRKRFIE
2022 2021
—EZCHF BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Loan receivables FEW E ™ 105,167 71,235
Interest receivables FEWHI 2 20,385 14,195
Loan and interest receivables FEBERRFE 125,552 85,430
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (29,424) (14,760)
96,128 70,670
Current portion of loan and FEWE R R F EmEn 3t H
interest receivables 77,678 70,670
Non-current portion of loan and FEWE R F] EIERENEB1D
interest receivables 18,450 -
96,128 70,670
Analysed as: DT
Within one year —FR 77,678 70,670
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ S _E=F AT (BEEEME) 18,450 -
96,128 70,670

TECTFFR
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22 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
The aged analysis of loan and interest receivables that is not

22

BWERRFE @

FRBEREZERERKRI S RE D

considered to be impaired is as follows: T
2022 2021
—EIZf DT —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Neither past due nor impaired BE R B BA TR AR BUE 58,382 29,176

Past due but not impaired BEEHERRE

0 to 30 days 0&30H 478 4,845
31 t0 90 days 31E90H 658 988
91 to 180 days 91£180H 7,049 1,571
more than 180 days 1808 U k£ 29,561 34,090
96,128 70,670

The carrying amounts of loan and interest receivables are

RWERRIEZ REEBEU TGS

denominated in the following currencies: B
2022 2021
—ECHF B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
HKS AT 35,501 44,819
RMB NS 60,627 25,851
96,128 70,670
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22 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 22 BREFKEFE @
(Continueq)
The movement in the provision for impairment of loan and FEWER LA EREREBEENT .

interest receivables are as follows:

HK$'000

THET
At 1 April 2020 R_E-EFEMA—H 1,285
Provision for impairment HEEE 13,174
Currency translation differences ERnEESR 301
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 W _E2_—F=-—B=+—H

k_E_—FMA—H 14,760

Provision for impairment R E R 16,403
Written off MiiH (2,325)
Currency translation differences ERnE=R 586
At 31 March 2022 ATE_ _F=A=+—H 29,424
Loan receivables are interest-bearing at approximately 8% FEW S L8N E18% (CBE - —F 1 49
to 18% (2021: approximately 8% to 18%) and are repayable 8%ZE18%) 5T 2 N B AEBEEFZET
with fixed terms agreed with the Group’s customers. The NETCHRRNEE SERSREIAH
maturity date for each loan contract is normally not more —MRARBEIF (CEZ—F 35 1A
than 3 years (2021: 3 years) and were unsecured. The KR N B MEHARFERNEKRE
maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the end of BREAEBWEN AT ENIREE
the reporting period is the carrying value of the loan and
interest receivables.
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL AEFBOHRA—RL L BEKERK
prescribed by HKFRS 9 for loan and interest receivables, FMEMBEBM RS EINEIRFE
which permits the use of the 12 months ECL provision RTBMEEEBEZBE BF L
for these loan and interest receivables, unless there LERWEREMNERBI2EREHES
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial BEEEE RIEBVGEDEBEERR
recognition, which the Group then recognises lifetime BREEEN AEFHAERERFHTE
ECL. The management assessed the expected loss on all HEEBE -BEEHMBRNER K
loan and interest receivables individually and the credit MEERTEHEE > MEWERRHE
quality of loan and interest receivables has been assessed NEEERT %%E%iﬁ%ﬁbﬂ%ﬂﬁ

by reference to historical information about counterparty BEFEREITH S
default rates.
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23 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23 RBE-FAMNRIEREMEWRRIE

RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
—ECICHE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deposits paid, prepayments and other B {12 % ~ AT =B
receivables (Note) T EL e U RIE (T 5E) 42,266 23,796
Less: Impairment loss B ORERIE (3,468) (3,565)
38,798 20,231
The movement in the provision for impairment of deposits BERAEMEBWRIEREREBEEN
and other receivables is as follows: T
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2020 RIETEFMOE—H 3,025
Provision for impairment EEE S 442
Currency translation differences ERREER 98
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 W _E_—F=F=+—H
—ET—HFMA—H 3,565
Provision for impairment B ERE 1,152
Written off /6= (1,335)
Currency translation differences ERHhEER 86
At 31 March 2022 W_E__&F=F=+—H 3,468
Note: As at 31 March 2022, included in deposits, prepayments and W R 2 _F=B=+—H > 8FR%
other receivables was approximately HK$13,178,000 being E-FENRBEREMERREES 5—
the net amount of the compensation receivable from the CS %£4913,178,0008 T IE EABRNE
Vendors of approximately HK$35,560,000 as reclassified from —ERMFREBERE ZF R RE > REM
other financial assets (Note 18), offset by the present value of THEEESENEUERES 2 F@
relevant retained consideration payables to the CS Vendors of fERR4935,560,0008 7T (HI5E18) » HHAE(T
approximately HK$22,382,000 (Note 29) in relation to the Year 1 B A 2 EREM REAENIREN
PG and Year 2 PG. 22,382,000 o PrIESH (Fi5E29) ©
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24 HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

25

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 3 S 5 iR B

24 FHIEEERE

2022 2021
T F TE T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Equity securities held-for-trading: FIEEBRAEAES .
— Listed in Hong Kong —-REBL™ 7,987 16,843

The held-for-trading investments are stated at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of listed
equity securities are determined by reference to the bid
prices on the Stock Exchange.

CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with
licensed banks to hold securities clients” monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients” monies as “Cash held on behalf of clients”
under the current assets section of the consolidated
statement of financial position and recognised the
corresponding account payables to respective clients
on the grounds that the Group is liable for any loss or
misappropriation of the clients’ monies. The Group is
not allowed to use the clients” monies to settle its own
obligations.

25

FEEERENBSHARAELANESR

3o EHRAEH 2 AR ESRU A
BB AL B o
BERESEEFM

FEBRFRIRITRIIBIIEERS
UEFBEEREFEBRTEENESS
PRI AEE R 'R E5EFR B
BN BRRRTRBEE L
ERHNERZERNBERERZHER
ZERTEHIEHZENERETERZ
FER-AEREERBBEER ZFRLUE
HAEEZSE-

TECTFFR
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26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 26 RERIIRITHEE
2022 2021
—EICHE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cash at bank and on hand IRTTAFERS 217,023 246,791
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are RERIBTETFZREEUA TGS
denominated in the following currencies: .
2022 2021
—E-CHF B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
HKS T 40,769 91,799
uss ETT 4,049 171
EUR BroT 4 4
RMB AR 172,201 154,817
217,023 246,791
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign AR &R R A SN i I 25 I
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies IRTTAEREIRSER PR BETHE
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are B T 5 B B 5l 78 5 2 48 BE AR Bl Ko%
subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange o

control promulgated by the PRC government.
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27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 &
(@) Authorised capital (@) ZEERE
Number of Nominal
shares value
P& B EfE
HK$'000
TAET
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 RIZZTZEFME—B>

and 2022, ordinary shares of TETFRIETHF

HK$0.02 each =B=+—H sKREE
0028 Tz EERMN 5,000,000,000 100,000

(b) Issued and fully paid capital (b) BRITRERZEE
Number of Nominal
shares value
& E EfE
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 A TETEFHA—H>

and 2022, ordinary shares of B FERCECF

HK$0.02 each “B=+—80 =SKkEE
0.02%8 702 E@R1Hm 4,120,600,000 82,412
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27 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 September 2013, the shareholders of
the Company approved the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from 2 September 2013,
unless otherwise terminated. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible and effective means of incentivising,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the Directors, employees and
other participants of the Company and the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed
10% of shares in issue on 2 September 2013 unless
the Company seeks the approval of the shareholders
in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit
under the Share Option Scheme. Pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at an annual general meeting on 26 August
2016, the 10% limit under the Share Option Scheme
was refreshed to 73,612,000 shares. Subsequent to
this refreshment, pursuant to an ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders of the Company at a
special general meeting on 5 September 2016, every
one share of the Company of HK$0.10 each was
subdivided into five subdivided shares of HK$0.02
each. Hence, the maximum number of shares
available for subscription was adjusted to 368,060,000
shares, and there were no further changes since then
up to 31 March 2022 and the date of this report.

The exercise price, vesting period, the exercisable
period and the number of shares subject to each
option will be determined by the Board at the time of
grant. No option has been granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption to
the date of this report.
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THRNEE aHESTSER
AT B EITRARIZ0%

HITFEREBEERES I TIRE
B EREMAEZRITHNRS
WO EHAFBAR S —=F
NBZHBEZTRA Z210% A
NE AR EPRREARS Lt
TEE TR ST I T 2 10%R
BoRBEBARABRENRZE—REF
NBZHAREHBITZREEFK
BEB s TEAEE BRESE
TZ10%PREEEEHE73,612,000
RoEZEME  RIBARBIKRE
RZE—RFENAARERITZR
R AERBZEBERER &
— R EREEC10E TR AT
DI A ERERMEEC.02E T 21T
MR AL AT BB ZRZRK
1 88 B #5758 %8 4368,060,0008% » —
BEEE_E__F#=H=+—H
AR E B E B mEE) o

EFERNREBRERETS
EREZITEE BB 174
ARy R BRI B E » BERM B
EXRES B ARSI ERER
StEIR B EAIRERE-



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

28 BOND AND INTEREST PAYABLE 28 EMNEFRIE
The bond payable was issued on 15 April 2019, pursuant FENESFR-_E—NFOAE+AHE
to a placing agreement dated 12 April 2019 entered into T REEEREBEEARNTSETHEA
between the placing agent and the Company, with a “E-NFHBA+ZHZEERE H
maturity period of 2 years from the date of issuance and A B EITHEMERMEN =
bears interest at 4% per annum. The bond was fully repaid A%sTE BEHERARFEARNTEAEE

during the current year.

29 RETAINED CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 29 BfIRENRE

2022 2021

—E=-= BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

As at 1 April RHEB—H 35,150 33,301
Accretion of interest recognised FREERHEEN

during the year 1,443 1,849
Offset against actual receivable upon B E — KR _FE@mflfREZ

completion of the Year 1 and 2 PG FREWIETE (M5E23)

(Note 23) (22,382) -
As at 31 March W=B=+—H 14,211 35,150
Current portion of retained FE(T 1R BB B RENEL D

consideration payables - 8,557
Non-current portion of retained FEHREBREIEREN IS

consideration payables 14,211 26,593

14,211 35,150
The retained consideration of the Group represents the AEFNENRECENRNZE—N
consideration payables to the CS Vendors in relation to the F+ZAKEEESRENEEE S
acquisition of ChaoShang Financial in December 2019. B
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29 RETAINED CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

(Continued)

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, a balance in
the amount of HK$37,500,000 (the “Retained Consideration
Payables”) shall be retained by the Company at completion
of acquisition as security, and subject to the fulfillment of
the relevant CS Profit Guarantee (Note 18), the Retained
Consideration Payable shall be released and payable by the
Company to the CS Vendors in the following manner:

(1) Subject to fulfillment of the Year 1 PG, HK$10,000,000
shall be released and payable to the CS Vendors (the
“Year 1 Retained Consideration Payable”);

(2)  Subject to fulfillment of the Year 2 PG, HK$12,500,000
shall be released and payable to the CS Vendors (the
“Year 2 Retained Consideration Payable”);

(3)  Subject to fulfillment of the Year 3 PG, HK$15,000,000
shall be released and payable to the CS Vendors (the
“Year 3 Retained Consideration Payable”).

The above retained consideration payables were carried
at amortised cost which were discounted to their present
values by using appropriate discount rates.

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was a net amount of approximately
HK$35,560,000 to be compensated by the CS Vendors
in respect of the CS Profit Guarantee following the non-
fulfillment of the Year 2 PG, and such amount exceeded
the aggregate of the Year 1 Retained Consideration Payable
and the Year 2 Retained Consideration Payable. Pursuant
to the sales and purchase agreement, the aggregate of
the Year 1 Retained Consideration Payable and the Year 2
Retained Consideration Payable shall be set off against the
compensation receivable from the CS Vendors in respect
of the CS Profit Guarantee. As such, the carrying amounts
of the Year 1 Retained Consideration Payable and the Year
2 Retained Consideration Payable were offset against other
receivables (Note 23) as at 31 March 2022.
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30 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 30 IRIERIBEE (AR
The major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the NEBERIAREILERBEE (R
Group are as follows: ZEFEEHWOT -
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BEREEE BEREEE
Fair value
Revaluation  adjustment on
Allowance on  of investment intangible
doubtful debts property assets Total
BEmE BYEE
RERER BB NRERER Mt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TER TET TET TET
At 1 April 2020 etz uf=E=] - (1818) (3465) (5,283)
Recognised in profit or loss BERTHD 8,864 29 - 29
Currency translation difference ERHNEER 145 (151) - (151)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZBZ-%£=RB=+—H
R-E-—&NB—H 9,009 (1,940) (3465) (5,405)
Recognised in profit or loss BiEm PR 4,907 726 - 726
Currency translation difference ERHNEER 287 (69) - 69)
At 31 March 2022 “E-"#ZA=+-H 14,203 (1,283) (3465) (4,748)
At 31 March 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred tax MNIEZZF=RB=+—H K&
assets in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately TEEDREBAREBEBEENEIERIE
HK$212,041,000 (2021: HK$185,843,000). The Hong Kong BEESRENA212,041,00087T (ZF
tax losses of approximately HK$160,690,000 (2021: ——1F 185,843,000/ 7T) c BHHBMIE
HK$135,510,000) can be carried forward indefinitely and the E51849160,690,0008 70 (ZEZ—4 .
remaining PRC tax losses will be expired from 2023 to 2026 135,510,000/ 7T) 7] #& IR HR 45 8 & H R
(2021: 2022 to 2025). Deferred tax assets are recognised M$lmﬁﬁﬁkf:$:_$§_ﬁ
for temporary difference on ECL to the extent that the RECE—% Z B . S
realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable ZEHF) FH AT RE %X%%ﬁ
profit is probable. e i%*ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ?“%Uﬁﬁ’ﬁU MBHAEE

BEZYREZRBEDRELERREE -
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30 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 30
(Continueq)
The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless
reduced by a tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC
subsidiaries to its immediate holding company outside the
PRC for earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008.

The Group’'s management determines the dividend
distribution plan of the subsidiaries in the PRC. Based on the
dividend distribution plan, retained profits as at 31 March
2022 amounting to approximately HK$67,879,000 (2021:
HK$60,731,000) will not be distributed by the subsidiaries
as dividend in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation has
not been provided in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the temporary difference attributable to
retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not release in the foreseeable future.

RIERIEEE (AR @

B-2Z/N\F—A—B/%E KFIFRE
MBS RA T LUR D » REIR AR E P E
B B~ B A A & A T ) AR E IR S
ERERABDIKR B AGMI0%TAN
o

m%smﬁﬁﬁi$lmfﬁﬂzm
DikEtE  IRIBRE DI ED ZEMH
%Qﬁﬁ_v__i B=4+— Ezﬁ
HH) & H4967,879,0008 T (ZZ - —
E.wmnw%%ﬂ%m?%*%T%
DIKTEARE c M ARE B ITHIE
B E RO MAZERFEE
BERAUENRTRREISE A FHILE
R EM B AR D IKFE BN RSB
TR =R 2 ARAEERET R A R
EEFEHmERPRe

31 ACCOUNT PAYABLES 31 FE{TERFX

2022 2021
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET

Payables arising from securities REBFRGLESBEE

broking business: FE{TERRR :

- Cash clients account payables —EIREEF IR 7,120 7,388
- Margin clients account payables —ENREEELRR 25,185 37,606
- Clearing houses —4EEFrR 2,610 -
Total account payables FE{TRR TR 4R %R 34,915 44,994

The normal settlement terms of payables arising from
securities broking are two trading days after the trade date.
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32

33

34

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

Amount due to a Director is unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the balance
is denominated in HK$.

AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Amount due to non-controlling interests is unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand. The carrying
amount of balance is denominated in RMB.

COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the lease
commitments for short-term leases are as follows:

32

33

34

Bft—%EERIEA

BN —REEFREDERR RERIZ
BREEE - ZEEHRZREEUET
SfE -~

FEAT IEIE ARz TR I

BN FEREGRESERT - RER
RERFEE -2SFEHFZIRABUA
R#IIE

S

(@) FEBEBEBEA
RER IR AR HBTE E T R
m

2022 2021
-z T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Not later than 1 year TEME 26 26
Later than 1 year but not later BB ERSE
than 5 years - -
26 26
None of the leases include contingent rentals. BEAEE AR

(b) The Group as lessor
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group did not
lease out its assets under short-term lease.

(b)y FEEBEEAEBEA
RIEZ R _E-—F=H8
=+—H > AEBELEERELESH
Bzt EEEE.

TECTFFR
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35 ZERERER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (@) PRMAIESIEEASEETE (FrA)
cash (used in)/generated from operations S FRSIRE Z HIR
2022 2021
—E-C BT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FAET FHET
Loss before taxation PRI AT I8 (26,387) (24,409)
Bank interest income RITAIE WA 7 (2,605) (1,210)
Sublease interest income DEAEFEWA 7 (94) -
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and —WERE MBI
equipment 14(a) 5,975 5,531
- Right-of-use assets —EREEE 14(b)(0) 11,637 12,243
Impairment loss on finance FEW R E R ERIE
lease receivables HEEE 19 2,765 5,870
Impairment loss on trade FEW R RURE K518
receivables 20 5,700 8,157
Impairment loss on account  fRFEBE P EUNERFRE
receivables from margin 518
clients 20 5,575 15,348
Impairment loss on factoring  FEWIRIBZIBREEE
receivables 21 993 234
Impairment loss on loan FEUN B = R SR E
and interest receivables 518 22 16,403 13,174
Impairment loss on deposits & R HMEKRRIE
and other receivables HEEE 23 1,152 442
Loss on changes in fair value of REYIE A R EEENEE
investment property 15 2,904 115
Impairment loss on goodwill EHERERE 17 71,700 -
Gain on changes in fair value of Efth&REENAE
other financial assets bl g 8 (74,089) (4,365)
Loss/(Gain) on charges in fair  IFEFEBRE QA N EES)
value of held-for-trading 518 (W)
investments 8 1,241 (279)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of HERFEERE
held-for-trading investments (Wzm) /K518 8 (5,662) 5,764
Loss on disposal of property, — HEYIZE R B MEsMEE
plant and equipment 8 - 55
Gains on bargain purchase of RN E ABEREFZ
interest in an associate EEWERE 16 (12,636) -
Share of results of an associate E& /A B DG4 16 5,647 -
Finance costs B A 9 2,020 3,242
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

35

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)

(@)

HAERERER @

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (@) BRMIAIESIEBEETE (FRA)
cash (used in)/generated from operations SERBIREZHIE @)
(Continued)
2022 2021
—E-CF =BT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FET
Cash generated from operations K5t & ZE B S EFFIK S
before working capital EBMERE
changes 12,239 39,912
Decrease in finance lease FEW B E T & R IE R
receivables 42,896 56,479
Increase in trade and JE W BR =R h0
account receivables (16,674) (19,337)
Decrease/(Increase) in factoring FEUWRIBZIE R /L, (1 0)
receivables 81 (26,080)
Increase in loan and interest  FEWE R KA S0
receivables (42,290) (11,194)
(Increase)/Decrease in deposits, 3% K H fh FE U k18
prepayments and other agm R
receivables (7,014) 4,175
Increase in amount due from & B A B FRIEIE 0
an associate (175) -
Decrease/(Increase) in cash ERESEIRL S ()
held on behalf of clients 6,440 (5,734)
(Decrease)/Increase in account FEATEREER GRi-lY) /10
payables (10,079) 9,771
Decrease in contract liabilities &&&&ERD (40) (890)
Decrease in accruals, FESTE R HihENHRIBR
other payables and B Wiz ERL
deposit received (6,958) (2,062)
Cash (used in)/generated from #&& %% (FRA) /I3RS
operations (21,574) 45,040
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Net debt reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net debt for the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021 presented.

EFERERER B

(b) EFEFHREHK
AEHIBEE_ S _ER_F
T—F=B=+—HIFEmMEZ
FEEFEAREIBREHND

o
2022 2021
ZEICHF —ET—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Cash and cash equivalents BERIRETEEY 217,023 246,791
Borrowing EEN
- Bond payable —EES - (7,800)
— Lease liabilities —HEaE (13,209) (11,058)
- Amount due to a Director — BN —R%EEHRIE (1,214) (764)
Net cash IREFER 202,600 227,169
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HthgE MEEBEE 2R
Amount
Cash and duetoa
cash Director
equivalents Bond Lease fBm—
RER payable liabilities FEf—% Total
REEEN FEf &S HEAE EENE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TER FET
Net cash as at 1 April 2020 RZEZZENE—HH
ReFH 183,430 (7,800) (23,783) (2,286) 149,561
Cash flows changes: REMSLE .
Cash inflows BE&mA 11,105 - . - 11,105
Cash outflows Remd - - 13,382 1,522 14,904
Other changes: Hitngs
Derecognition A2 P HEER - - 318 - 318
Interest expense FIELH - - (975) - (975)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ 4MNEZBZE 52,256 - - - 52,256
Netcashasat31March 2021 RZZ-—&£=ZB=+—-Hk
and 1 April 2021 “EZ-FME-AY
38 246,791 (7,800) (11,058) (764) 227,169
Cash flows changes: REnELs.
Cash inflows REMA - - - (450) (450)
Cash outflows Bemd (56,069) 7,800 12,967 - (35,302)
Other changes: Hthgs
Recognition ik - - (14,594) - (14,594)
Interest expense FIEXH - - (524) - (524)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMNEZFE 26,301 - - - 26,301
Netcashasat31March2022 H-T-—&
ZAZ+-HOREEFE 217,023 - (13,209) (1,214) 202,600
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

(@) Transactions with related parties

(b)

36 BREALRS

TTHERS

() HEREHFZXS

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI EMBREREMBNREZRS
MG FEBRAFREFESE

2022 2021
—E-- TET—F
Related parties relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BRAERS Z R RAME FHET FET
Associate Company and Fitting out expenditures - 942
companies controlled by the #E(EEHH
associate company commission expenses 17 42
& A B R A B ez H
HAE Placing agent fee income - (219)
FEEREE A
0Odd lot matching service agent - (20)
fee income
EREHAIEERA
Receipt from net investment in (163) -
sublease
PHRKEF WA
Sundry income (175) -
FEIEUWLA
Rental and other deposit received (593) -
BWHEREMEE
Note: The Group acquired a further 11.16% equity interest in Wt AEREAFERE—SBEALC

Royal Century during the current year, and Royal Century
was not accounted for as an associate of the Group as
at 31 March 2021 (Note 16). Royal Century was still a
related party of the Group in the last corresponding year
as Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, who is an executive Director of the
Company, is also an executive Director of Royal Century.

BERI.16%8 1 » T EE R
—B-—F=A=+—BLFE
ALBNHERT (HEE16) o118
EORE & F R BT RR S EEE
BB A L EA AR ABNITE E B
SRS E FRBECRERNA

TE=H-

Key management compensation
The remuneration of key management personnel of

(b) FEEIEASIRM
FEEREAERTEZEEAEN

the Group during the year was as follows: BT -
2022 2021
—E-C T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and other e R R HEMER]
benefits 9,754 9,662
Contributions to retirement benefits B R@F] s+ &R
scheme 160 138
9,914 9,800

TECTFFR

245



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

37 HE“\\;;O\:H}I/'\
RABEBERNABR LS TMAIL
ZSuperb Smart Limited&7Z/A B & 4R 1%
[RYNCIE

EABMBRARREFHEES

37 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The Directors of the Company regard Superb Smart Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as
being the ultimate holding company of the Company.

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY
(@ Information about the statement of financial position @ AEKRABNRMEARZMHRITR
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is BRI
as follows:
2022 2021
—ECZCfF —ET—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment B L] 41 45
Right-of-use assets FREEE 8,100 2,347
Net investment in sublease DK EFEE 3,717 -
Investment in an associate BEATKE 12,975 -
Other financial assets HitemEE 43,250 -
Investments in subsidiaries B ARKRE 183,710 250,000
251,793 252,392
Current assets RBEE
Deposits, prepayments and B FANRIER
other receivables HAthpg H&%IE 16,444 2,791
Held-for-trading investments FIFEBRKE 7,987 16,843
Net investment in sublease "%ﬁ?zé@%ﬁ 2,214 -
Amount due from an associate FEU B = AR T8 175 -
Amount due from subsidiaries FEW B ARIFRIE 669,955 662,889
Cash and bank balances RERIRITERS 324 725
697,099 683,248
Total assets BEEE 948,892 935,640
EQUITY L
Capital and reserves BARRGEE
Share capital [N 82,412 82,412
Reserves B 834,442 804,950
Total equity R AREE 916,854 887,362
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38

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY (continuea)

(@ Information about the statement of financial position
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is

as follows: (Continued)

38

BEHEERFRAR

TABMBRARRFEEES

f-7

@

KRBRBEMRZHHRRE

BT @

2022 2021
—E-C B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
LIABILITIES &af&
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Retained consideration payables — FEfTIREZER/E 14,211 26,593
Lease liabilities HEaeRE 8,901 -
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 23112 26593
Current liabilities Bt R=N ]
Accruals, other payables and FESTE R~ HhpE(
deposit received FIEREWiEE 3,404 2,327
Amount due to a Director FE—EENIE 1,214 764
Lease liabilities MHESRE 4,308 2,160
Bond and interest payable FEESFERFAE = 7,877
Retained consideration payables — FE{FT{R B HIE = 8,557
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 8,926 2168
Total liabilities EN =R 32,038 48,278
Total equity and liabilities EakaBEiBEzE 948,892 935,640
Net current assets MRBEEFE 688,173 661,563
Total assets less BEEHERRBAR
current liabilities 939,966 913,955

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June

2022 and was signed on its behalf.

Zheng Juhua
B|HWTE
Director

EFE

ERBZHMBRRIRENR T
“TERBZH/N\BEESFEH

EWAREEE

Chan Chi Yuen

REE
Director
EF

TECTFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continuea)

(b) Information about the reserve movement of the

38 FATMBRARRFEEES

6

(0)

AARRBREPRZREEEHE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as BT
follows:
Share  Contributed  Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
i EE BRRR Rt e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TERT FTET TERT
At 1 April 2020 RIZ2ZZFENE—H 1,000,745 34,178 (228,202) 806,721
Loss for the year FEEFE - - (1,771) (1,771)
At 31 March 2021 R_E_—-&E=F=+—H 1,000,745 34,178 (229,973) 804,950
Profit for the year FEERT] - - 29,492 29,492
At 31 March 2022 RZZZZF=A=+—H 1,000,745 34,178 (200,481) 834,442

Annual Report 2022



BB ERBRAE]
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39 XEMEAT

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

T ARABDNR _E__F=R=+—

March 2022: Bz XEMNBAE :
Particulars of issued/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/  registered and fully paid Principal activities and shares held by
Name Note registration share capital place of operation the Company
KAFFRE
218 Wi RItE BETRBREERS TEEBREEHY BRAERLE
Shares held directly:
ERiE
Noble Century Investment British Virgin Islands 1 share of US$1 each Investment holdings 100%
Group Limited AEERRHS RERERIETZRG REER
Shares held indirectly:
BEE -
Noble Century Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Money lending operated in Hong Kong 100%
CIHHBERAT B 10,0007 7 REBRERBEER
8 (R EREBRAS @ People’s Republic of China  US$43,000,000 Finance leasing operated in the PRC 100%
H 43,000,000 7T RAEEEREREES
Noble Century KS Group Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Investment holdings and mould trading 100%
CHBFERERAT &E 100,000 7T in Hong Kong and the PRC
REZRENEERFELE
BEES
3% (R ESBRAT (@)  People’s Republic of China  RMB200,000,000 Electronic products trading in the PRC 100%
FE B #200,000,0007T RPBREEFERESR
EIREE (RY) BRAF @) People’s Republic of China HK$40,000,000 Seafood trading in the PRC 100%
F 40,000,000 7T RPBRGEEHES
Hidili Pacific Industrial Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Methanol trading in the PRC 100%
ERREEXERAH B 1,000,000 7T RPEEERRERER
R MEEEEOBRASE (0) People’s Republic of China  RMB2,000,000 Frozen food trading in the PRC 70%
H AR #2,000,0007 ROBARE L RERES
CHEEE (R BRAT @)  People’s Republic of China  RMB50,000,000 Provision of entrusted loan in the PRC 100%
H A E#50,000,0007% RPBRFERTER
Upwell Miracle Limited British Virgin Islands 1 share of US$1 each Investment holdings 100%
HEERRES REREEIETZRG REZR
3% (R BERERRARE @)  People's Republic of China  US$150,000 Provision of consultancy and 100%
H 150,000% 7T factoring services in the PRC
TR AR EIR 4 55 B R IR AR TS
CHAOSHANG ASSET MANAGEMENT Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 Provision of asset management services 100%
LIMITED S 10,000,000 70 in Hong Kong
HEEEEEERAT REBRUEEEERS
ChaoShang Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$102,780,000 Provision of securities brokerage, 100%
HEESBERAT &E 102,780,007 7T underwriting, placing, margin

financing services in Hong Kong
REBRMEESCL OH BE-
REEME R
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39

40

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

Notes:

(a) The subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprises
under the PRC law.

(b) The subsidiary is registered as a limited liability enterprise under
the PRC law.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the reporting period or at anytime during both
years.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Significant restrictions

Cash and bank balance of approximately HK$172,240,000
(2021: approximately HK$154,857,000) are held in the PRC
and are subject to local exchange control regulations.
These exchange control regulations provide for restrictions
on exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

COMPARATIVES FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.
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40

FEWBATE @
GEE

@ ZMBEBRRDBREREERTMAINGE
BmEhE-

O ZMEARRBEREERFEMAISE
REMERQAC

MEABBENREARAWEFER
ERIEEETERERES

%% D7 ERFTPINAABMER
%ﬁ%zﬁﬁfgﬁuﬁ‘mﬁﬂzzﬁﬁgéﬁ

@TEZI;J‘BT c BRI HHE A

BRARZHBERTRIEBBENR TR

BEARF

R RIRITAEF#172,240,000 7T (T
T —4 1 #9154,857,0007 70) FEHEIA
BT EMINEEBIRG) o 2 F EMINE
EFIRGHE S E DB SNEMRE -
B —MRREBERE R

EEEBEF
ATHEREFECEMDEUTELRE
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TARA 5 2

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C BT CE-TFE “ZE-AF Z-)\&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TET TET TER AT
Restated Restated
R ==l
Results ES
Revenue from continuing REFELSE
operations ES Al G 169,386 337,853 238,518 105,088 460,093
Loss before taxation from REFELESEKY
continuing operations PriEIRE (26,387) (24,409) (9,910) (21,912) (37,319)
Taxation (charge)/credit hE () /iEE (768) 960 (12,535) (7,909) (6,729)
Loss for the year from continuing  REFELEER
operations AEERBE (27,155) (23,449) (22,445) (29,821) (44,048)
Profit/(Loss) for the year froma  RE B LTEEH
discontinued operation ZREERR,/
(E548) - - 1,682 (6,207) (10,510)
Loss for the year rEERR (27,155) (23,449) (20,763) (36,028) (54,558)
Loss attributable to KABFBAERS
owners of the Company B (26,842) (23,168) (19,469) (32,167) (48,407)
Loss attributable to FEIERR R FE (G
non-controlling interests B8 (313) (281) (1,294) (3,861) (6,151)
Dividends RE = - - - -
Assets and liabilities BEREHE
Total assets BELEE 1,018,657 1,067,749 1,044,105 806,474 1,007,905
Total liabilities BEEE 94,321 143,774 148,880 58,176 138,730
Net assets BERE 924,336 923,975 895,225 748,298 869,175
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